
Cabinet
16 September 2019

Time and venue:

2.30 pm in the Ditchling Room at Southover House, Southover Road, Lewes, BN7 
1AB

Membership:

Councillor Zoe Nicholson (Chair); Councillors James MacCleary (Vice-Chair) 
Matthew Bird, Julie Carr, Chris Collier, Johnny Denis, William Meyer, Emily O'Brien 
and Ruth O'Keeffe

Quorum: 4

Published: Friday, 6 September 2019

Agenda
1 Minutes of the meeting held on 1 July 2019  (Pages 5 - 16)

2 Apologies for absence  

3 Declarations of interest  

Disclosure by councillors of personal interests in matters on the agenda, the 
nature of any interest and whether the councillor regards the interest as 
prejudicial under the terms of the Code of Conduct.

4 Urgent items  

Items not on the agenda which the Chair of the meeting is of the opinion should 
be considered as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances as 
defined in Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972. A 
supplementary report will be circulated at the meeting to update the main reports 
with any late information.

5 Public question time  

To deal with any questions received from members of the public in accordance 
with Council Procedure Rule 11 (if any).

6 Written question from councillors  

To deal with written questions which councillors may wish to put to the Chair of 
the Cabinet in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 12 (if any).

Public Document Pack



7 Matters referred to the Cabinet  

Matters referred to the Cabinet (whether by the Scrutiny Committee or by the 
Council) for reconsideration by the Cabinet in accordance with the provisions 
contained in the Scrutiny Procedure Rules or the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules set out in part 4 of the Council's Constitution.

None.

8 Seaford Health Hub - scheme progress  (Pages 17 - 20)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson

9 Contingency planning for no-deal Brexit  (Pages 21 - 32)

Report of Assistant Director for Corporate Governance
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson

10 Finance update - Provisional outturn 2018/19 and performance quarter 1 
2019-20  (Pages 33 - 46)

Report of Chief Finance Officer
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson

11 Portfolio progress and performance report quarter 1 - 2019-2020  
(Pages 47 - 66)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Chris Collier

12 Treasury management report  (Pages 67 - 98)

Report of Chief Finance Officer
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson

13 Wave Leisure Trust - Lewes District Council Contract Annual Review 
2018/19  (Pages 99 - 152)

Report of Director of Tourism and Enterprise
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Ruth O’Keeffe

14 Newhaven Fort  (Pages 153 - 156)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Ruth O’Keeffe

15 Affordable workspace review  (Pages 157 - 168)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor James MacCleary



3

16 Climate emergency  (Pages 169 - 174)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Matthew Bird

Information for the public
Accessibility:  Please note that the venue for this meeting is wheelchair accessible and 
has an induction loop to help people who are hearing impaired. This agenda and 
accompanying reports are published on the Council’s website in PDF format which means 
you can use the “read out loud” facility of Adobe Acrobat Reader.

Filming/Recording: This meeting may be filmed, recorded or broadcast by any 
person or organisation. Anyone wishing to film or record must notify the Chair prior to 
the start of the meeting. Members of the public attending the meeting are deemed to 
have consented to be filmed or recorded, as liability for this is not within the Council’s 
control.

Public participation: Please contact Democratic Services (see end of agenda) for the 
relevant deadlines for registering to speak on a matter which is listed on the agenda if 
applicable.

Information for councillors
Disclosure of interests:  Members should declare their interest in a matter at the 
beginning of the meeting. 

In the case of a disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI), if the interest is not registered 
(nor the subject of a pending notification) details of the nature of the interest must be 
reported to the meeting by the member and subsequently notified in writing to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days.

If a member has a DPI or other prejudicial interest he/she must leave the room when 
the matter is being considered (unless he/she has obtained a dispensation).

Councillor right of address: A member of the Council may ask the Leader, a Cabinet 
Member or the Chair of a committee or sub-committee any question without notice 
upon an item of the report of the Cabinet or a committee or subcommittee when that 
item is being received or under consideration by the Council.

A member of the Council may ask the Chair of a committee or sub-committee a 
question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which 
affect the District and which falls within the terms of reference of that committee or 
subcommittee.

A member must give notice of the question to the Head of Democratic Services in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than close of business on the fourth working day 
before the meeting at which the question is to be asked.



Democratic Services
For any further queries regarding this agenda or notification of apologies please 
contact Democratic Services.

Email: committees@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

Telephone: 01273 471600  

Website: http://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/ 

 
modern.gov app available
View upcoming public committee documents on your iPad or Android Device with the free 
modern.gov app.

mailto:committees@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
http://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/
https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en


1

Cabinet

Minutes of meeting held in Ditchling Room at Southover House, Southover 
Road, Lewes, BN7 1AB on 1 July 2019 at 2.30 pm

Present:

Councillor Isabelle Linington (Chair) 

Councillors Phil Davis, Tom Jones, Jim Lord and Ron Maskell

Officers in attendance: 

Robert Cottrill (Chief Executive), Ian Fitzpatrick (Deputy Chief Executive and Director 
of Regeneration and Planning), Philip Evans (Director of Tourism & Enterprise), Tim 
Whelan (Director of Service Delivery), Becky Cooke (Assistant Director for Human 
Resources and Transformation), Peter Finnis (Assistant Director for Corporate 
Governance), Catherine Knight (Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic 
Services), Simon Russell (Committee and Civic Services Manager)

Bryn Mabey (Customer, Communications and Engagement Lead), Brian Mew 
(Interim Deputy Chief Finance Officer), Peter Sharp (Head of Regeneration) and 
Tondra Thom (Planning Policy Lead)

Also in attendance:

Councillors Robert Banks, Johnny Denis (Chair of Scrutiny Committee), Stephen 
Gauntlett (Chair of Audit and Standards Committee), Zoe Nicholson (Leader of the 
Green Group), Emily O’Brien and Steve Saunders (Joint Leader of the Independent 
Group),  

Mr John Langley (Tenants’ Representative)

7 Minutes of the meeting held on 10 June 2019 

The minutes of the meeting held on 10 June 2019 were submitted and 
approved and the Chair was authorised to sign them as a correct record.

8 Apologies for absence 

Apologies for absence were reported from Councillors Boorman and Miller.

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet 2 1 July 2019

9 Declarations of interest 

Councillor Davis declared a prejudicial interest in agenda item 15 (Lewes 
District Local Plan Part 2 - Publication of main modifications for consultation) 
and withdrew from the room whilst the item was considered.

Visiting member, Councillor Saunders declared a personal interest in agenda 
item 19 (Waiver of Contract Procedure Rules - 3G All-Weather Pitch Surface 
Replacement, Downs Leisure Centre) and remained in the room whilst the 
item was considered.

10 Portfolio progress and performance report quarter 4 - 2018-2019 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Regeneration and 
Planning considering the Council’s progress and performance in respect of 
key projects and targets for the fourth quarter of the year (January to March 
2019) and annual out-turn as shown at appendix 1 to the report.

Good news for the quarter and annual out-turn included new bungalows 
delivered in Peacehaven as part of the modular accommodation project, 
series of high profile event events associated with Vote 100, implementation 
of co-mingled recycling and single-use plastics project. 14 of the 18 key 
projects were on track. Further details were contained in the report.

Issues during the quarter four period where targets had been missed included 
emergency accommodation figures, time taken to re-let housing 
accommodation and call answering times. Intervention work had taken place 
and improvements had been made in those areas. Further commentary was 
detailed in the report.

Visiting member, Councillor Denis, Chair of Scrutiny Committee addressed 
the Cabinet and outlined the comments of Scrutiny Committee at its meeting 
on 27 June 2019. In response to a question about waste collection staff 
sickness figures, it was advised that future quarters would include a 
comparison between Eastbourne and Lewes.

It was also confirmed that in terms of Newhaven Enterprise Zone, there would 
be no impact on the project or any current programmes due to the transition to 
South East Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP). This follows the 
implementation of central government’s requirement that there would be no 
overlapping LEP boundaries. Successful negotiations had taken place 
between Coast to Capital LEP and South East LEP over a two year period of 
transition.

The Cabinet agreed that the performance and project measures detailed at 
appendix 2 to the report were not final and would be subject to review and 
amendments at a future date.

The Director of Service Delivery advised that performance on the number of 
days taken to process new housing/council tax benefit claims was on target 

Page 6



1 July 2019 3 Cabinet

for the first few months of 2019/20, building on the tremendous improvement 
since quarter two of 2018/19 period. Addressing the call answering times, the 
Director of Service Delivery added that the Customer Contact Team were now 
fully resourced and on a current trajectory to match the target associated with 
the relevant key performance indicators. These were in response to questions 
by visiting member, Councillor Nicholson. 

In response to a question from visiting member, Councillor Banks on the local 
knowledge of the Customer Advisors when answering calls, the Director of 
Service Delivery confirmed that a report could be run that could identify how 
many calls were responded to and resolved without the customer being 
transferred to another officer.
Visiting member, Councillor Saunders remained concerned about the call 
answering times and automated messages. He suggested that improvements 
could be made to the options for customers who call the main Council 
number.

Resolved (Non-key decision):

(1) To note progress and performance for quarter 4 as well as the overall 
performance for 2018/19 and to note the comments made by the Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting on 27 June 2019. 

(2) To agree the 2019/20 performance measures.

Reason for decisions:

To enable Cabinet to consider specific aspects of the Council’s progress and 
performance.

11 Finance update - performance quarter 4 - 2018-2019 

The Chair reported that the finance update report for quarter 4 would now be 
considered at the next meeting on 11 September 2019.

12 Financial procedure rules 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer presenting 
updated financial procedure rules. 

Ahead of its submission to Full Council, the updated rules would be 
considered by the Audit and Standards Committee on 16 July 2019 and would 
include an appendix that would detail the changes made.

Recommended to Council (Budget and policy framework):

To review the draft Financial Procedure Rules before they are submitted to 
Council for approval.

Page 7



Cabinet 4 1 July 2019

Reason for decision:

It is the duty of the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) to maintain an up to date set 
of Financial Procedure Rules to ensure the Council has effective governance 
of finances in place.

13 Medium term financial strategy 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer providing an 
update on the process and approach to the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for the period 2019/20 to 2024/25.

Resolved (Key decision):

To note the background to the medium term financial strategy for 2019/20 and 
approve the approach outlined in the report.

Reason for decision:

To progress the medium term financial strategy process and to update 
Cabinet on the background to this. 

14 Update on tourism activities for Lewes District 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Tourism and Enterprise 
updating them on the progress of the Strategic Tourism Vision and Action 
Plan (2018 to 2021) and activities that had taken place in 2018-19.

The report was in response to a request from the Chair of Audit and 
Standards Committee in December 2018.

In response to a question regarding how the tourism data was collected, the 
Director of Tourism and Enterprise reported that a new data collection method 
called “T-Stats” had been commissioned. This method would provide greater 
accuracy and timely visitor statistics when interpreting local and national 
tourism data.

A further update was given on the sustainability initiatives contained within the 
tourism strategy such as the promotion of local public transport provision and 
encouragement of visitors to not use their cars to explore the area but to walk, 
cycle and use buses and trains as part of a more enjoyable experience. As 
Lewes was now part of the Biosphere Project, this would explore ways to 
develop tourism in sensitive natural areas that might otherwise be under 
threat through attracting more visitors. Work is also underway with national 
and international partners to improve visitor management policies that could 
mitigate the damage that could occur through tourism.

Visiting member Councillor Gauntlett, clarified in response to a comment by 
visiting member Councillor Saunders that in his capacity as Chair of the 

Page 8



1 July 2019 5 Cabinet

Council, a written reference was submitted in support of Egrets Way grant 
application to the South Downs National Park Authority.

It was clarified that whilst the Visit Lewes website was currently only available 
in English, a translation system was available at the Tourist Information 
Centre. Further accessibility improvements would be made to the site over 
time.

Resolved (Non-key decision):

(1) To approve continued implementation of the Strategic Tourism Vision and 
Action Plan (2018-2021). 

(2) To approve the activities carried out to date.

Reason for decisions:

To build on the success of the former three year Strategic Tourism Vision and 
Action Plan (2015-2018), the 2018-2021 Plan has been implemented for its 
first year, including a range of new activities supported by additional funding 
of £100K pa.

15 Recommendations from Climate Action Group 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Service Delivery 
regarding the role of the Climate Action Group. The Group was formed to 
“conduct a review of council services with regards to climate change 
adaptation and mitigation” following a resolution to that effect at the Full 
Council meeting on 26 November 2018. The report outlined the 
recommendations made by the Group.

Visiting member, Councillor Nicholson commended the report as a good start 
to tackling the issues of climate change. She suggested that steps be taken to 
ensure that the recommendations were SMART (Smart Measurable, 
Assignable, Relevant, Time-based). The Chief Executive advised that before 
a report was considered by Scrutiny Committee, the recommendations made 
by the Climate Action Group would be analysed in greater detail to identify 
how they could be measured and potential to influence external organisations. 
Greater detail around the anti-idling campaign would also be part of the report 
to Scrutiny Committee.

Following a suggestion by visiting member, Councillor Denis, it was 
unanimously agreed to amend the wording of resolution three and this was 
reflected below.

Resolved (Key decision):

(1) To agree the proposed recommendations set out at appendix one to the 
report.

Page 9



Cabinet 6 1 July 2019

(2) To agree funding of £5,000 for the provision of a drinking water tap at 
Lewes skate park subject to final design being signed off by the Leader of the 
Council. 

(3) To request that the Scrutiny Committee set up a Panel to scrutinise the 
implementation of the recommendations set out at appendix one to the report.

Reasons for decisions:

(1) The remit of the Climate Action Group was to make recommendations for 
climate change mitigation and adaptation at Lewes District Council, as 
resolved at Full Council on 26 November 2018. 

(2) It was agreed that recommendations would go forward to Cabinet. Detail 
of the recommendations was included at appendix one to the report.

16 Housing finance for short term lettings development 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Regeneration and 
Planning seeking their approval for spending “Right to Buy Receipts” on a 
development scheme to provide 13 flats to meet the Council’s need for 
access to short term lettings.

Visiting member, Councillor Saunders, addressed the Cabinet and raised 
concerns about the suitability of the site and financially best value for money. 
It was requested that the development be considered at a future meeting of 
the Scrutiny Committee. 

In response to a question from visiting member, Councillor Nicholson, the 
Director of Regeneration and Planning stated that the cost of the scheme 
reflected the site and the units installed, whilst used for temporary 
accommodation would be there long term. The scheme would result in direct 
financial savings to the Council (avoiding the cost of expensive B&B 
accommodation) and provide social cost savings to the individuals concerned.

Resolved (Key decision):

(1) To approve an increase in the General Fund Capital Programme budget 
for the scheme from £2.2m to £2.9m, with the additional £700,000 to be 
funded from Right to Buy Receipts.

(2) To report an amendment to a waiver previously approved to the Contract 
Procurement Rules (CPR), as set out in paragraph. 2.4.1(a) of CPR to allow 
the direct selection of a main contractor, due to the bespoke nature of the 
product required and time restrictions.

Reasons for decisions:

Page 10



1 July 2019 7 Cabinet

(1) In October 2018 Cabinet approved a report to spend up to £2.2m on the 
development of housing for temporary accommodation, following on from a 
£2.2m budget amendment in February 2018 at a Full Council meeting. The 
budget amendment was made on the basis of an appraisal for a scheme built 
on a flat empty site, with no specific investment in sustainability or reducing 
the environmental impact. 

(2) The October 2018 report included a waiver to the Contract Procedure 
Rules (CPR) to directly select an appropriate modular housing contractor. 
Although the approved contractor is still due to deliver the scheme, a ground 
works contractor has been added to the waiver, by the Director of 
Regeneration and Planning in consultation with the Leader of the Council 
under CPR 2.4.1b.

17 Lewes District Local Plan Part 2 - Publication of main modifications for 
consultation 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Regeneration and 
Planning seeking their approval to publish the main modifications to the Local 
Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies for a 
consultation period of 6 weeks.

The report authors were praised for their work in constructing the report and 
outlining the main modifications in a clear and concise way.

Councillors and Iocal residents were urged to submit their individual 
representations to the Examination Inspector during the statutory six week 
consultation period. The Inspector’s final report would be submitted to Full 
Council later in the year.

In response to a question from visiting member, Councillor Banks, the 
Planning Policy Manager confirmed that no “views” had been received from 
the Inspector and the only email correspondence had been through an 
impartial officer. Councillor Banks also requested that his concerns over the 
GT01 site on sustainability and planning grounds be noted.

In response to a question from visiting member, Councillor O’Brien about 
community engagement, the Director of Regeneration and Planning 
welcomed any views as part of the debrief at the conclusion of this process, to 
assist in identifying any adjustments required to achieve the best possible 
public engagement and response for future consultations.

Councillor Davis declared a prejudicial interest in this item and withdrew from 
the room whilst the item was considered.

Page 11



Cabinet 8 1 July 2019

Resolved (Key decision):

(1) To publish the main modifications to Local Plan Part 2 (Appendix 1 of the 
report) and associated sustainability appraisal for a period of six weeks to 
enable public representations to be made; 

(2) To authorise the Director of Regeneration and Planning to submit the main 
modifications, together with any duly made representations, to the 
Examination Inspector following the consultation period; 

(3) To authorise the Director of Regeneration and Planning, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Planning, to agree any minor modifications to the 
Local Plan Part 2 in order to aid its practical application for decision-making.

Reason for decisions:

To ensure that the concerns of the Examination Inspector are addressed so 
that the Local Plan Part 2 can be progressed towards adoption as soon as 
possible, thereby supporting the implementation and delivery of the Local 
Plan Part 1: Joint Core Strategy.

18 Greater Brighton Economic Board - Admission of New Member to the 
Board 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Regeneration and 
Planning seeking their approval for Arun District Council to become a member 
of the Greater Brighton Economic Board.

Resolved (Key decision):

(1) To ratify the appointment of Arun District Council to the Greater Brighton 
Economic Board (GBEB) and Greater Brighton Economic Joint Committee 
(GBEJC), subject to formal agreement of Arun District Council.

(2) To note that Arun District Council’s appointment is dependent on all the 
local authorities represented on the Board approving its appointment. 

(3) To agree other proposed changes within the Heads of Terms of the 
Greater Brighton Economic Board as detailed in paragraph 2.16 of the report.

Reasons for decisions:

(1) The Greater Brighton Economic Board was founded in April 2014 as part 
of the Greater Brighton City Region’s City Deal with Government. 

(2) The Board comprises the Greater Brighton Economic Joint Committee 
(GBEJC), on which the local authorities are represented; and the Greater 
Brighton Business Partnership (GBBP) on which the Coast to Capital Local 
Enterprise Partnership, business, university and further education sectors are 
situated.

Page 12



1 July 2019 9 Cabinet

19 Enabling the development of Community Assets - Market Tower, Lewes 
and 2 Fisher Street, Lewes 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Regeneration and 
Planning seeking a decision about the future of two assets within Lewes – 
Market Tower and 2 Fisher Street and to outline the rationale for developing a 
Community Assets Policy for the Council.

A report would be considered by Cabinet in autumn 2019, outlining a 
community asset policy and the Council’s approach to future decisions about 
community assets as it progressed the Asset Challenge process. The policy 
would provide flexibility to consider all options regarding assets and not just 
disposal.

In response to a question from visiting member, Councillor Nicholson, the 
Director of Regeneration and Planning confirmed that the resolutions below 
protected the assets detailed in the report against being sold for commercial 
use.

Resolved (Key decision):

(1) To agree in principle to the disposal of the freehold of Market Tower and 2 
Fisher Street to Lewes Town Council. 

(2) To delegate authority to the Director of Regeneration and Planning in 
consultation with the Chief Finance Officer and the Portfolio Holder for 
Regeneration and Growth to agree the final disposal terms subject to: 

(i) a red book valuation undertaken by a qualified person for both assets, and 

(ii) further legal due diligence and exploration of the potential for including 
restrictive covenants controlling the future use of the properties and overage 
clauses enabling the Council to share in any future increase in value in the 
properties realised after the properties have been sold. 

The scope of the delegation to the Director to include the potential for disposal 
at an under value in accordance with circular 06/03 where it is considered that 
this would help to secure the promotion or improvement of the economic, 
social or environmental well-being of the Council’s area. 

(3) To authorise the Director of Regeneration and Planning, in consultation 
with the Chief Finance Officer and the Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and 
Growth to undertake all actions required to complete the disposal of the 
properties above including authorising completion of legal documentation.

(4) To note that a further report would be submitted to Cabinet in the autumn 
of 2019 setting out the Council’s approach and policy towards community 
assets.

Page 13



Cabinet 10 1 July 2019

Reason for decisions:

To provide community groups and Town and Parish councils the ability to 
manage their own estate therefore enhancing the opportunity for them to 
achieve inward investment and development whilst relieving pressure on the 
Council’s limited resource.

20 Exclusion of the public 

Resolved: 

That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting as otherwise 
there was a likelihood of disclosure to them of exempt information as defined 
in schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. The relevant paragraph 
of schedule 12A and a description of the exempt information is shown below. 
(The requisite notice having been given under regulation 5 of the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012.)

21 Waiver of Contract Procedure Rules - 3G All-Weather Pitch Surface 
Replacement, Downs Leisure Centre 

The Cabinet considered the exempt report of the Director of Regeneration 
and Planning requesting a waiver of the contract procedure rules to allow the 
urgent replacement of the 3G all-weather pitch surface at Downs Leisure 
Centre.

Councillor Saunders declared a personal interest in this item and remained in 
the room whilst the item was considered.

Resolved (Key decision):

That Cabinet waive the requirement in the Council’s Contract Procedure 
Rules to go out to tender. The reasons for the waiver are set out in 
paragraphs 1.1 to 1.4 of the exempt report.

Reason for decision:

To enable urgent replacement of the 3G all-weather pitch surface at Downs 
Leisure Centre.

Notes: (1) The report remained exempt. (2) Exempt information reasons 3 – 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information).

Page 14



1 July 2019 11 Cabinet

The meeting ended at 3.49 pm

Councillor Isabelle Linington (Chair)

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet

Date: 16 September 2019

Title: Seaford Health Hub – scheme progress

Report of: Ian Fitzpatrick, Director of Regeneration and Planning

Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson, Leader of the Council

Ward(s): Seaford North, Seaford South, Seaford East, Seaford West 
and Seaford Central

Purpose of report: This report provides an update on progress in relation to 
the Seaford Health Hub and identifies key matters under 
consideration as the proposals evolve. 

Decision type: Non-Key

Officer 
recommendation(s):

To note the update on the Seaford Health Hub project and 
that a further report will be presented to Cabinet which will 
include a strategic, financial, technical and design review of 
the scheme once completed.

Reasons for 
recommendations:

To provide an update on the Seaford Health Hub actions to 
be taken in advance of a full business case being presented 
at a future Cabinet.

Contact Officer(s): Name: Bev Lucas
Post title: Regeneration Specialist / Project Manager
E-mail: beverley.lucas@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01273 085233

1 Introduction / Background

1.1 In 2017, the Council was approached by the two GP practices in Seaford (the 
Old School Surgery and Seaford Medical Practice) which were, and are, in 
urgent need of larger premises and modern facilities.  The Council identified an 
opportunity, on land that it owns at The Downs Leisure Centre site, to develop a 
new ‘health hub’ which would support the future delivery of health services for 
the residents of Seaford.  

1.2 The project feasibility and a capital allocation were made at previous Cabinets 
along with delegated authority to officers to progress the procurement of the 
scheme through the Council’s Energy and Sustainability joint venture - Clear 
Sustainable Futures (CSF) to further test the feasibility and scheme business 
case.

1.3 The scheme is intended to deliver new premises for two GP practices (Old 
School Surgery and the Seaford Medical Practice) and East Sussex Healthcare 
NHS Trust (ESHT), new and shared space with the Downs (Wave) Leisure 

Page 17

Agenda Item 8



Centre, a pharmacy and new facilities for the Over 60s’ Club which is currently 
located at the site.

1.4 Early design work was carried out to develop high level ideas for the scheme in 
2018 and two public exhibitions on draft site layouts, and the potential scale and 
massing of new buildings, were held in January 2019 at the Downs Leisure 
Centre.  The consultation events provided an opportunity to understand 
residents’ views, and any concerns about the scheme, at the earliest stage.  The 
events were attended by over 1240 people.  Concerns expressed by residents 
about the scheme included whether enough car parking would be provided at 
the new facility, bus links to the site, the potential negative impact on Seaford 
Town Centre footfall, concerns around possible traffic congestion, questioning 
the need for a retail unit at the site and loss of green space. Residents also 
welcomed opportunities for better, and more ‘appropriate’, spaces for the GPs 
and health services and for ‘future-proofing’ local health services, as well as 
opportunities for the two practices to work together with the leisure centre to 
promote better health.  

1.5 In light of these comments, the Council is now working to develop more detailed 
proposals for the new health hub taking into account the consultation feedback 
received to date, at the same time as working through the economic case.

1.6 On 15th July 2019, Full Council received a petition titled ‘Petition to stop the 
Development on the Downs Leisure Centre site. Save our Recreation Grounds, 
keep Doctors in Seaford Town’.  The petition will be discussed at the Full 
Council meeting on 25th September 2019.  The Council’s Scrutiny Committee 
has established a working group to look at the proposals for the Downs site / the 
development of a Seaford Health Hub, and the issues raised by members of the 
Council, and to acknowledge and consider the petition received by Full Council.

1.7 The financial business case is currently being reviewed alongside the emerging 
designs / updated costs and will be reported to a future Cabinet meeting, at the 
same time as Cabinet decides whether the scheme should be progressed to the 
next stage. A site appraisal is also being carried out to investigate whether the 
site of the existing Seaford Medical Practice (Dane Road) and the adjacent car 
park, or other sites in Seaford Town Centre, could accommodate the 
requirements of the new health hub (which will also be included in the future 
report).

2 Update

2.1 The design team is working with the two GP practices, East Sussex Healthcare 
Trust and the NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford Clinicial Commissioning 
Group to ensure that the new facility meets their requirements in delivering 
future health services for Seaford residents.  The team is also working closely 
with the Wave Leisure Trust, through regular design (user) meetings as the 
design progresses, as well as liaising with members of the Over 60s’ club to 
ensure that any new facility meets their needs.   

2.2 The CSF process has involved them engaging with construction company Kier 
who will support the development of the scheme and, should the Council decide 

Page 18



to progress the scheme, would construct the new health hub (and any other new 
buildings on the site such as new homes). 

2.3 Specialist consultants have been appointed to the design / technical team to 
provide further insight into the opportunities for a new health hub at the site, 
along with the constraints and technical matters which all need to be taken into 
consideration. 

2.4 Once the team has progressed the designs to RIBA Stage 2 (concept design), a 
full report will  be presented at a future Cabinet meeting which sets out the draft 
proposals for the site and provides any associated updates to the scheme 
business and investment case.  Should Cabinet approve delivery of the new 
health hub at that stage, the team will work to further develop the scheme 
designs.  Public consultation will then be carried out on the detailed proposals 
before a planning application is submitted.      

3 Outcome expected and performance management

3.1 Performance of the Seaford Health Hub project is monitored via the Council’s 
corporate project monitoring programme, with additional oversight carried out by 
a Scrutiny Working Group reporting directly to the Council’s Scrutiny Committee. 

4 Consultation

4.1 Public exhibitions on draft layouts for the new health hub were held in January 
2019.  Feedback from the exhibitions has been summarised in a report which is 
available from the Council’s website at lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk/SeafordHealthHub  
   
Public consultation on the proposed scheme will take place in advance of any 
planning application being submitted.

5 Corporate plan and council policies

5.1 The Seaford Health Hub would support the objectives of the Council’s Corporate 
Plan which includes securing infrastructure improvements to support new and 
existing homes in the District, and working with health partners to help people to 
maintain their health and wellbeing, and healthy and active lifestyles.

The Council’s investment in the scheme will meet the objectives set out in its 
Corporate Asset Management Plan 2017 to 2020.

6 Financial appraisal

6.1 A financial appraisal formed part of the original business case and was reported 
to Cabinet in September 2018.  This appraisal will be updated as part of the 
scheme business case.  A total of £18,700,000 has been allocated for the 
project in the capital programme which is subject to review, pending the 
outcomes of the business case that will be presented to a future Cabinet. 

Page 19

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/regeneration/seaford-health-hub/
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/regeneration/seaford-health-hub/


7 Legal implications

7.1 The prospective tenants of the health hub will need to enter into Agreements for 
Lease with the Council prior to the submission of a planning application.

PWB 6565 20/8/19

8 Risk management implications

8.1 The Council continues to work with health bodies, and the Wave Leisure Trust, 
to develop the proposals for the new Seaford Health Hub.  Officers continue to 
engage with joint venture partners via the Clear Sustinable Futures framework to 
minimise the risks to the Council at this stage of the project.  A project risk 
register has been developed.  

9 Equality analysis

9.1 A relevance assessment has been completed and concluded that a full Equality 
and Fairness Analysis is required. This analysis is underway alongside the 
development of the draft proposals.  It will be reported to Cabinet at a future 
meeting, in advance of any planning application, and in consultation with 
stakeholder groups.

10.0 Sustainability implications

10.1 The emerging design proposals for The Downs site will respond to the Council’s 
Sustainability Policy 2019 and sustainability checklist for new projects, as well as 
demonstrating how they help to meet  the Council’s commitment to meeting zero 
carbon by 2030 and meeting the requirements set out in the Lewes District Local 
Plan: Joint Core Strategy 2010-2030.The Council has declared a Climate 
Change Emergency and this project must meet high sustainability requirements 
in order to proceed.  

Page 20



 
Report to: Cabinet 

 
Date: 16 September 2019 

 
Title: Contingency Planning for a No-Deal Brexit 

 
Report of: Peter Finnis, Assistant Director for Corporate Governance 

 
Cabinet member: 
 

Councillor Zoe Nicholson, Leader of the Council 

Ward(s): 
 

All, but in particular those in and around Newhaven 

Purpose of report: 
 

To brief Cabinet on the Council’s preparedness for a no-
deal Brexit 
 

Decision type: 
 

Non-key 

Officer 
recommendation(s): 

That Cabinet note–  
 
(1) the Council’s preparations and readiness for the UK 
leaving the EU without a formal agreement or transition 
period; and 
 
(2) East Sussex County Council’s statement at paragraph 
3.8 on traffic issues at Newhaven Port under a no-deal 
Brexit scenario. 
 

Reasons for 
recommendations: 
 

Local government should be prepared to leave the EU by 
the end of October, and the Council has both a general role 
to play and a specific responsibility as the Newhaven Port 
Health Authority.    
 

Contact Officer(s): Peter Finnis, Assistant Director for Corporate Services 
peter.finnis@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 
Tel: (01323) 415003 
 
Ed Hele, Functional Lead (Quality Environment) 
ed.hele@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 
Tel: (01323) 415014 
 
Oliver Dixon, Senior Lawyer 
oliver.dixon@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 
Tel: (01323) 415881 

 

1  Introduction 
 

1.1  This is an update to the report considered by Cabinet on 11 February 2019 on 
the strategic implications for Lewes District Council (‘the Council’) of the UK 
leaving the European Union.  There is a link to that report at the end of this 

Page 21

Agenda Item 9



document. 
 

1.2  This update considers: 
- the national position as at 4 September 2019 – see paragraph 2; 
- government funding to local authorities, including this Council, for Brexit 

preparations – see paragraphs 3.1-3.2 and 3.4-3.5; 
- regional planning activity across East Sussex and the South East – see 

paragraphs 3.3 and 3.6; 
- the situation at Newhaven Port, with particular regard to the Council’s 

role as port health authority – see Appendix 1; and 
- the emergency planning system and its relevance under Brexit – see 

Appendix 2 

2  National Context 
 

2.1  Subsequent to the previous Brexit report to Cabinet, the UK government 
reached agreement with the EU over a seven-month extension to the Article 50 
process, meaning a revised ‘exit date’ of 31 October 2019. 
  

2.2  The Government’s stated preference is to leave the EU with a deal, i.e. on the 
basis of the Withdrawal Agreement already drafted but with amendments 
acceptable to both parties and subsequently ratified by Parliament.  However, 
despite the Prime Minister’s hopes of renegotiating that Agreement, leaving 
without a deal now looks a distinct possibility and the Government is planning 
intensively for this outcome. 
 

2.3 The principal reasons making an agreed withdrawal unlikely are as follows. 
 

(i) The EU has consistently said it would be unwilling to renegotiate the 
Withdrawal Agreement.  While it is engaging in discussions and may 
be open to smaller technical changes, it looks extremely unlikely to 
accept the Prime Minister’s key request of removing the Northern 
Irish ‘backstop’ from the deal.   
 

(ii) There is very little time left.  Even if the EU was willing to negotiate 
the changes requested by the PM, the time to achieve this before the 
European Council meeting on 17-18 October, followed by ratification 
and the passage of the necessary legislation through Parliament, 
makes the 31 October deadline very challenging.   

 
There is very limited capacity to block a no-deal before Parliament is 
prorogued on a day between 9 and 12 September.  Once MPs return, 
there will be only six sitting dates between the final votes on the 
Queen’s Speech (on 22 October) and 31 October in which to stop a 
no-deal. 
 

N.B.  If the situation at Westminster changes significantly between the time of 
writing (3 September) and the Cabinet meeting on 16 September, officers 
will provide a verbal update. 

 

Page 22



2.4 If the UK and EU do not conclude a withdrawal agreement by 31 October, if 
there is no further extension of the Article 50 period and the Article 50 
withdrawal notice is not revoked, the UK will still leave the EU, but without an 
agreement to govern the terms of withdrawal, and with no transition period.   
 

2.5 At national level, the consequences of no deal include the following:  
 
 UK entities would no longer be eligible to receive EU funding for projects 

under EU programmes, although the government has given a guarantee to 
continue funding such projects under a no-deal scenario  

 The UK will no longer be part of the EU's single market and customs union; 
the four freedoms (the free movement of people, goods, services and 
capital) will no longer apply; and there will no longer be mutual recognition 
of professional qualifications and regulatory frameworks.  

 UK-EU trade in goods and services will take place under the EU rules that 
apply to non-EEA countries, and any applicable national laws and national 
practices of member states, with the World Trade Organisation (WTO) rules 
and WTO schedules setting the baseline for access.  Tariffs will apply. 

 Continuity in the UK's trade with non-EU countries will depend on the 
government rolling over all the EU's existing trade agreements (and trade-
related agreements) by exit day.  The WTO rules and the WTO schedules 
set out the default position in the absence of any more preferential trade 
agreements or transitional arrangements. 

3  Planning and funding at local authority level 
 

3.1 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) sees 
local government as critical in delivering a successful Brexit.  In January 2019, 
it announced funding of £35k for each district council over the period 2018/19 to 
2019/20, to “prepare for an orderly exit from the EU and do appropriate 
emergency planning.”  The Council is using these payments to fund (a) the 
preparations and contingency planning associated with port health 
responsibilities at Newhaven, and (b) the Council’s participation in Brexit 
emergency planning work by the Sussex Resilience Forum. 
 

3.2 MHCLG promised a further £1.5m in 2018/19 to local authorities “facing 
immediate impacts from local ports”, but the Council did not qualify for an 
allocation. 
 

3.3 To support the planning activity, a network of nine local authority chief 
executives from across England has been established.  For the South East it is 
Becky Shaw, the Chief Exec of East Sussex County Council.  Their role is to 
engage with councils in their region, to share information on preparations to 
support an orderly exit.  This has included participating in four no-deal task and 
finish groups set up by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government, with appropriate representation from across the South East.  The 
groups are: 
 

Page 23



(i) Transport and Planning related to Port Disruption 
(ii) Business Support (particularly for SMEs)  
(iii) Support for the EU Settlement Scheme 
(iv) Regulatory Services (including port health)  

The first meeting of the Regulatory Services group took place at the end of 
July, and identified the short-term costs associated with no-deal preparations 
as: 

 volume of work, e.g. changes to the flow of goods, advice to businesses 
 potential changes to risk profiles 
 new processes and systems, including staff training. 

 
The group’s comments were referred to MHCLG, to assist them with a briefing 
on possible funding. 
 

3.4 In August 2019, MHCLG committed an additional £20m of Brexit funding for 
councils in England, to support a range of activity “including communications, 
training and the recruitment of staff.”  We have established that the allocation to 
district councils will be £17.5k each.  At the time of writing, these particular 
funds have yet to be received.  
 

3.5 In addition, Sussex (and indirectly LDC) should benefit from a share of the £4m 
government grant just announced for England’s Local Resilience Forums.  On a 
pro rata basis, the Sussex LRF should receive £105k out of this pot.  
 

3.6 Also in August, MHCLG asked each council to designate a Brexit lead “to work 
with central government and oversee teams in every community who will work 
with stakeholders in their area to plan intensively for Brexit.”  Collectively, the 
Chief Executives of councils across East Sussex have decided that the CEOs 
will assume this role. 
 

3.7 The Government has produced, and continues to update, guidance to local 
government on preparing for Brexit.  For LDC, the two most important sets of 
guidance are those on (1) Regulatory Services and (2) Contingency Planning.  
The Regulatory Services set includes guidance on issues relevant to the 
council’s role as port health authority for Newhaven Port, such as importing 
animals, animal-products and high risk food and feed not of animal origin. 
 

3.8 
 

As highways authority, East Sussex County Council has provided the following 
statement on the traffic situation at Newhaven Port in a no-deal Brexit scenario: 
 
“The Sussex Resilience Forum (SRF) wrote to the Department for Transport 
(DfT) in March 2019 regarding the perceived risk of traffic congestion around 
Newhaven, and the DfT assessment was there would not be significant 
disruption at the port as a direct result of a potential no-deal Brexit. In August 
the SRF wrote to the DfT for an up to date clarification on the national 
assumptions surrounding Newhaven Port.  We await a response from the DfT.” 
 

  

Page 24



4  Contingency Planning as Newhaven Port Health Authority 
 

4.1 A briefing on the Council’s role as Newhaven Port Health Authority and how it is 
planning for the impact of a no-deal Brexit is provided at Appendix 1. 
 

5  Emergency Planning Arrangements 
 

5.1 A briefing on the Council’s emergency planning responsibilities and how they 
apply in a Brexit no-deal scenario is provided at Appendix 2. 
 

6  Consultation 
 

6.1 The Council’s port health preparations for Brexit have been conducted on a 
partnership basis, working alongside all the bodies with responsibilities for 
operations at Newhaven Port and its access routes.   
 
Similarly, the Council’s emergency planning arrangements are developed on a 
county-wide basis as a member of the Sussex Resilience Forum. 
 

7 Financial appraisal 
 

7.1 The funding arrangements mentioned in paragraph 3.1 above reflect the 
Secretary of State’s announcement in January 2019 of a funding package of 
£58m to support local authorities in their preparations for the UK leaving the 
EU. This included an allocation of £40m to be distributed between all local 
authorities in England, split across 2018-19 and 2019-20.  
 

7.2  Whilst this funding is not ring-fenced , the expectation is the funding will be 
used to enhance capacity and capability within local authorities in making 
preparations for exiting the European Union.  To date, the total amount 
received is £34,968.  
 

8 Legal implications 
 

8.1 Government departments have prepared a large number of statutory 
instruments which, when implemented, will amend existing regulations so as to 
make them work effectively under domestic law once the UK is outside the EU.   
The date of implementation will depend on the nature of the UK’s departure, 
since leaving with a deal involving a transition period would allow the new 
legislation to be brought into force on a structured timetable.  Leaving without a 
deal would mean the new regulations coming into force on or as soon as 
practicable after 31 October. 
 
The Council’s lawyers will advise on the implications of any revised legislation 
that affect council operations, as when it comes into effect.  However, at this 
stage no particular legal problems are anticipated at local level, whether Brexit 
occurs with or without a deal.  
 
Lawyer consulted 03.09.19                                     Legal ref: 007967-JOINT-OD 
 

  

Page 25



9 Risk management implications 
 

9.1 The Council is responsible for managing risks associated with Newhaven port 
health operations.  A description of these risks and how the council is mitigating 
their potential impact is included in Appendix 1. 
 

10 Appendices 
 
 

  Appendix 1 – Newhaven Port Health Authority preparations for Brexit 
 Appendix 2 – Emergency Planning arrangements for Brexit 

 
11 Background papers 

 
 The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows:  

 
  Brexit report to Cabinet, dated 11 February 2019 

https://democracy.lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/s9395/Strategic%20Implications%20f
or%20the%20Council%20of%20the%20UK%20leaving%20the%20E
uropean%20Union.pdf 

 Local government preparedness for Brexit (Government guidance) - 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-government-brexit-
preparedness#regulatory-services  

 ‘Preparing for a Brexit No Deal (July 2019)’, published by The Institute 
for Government - 
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/sites/default/files/publica
tions/preparing-brexit-no-deal-final_0.pdf 

 
 

Page 26



Appendix 1

Title: EU Exit Newhaven Port Health Update        Date: 2 September 2019

Author: Ed Hele, Functional Lead – Quality Environment

Background

The UK is due to exit the EU on 31 October, and leaving the EU Customs Union and 
Single Market means that without some form of agreement goods travelling to and 
from Europe will be subject to new authorisations and controls. A no deal scenario is 
one where the UK leaves the EU and becomes a third country at 11pm GMT on 31st 
October 2019 without a Withdrawal Agreement and framework for a future 
relationship in place between the UK and the EU.

Lewes District Council is also the Newhaven Port Health Authority which has a 
responsibility for Port Health Controls including food safety law enforcement and 
infectious disease control. Under the existing controls the work is limited to checking 
manifests electronically and quarterly visits and inspections at the Port of Newhaven 
with Roll On Roll Off (RORO) cargo entering the UK. At the current time it is mainly 
low risk food and as the majority of food entering via the port originates from the EU 
very few controls are necessary.

Throughout the 70’s and 80’s there was a daily presence at Newhaven Port by 
Newhaven Port Health Authority and there were offices, meat inspectors and officers 
present to oversee food coming into the UK. Since the mid 90’s the requirement to 
undertake checks reduced to a point where only quarterly physical checks and daily 
manifest checks are undertaken. Newhaven is not a designated Border Inspection 
Post but exactly what will be expected at Newhaven Port is currently unknown and it 
would be advisable to plan for the worst case scenario. The Port of Dieppe has 
applied to become a Border Inspection Post (BIP) as it is likely the EU sanctions for 
goods entering the EU will be greater than those coming from the EU and entering 
the UK.

Officers have attended Newhaven Port Emergency Planning Meetings chaired by the 
County Council. These considered all impacts from the EU-Exit and were attended 
by Border Force, Sussex Police, Trading Standards, Environmental Health, Port 
Health, Highways, East Sussex Fire and Rescue, Newhaven Port and Properties, 
DFDS and Emergency Planning to consider impacts both at a strategic and tactical 
level. 

Impact

At the current time there is an increased risk of a no-deal EU Exit and this will have 
implications for our Environmental Health team. Information from government 
agencies at the current time indicates that the actual food hygiene risk is not likely to 
change but there may be enhanced documentation and physical checks. 

A specific vessel is required to load and offload at Newhaven and Dieppe and at the 
current time it is thought that there are only 2 vessels capable of undertaking this 4 

Page 27



hour crossing. Crossings arrive in Newhaven at approx. 08.30 and 21.00 hours in 
winter and 04.00, 15.30 and 21.00 in the summer. Theoretically a ferry could arrive 
every 2 hours at Newhaven but it is thought that this is extremely unlikely. It is 
foreseeable that if there is significant demand then a total of 4 crossing per day could 
take place.

The nature of the food imported via Newhaven may change depending on difficulties 
at other Ports and may mean that higher risk products become more likely. We are 
not currently aware of any other company wishing to use the crossing or other 
vessels capable of being used for the crossing but have this under review.

Newhaven currently has the following number of crossings.

1st October – 30th 
April

1st May – 30 
September

Port Running at 
Maximum crossings

Number of Ferry 
Arrivals

2 3 4

Average Number of 
HGV Vehicles

30 per ferry 20 per ferry -

Peak Number of 
HGV Vehicles

50 per ferry 50 per ferry 200

Maximum Number of 
HGV Vehicles

102 per ferry 102 per ferry 408 per day

Transport Network – We assume France and other Member States will treat the UK 
as a 3rd country and apply full controls. This will mean all freight and motorists 
entering France from Newhaven, Dover and Eurotunnel will be subject to customs 
clearance and full Schengen controls. The French will have IT systems and 
infrastructure in place to manage and process customs declarations, however there 
is limited space in the French ports to hold freight that is not border ready. In order to 
transport goods into the EU in a ‘no deal’ or post-Brexit scenario, traders must be 
signed up to customs procedures. 

The road network in and around Newhaven is fragile to manage an increase in traffic 
and lorries due to increased ferry crossings at the Port.  At present the traffic 
movements to and from the town are totally dependent on the availability of the A26 
trunk road. Alternative routes such as the C7, the B2123 (Falmer to Woodingdean) 
and Alfriston Road are unsuitable diversion routes.  The A259 has a number of 
capacity constraints such as the Ring Road and Exceat Bridge, and suffers from 
congestion particularly at peak times. There is also an environmental weight 
restriction through Peacehaven which impedes its use as a lorry routing alternative 
to the A26.  The effect of the swing bridge operation during peak hours and incidents 
or works on the A26 have from previous experience caused widespread disruption.

If there are additional delays at the Channel ports, especially in a No-Deal Brexit 
situation and the Operation Brock contingency plans at Dover/the Channel Tunnel 
are not working satisfactory, then there is a possibility that lorries may seek to 
transfer to other ports on the south coast, including Newhaven. As a consequence, 
this may put additional pressure on the lorry holding capacity that the Port currently 
has available.

Page 28



The Highways Authority has identified a number of options in the event additional 
lorry stacking space is required. It is not anticipated that stacking will take place on 
the A27 or A26 and alternatives have been investigated. The County are aware of 
the expected issues and have responsibility for this as they would also need to 
consider welfare facilities for drivers in any stacking areas. It should be noted that 
experience from previous scenarios shows that trade would not choose longer and 
more expensive routes. Between October and May, the average number of lorries 
using the ferry is 30 per crossing.

Food Hygiene - The Food Standards Agency has advised that the risk to food 
importation will not change on day one and food that was imported on 31st October 
will have the same low risks attached to it on 1st November 2019. As such they do 
not foresee a significant impact on food imports. Food Hygiene Inspectors will need 
to respond to intelligence received of high risk foods entering the UK or should the 
nature of currently imported food at Newhaven change.

There is an increased need for Food Export Certificates to be created as the rules for 
food exports will change. Documentation will need to be created for any food 
products originating in the Lewes District with a European destination. Training has 
been provided and officers have obtained additional qualifications to undertake this 
work.

In the longer term the Port may become a designated port of entry for certain 
foodstuffs and legislation will continue to change and adapt to more formal controls 
as the implementation period comes to an end. Although it is not anticipated for 
significant food hygiene issues on day 1, it is unknown what this will be in the weeks 
and months ahead.

Port Health Risks

Risk Mitigation
A more significant presence at 
the port likely to be required by 
qualified food inspectors 
possibly covering up to 4 
crossings a day

Shift and rotas being explored. Contingency to 
have mutual aid or additional staff for food 
enforcement. Qualified officers supported by 
caseworkers.

Number of current qualified food 
inspectors is 4, increasing to 5 
in October impact on other work

Shift and rotas being explored. Contingency to 
have mutual aid or additional staff for food 
enforcement. Qualified officers supported by 
caseworkers.

New Import Notification System 
(INS) required for import 
controls

Currently investigating whether we would need to 
access this

Requirement to undertake 
physical checks of high risk 
imported food 20% sample

Staff attended training and documents to be 
produced

Offices/IT currently in Port Office provision is available in the newly 
refurbished Ferry Terminal

Food detention facilities at Port Office provision is available in the newly 
refurbished Ferry Terminal. In addition facilities at 

Page 29



Saxon House and Southover will be sought.
Refrigeration facilities at Port Possible ability to share Border Force container

Export Certificates will need to 
be produced for unknown 
number of exporters no longer 
able to use EC mark

Staff attended training and documents to be 
produced

Take time away from other BAU 
activities

Backfill with qualified officers

Bigger impact of transit food 
stuffs originating outside EU

Staff attending training and documents to be 
produced

Facilities will require water, 
electricity and WIFI to allow 
temporary office

Facilities are available at the Ferry Terminal.

Other Council Risks

 Vehicle stacking on roads unlikely but if gridlock in town then Robinson Road, 
Avis Way, Incinerator access may be affected. Other impact on transfer 
stations.

 Possibility of Fuel shortages
 Spare parts for vehicle fleet shortage
 Need to utilise any council employee who has obtained Environmental Health 

Officers Registration Board accreditation (EHORB) possible secondment for 
port health duties.

 Lewes Bonfire is a high risk event that many Environmental Health Officers 
who would normally undertake food hygiene enforcement will be required to 
work. Should EU Exit prove more complex than anticipated then it may be 
necessary to seek mutual aid from neighbouring authorities.  

Page 30



Appendix 2

Emergency Planning and its Relevance to Brexit

All Unitary, County, District and Borough Councils are statutory category 1 
responders under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. Across Sussex these duties are 
undertaken with extensive partnership working. Essentially, these are the key 
elements involved in our current emergency planning arrangements: 

 At strategic level, there is the Sussex Resilience Forum (SRF) which takes a 
Pan-Sussex approach and includes in its membership the Chief Executive 
officers of Sussex local authorities

 Lewes District Council (along with Eastbourne, Hastings and Wealden) 
source their operational needs from East Sussex County Council and form 
the East Sussex partnership (ESREP). Only Rother choose to operate 
outside this partnership. All partners are represented on the ESREP Board 
which meets quarterly to decide on strategic direction and operational needs

 As part of the ESREP arrangement we have access to a more joined-up 
approach in respect of planning and training. We are also part of a mutual aid 
agreement with neighbouring authorities to enable flexible deployment of the 
necessary resources in response to major incidents

 All Councils have overarching generic Emergency Response Plans which 
cover all their legislative responsibilities, and are viewable on Council 
websites

 Underpinning the overall generic plans are subsidiary plans covering the 
readiness and deployment of rest centres, set up and function of the 
emergency control centre, and high level potential risks, for example 
flood/coast protection plans

 In addition, bespoke emergency event plans are created for specific high risk 
events in particular areas, such as bonfire night in Lewes

 The Council’s role is to work in partnership with other category 1 agencies 
such as the emergency services, in responding to major incidents

 In most emergency situations, the lead role is taken by the police. Specific 
Council responsibilities include strategic response at Gold/Silver level, and 
operational response at bronze level, such things as provision of rest centres, 
transport, catering, temporary accommodation, support to vulnerable people, 
road closures, liaison with utilities and other agencies, etc. Depending on the 
nature of the incident, the Council will have a significant and potentially 
prolonged role in respect of business continuity and recovery

 In order to provide this response, we have a wide range of staff at all levels 
trained as Gold, Silver and Bronze operatives. Corporate management team 
are also trained to perform at Gold levels

 We have a pool of senior officers trained as Incident Liaison Officers who 
rotate the 24/7 emergency call out function a week at a time

Page 31



 Training exercises are frequently held both for strategic and operational staff. 
A recent desktop training exercise, facilitated by specialist trainers, was held 
in Lewes for senior staff, in respect of testing the revised emergency plan 
against an emergency scenario

 We also work closely with the emergency services and participate in joint 
training days and we are members of the Sussex Resilience Forum which is 
the strategic overview body and is the Pan-Sussex multi agency partnership 
of statutory responders, led by the Police and set up to work together to 
prepare, respond to and recover from emergencies and major incidents  

It is important to understand the difference between Emergency Response Planning 
and Event Planning. The primary duty on local authorities to be ready and able to 
respond to an unforeseen emergency situation when it occurs, usually as a result of 
a request from the emergency services. Event planning, on the other hand, seeks to 
address a specific known forthcoming event/situation, identify the key risks and put 
mitigations in place.

Thus, the emergency planning role in respect of Brexit is to focus on those aspects 
that are most likely to have a particularly high risk in this area. As a result, the 
primary focus in terms of specifically focused planning has centred on the potential 
impact of Brexit on Newhaven Port.

Of course, there are potentially many aspects to Brexit which may cause emergency 
situations such as food and medicine shortages, stockpiling, public disorder, and the 
possibility of a snap general election and/or referendum. 

Dealing with initial occurrence of an emergency is one thing. However, prolonged 
deployment of staff can then have a knock-on effect on our ability to continue to 
deliver core services. Then, depending on the nature of the emergency, there could 
be a prolonged and expensive recovery of the normal situation in the aftermath. 
 
These are issues shared across the country and, for the most part, it is the duty of 
local authorities to be ready to respond to any emergency situation that may occur as 
a result of any of these or other issues and we are as confident as it is possible to be 
that we are prepared.

Page 32



 
Body: Cabinet 

 
Date: 16th September 2019 

 
Subject: Finance update – Provisional Outturn 2018/19 and Performance 

Quarter 1 2019-20 
 

Report of: Homira Javadi, Chief Finance Officer 
 

Cabinet member: 
 

Councillor Zoe Nicholson, Leader of the Council 
 

Ward(s): All 
 

Purpose of the 
report: 
 

To update members on the Council’s 2018/19 outturn in advance 
of audit and the financial performance in Quarter 1 2019-20 
 

Decision type: Non Key 
 

Recommendation: Cabinet is recommended to 
 

1. Agree the update on outturn 2018/19 
 

2. Agree the General Fund financial performance for the 
quarter ended June 2019. 
 

3. Agree HRA financial performance for the quarter ended 
June 2019. 
 

4. Agree the amended capital programme as set out in 
Appendix 2 
 

5. Agree the Treasury Management performance.  
 

 
Reasons for 
recommendations: 
 

To enable Cabinet members to consider specific aspects of the 
Council’s financial performance.  

Contact: Homira Javadi, Chief Finance Officer 
Tel: 01323 415512 or email 
Homira.Javadi@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 
 

 

1.0 Introduction 
 

1.1 It is essential to ensure that the Council has a sound financial base from which to 
respond to changing activity levels and demand for statutory services and to ensure 
that, when appropriate, its finances are adjusted in response to reducing income 
levels and inflationary pressures on expenditure.  
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 10



 
1.2 A report on the financial performance following the end of each quarter is made to 

Cabinet to ensure that the financial health of the General Fund, Housing Revenue 
Account, Capital Programme and Treasury Management activates are kept under 
continual review.  
 

2.0 General Fund  
 

2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2018/19 interim outturn (Subject to audit) 
 
As previously advised, production of the Council’s statutory accounts were delayed 
due to systems implementation issues.  However, this work is now about to finalise 
and the Council’s external auditors will commence their work in October.   
 
This section provides Cabinet with an update regarding the financial position of the 
authority during 2018/19.  Subject to audit, the outturn position for the year is 
expected to be in line with the overall approved budget 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Department Full Year 
Budget 

Full Year 
Actual 

Variance  

  £'000 £'000 £'000 

SUMMARY 
      

Corporate Services 5,422 4,846 (576) 

Service Delivery 8,280 8,717 437 

Regeneration, Planning & Assets 673 1,292 619 

Tourism & Enterprise Services 672 626 (46) 

Housing Revenue Account  (3,312) (3,562) (250) 

Total Service Expenditure 11,735 11,919 184 

Efficiency Savings (700) (500) 200 

Capital Financing and Interest - 9 9 
Contributions to/(from) Reserves and allocation 
of contingencies 1,117 724 (393) 

Net Expenditure 12,152 12,152 - 
 
 

2.2 Q4 2018/19(Outturn) Update 
   
During the financial year 2018/19, the Council experienced a considerable demand 
for its housing services and incurred additional costs for the provision of Temporary 
and Emergency Accommodation (TA/EA).    
 
The Council has undertaken work to reduce the overall costs of TA/EA and to drive 
performance in the service through the realignment of work streams.  The outcomes 
of this work will be reflected in the current fiscal year’s financial performance. 
 
The increased demand for services delayed delivery of some aspects of the planned 
transformation programme.  However, the Council was able to mitigate some of the 

Page 34



increased costs associated with this with one--off government funding for 
homelessness.  In addition, £1.1m of the transformational costs were met by use of 
flexible capital receipts in line with the Joint Transformation Programme. 
 
The economic slowdown and uncertainty continued to place added pressure on net 
income from commercial properties by driving costs including business rate up and 
reducing income levels. Some of the key variances are listed below: 
  

 unlet commercial property of £128k, 
 a consequent income is shortfall of £184k, and  
 additional expenditure of £307k on property being held pending redevelopment 

The Council is carrying out a comprehensive review of its finances as part of the 
budget setting and Medium Term Financial planning process, which will include a 
review of its reserves and balances.  This review will inform and revise the authority’s 
future budget and service delivery plans. 
 
 

2.3 General Fund performance of the quarter is shown in the table below:  

Department Full Year 
Budget 

Profiled 
Budget 

Actual 
to 30th 

June 
2019 

Variance 
to date 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

SUMMARY        

Corporate Services 7,051 2,101 1,706 (395) 
Service Delivery 8,557 2,097 2,215 118 
Regeneration, Planning & Assets 431 128 184 56 
Tourism & Enterprise Services 439 125 178 53 
Recharges to the Housing Revenue Account (3,235) - - - 
Total Service Expenditure 13,243 4,451 4,283 (168) 
Efficiency Savings (750) (188) - 188 
Capital Financing and Interest - (45) (12) 33 
Contributions to/(from) Reserves 964 (150) (150) - 
Net Expenditure 13,457 4,068 4,121 53 

 
 

2.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The position at the end of June shows a negative variance of £53k on net 
expenditure. At the time of preparing this report, further analysis was being carried out 
to examine the possibility of capitalising some or all of this variance.  Key variances at 
30 June included: 

Service Priorities/Contingency –  
(to mitigate against loss of commercial income & increase in  
demand for services – including EA/TA)                                           (£486k) 
Profiling of savings to meet additional demand for services               £188k 
Waste and Recycling – Loss of recycling credits and fuel costs         £132k 
Information Technology – Additional IT Contract cost                          £95k 
Planning Policy – Play Strategy, National Park Habitat regs                £72k 
Newhaven Fort – Remedial works                                                        £52k 
                                                                                                              £53k   

  

Page 35



The amount held in the General Fund Uncommitted Reserve, which acts as a buffer 
against negative movements in the budget, is expected to remain at £2m at 31 March.  
The table below shows the projected movements in each Reserve in 2019-20 and the 
balance at the end of the year. 
 
 General Fund Reserves Actual 

Balance at 
1 April 
2019 

Contributions 
from General 
Fund Revenue 

Budget 

Use for 
Capital 

and 
Revenue 

Estimated 
Balance at 
31 March 

2020 
 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Earmarked        
Asset Management (2,716)   (2,716) 
Economic Regeneration (1,124)   (1,124) 
Revenue Grants and Contributions (468)   (468) 
Strategic Change (1,969)  150 (1,819) 
Vehicle and Equipment Replacement (1,132)   (1,132) 
Total Earmarked Reserves (7,409)  150 (7,259) 
General Fund Working Balance (2,093)   (2,093) 
Total Earmarked Reserves (9,502)  150 (9,352) 

 
 

3. Housing Revenue Account  
 

3.1 HRA performance for the quarter is as follows:  
 
  Current 

Budget 
Profiled 
Budget 

Actual to 
30th June 

2018 

Variance 
to date 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
HRA        
Income  (16,021)  (4,005) (4,005)    
Expenditure 14,183  3,187 3,400 220  
Capital Financing & Interest 2,170  452 452    
Contribution to Reserves         
Total HRA (29) (366) (153) 220 

 
A further breakdown is shown at Appendix 1.  
 

3.2 The position at the end of June shows a surplus of £153k.   
 
During the period, repairs figures were largely based on estimates.  There were 
continuing issues with the Council’s supplier, Mears and their ability to issue invoices. 
Reconciliations will take place once invoices have been received at the end of August 
2019. 
  

4.0 Capital Expenditure  
 

4.1 The detailed capital programme at Appendix 2, provides a summary of spend for 
quarter 1 compared to the allocation for 2019/20. The 2019/20 allocation has been 
revised to allow re-profiling of schemes from 2018/19.  
 

4.2 The Capital Programme for 2019/20 totals £69,337m compared to the original Capital 

Page 36



P
C
 

 

 
4.3 I

T
A
 

5.0 T
 

5.1 T
C
 

5.2 E
 
A
u
t
n

Programme
Capital Pro

Capital Pro
  
Original App

Brought forw

Re-profiled 
 
 
 
Variations 
Temporary 
Asset Mana

Current Pro

tems prev
Temporary
Asset Man

Treasury M

The Annu
Cabinet an

Economic

After only 
unexpected
the origina
negative.  

Capital Rece
1.61

Reserv

e approved
ogramme a

ogramme Su

proved Budg

ward 2018/1

from 2018/2

previously a
Accommoda

agement 

ogramme 

viously ap
y Accommo
agement –

Manageme

al Treasu
nd Council 

c Backgrou

tepid annu
dly strong 
l March Br

eipts, 

ves, 8.93

O
Contr

0

d by Coun
and Capita

ummary 201

get 11 Februa

9 

019 

approved
ation  

pproved by
odation – in
– increased

ent  

ury Manag
in Februar

und 

ual econom
at 0.5%. 

rexit deadl

Capital 
Grants, 
1.18

Other 
ributions, 
0.86

ncil 11 Feb
al Financing

9/20 - 2021/

ary 2019 plu

y Cabinet
ncreased b
d budget to

gement an
ry 2019.  

mic growth
However, 
line so qua

ruary 2019
g are show

/22 

us minor adju

: 
budget to b
o fund wor

nd Pruden

h of 1.4% 
this was b

arter 2 is n

Bor

9 of £11,90
wn in the ta

ustments 

be funded 
ks to the A

ntial Indict

in 2018, g
boosted by
now expec

rrowing, 56.

01m. The c
ables below

by right to
All Weathe

tors were 

growth in 
y stock bui
cted to be z

76

Capita
£66

changes to
w.  

2019
£'

11,

7,

49,
  

69,

buy receip
r Pitch 

approved

quarter 1 
lding ahea
zero or slig

l Financin
6.437m

o the 

9/20
000
981

556

030

700
170

437

 

pts. 

d by 

was 
ad of 
ghtly 

ng

Page 37



 
After the Monetary Policy Committee raised Bank Rate from 0.5% to 0.75% in August 
2018, it is little surprise that they have abstained from any further increases since 
then. We are unlikely to see any further action from the MPC until the uncertainties 
over Brexit clear.  If there were a no deal exit, it is likely that Bank Rate would be cut 
in order to support growth.  Nevertheless, the MPC does have concerns over the 
trend in wage inflation which peaked at a new post financial crisis high of 3.5%, 
(excluding bonuses), in the three months to December before falling marginally to 
3.4% more recently.  Growth in employment fell to only 32,000 in the three months to 
April, well below the 2018 average, while the unemployment rate remained at 3.8 
percent, its lowest rate since 1975. Correspondingly, the total level of vacancies has 
risen to new highs. 
 
As for CPI inflation itself, this rose slightly to 2.1% in April before falling back again to 
2.0% in May, and is likely to remain around this level over the next two years. If there 
was a no deal Brexit though, it could rise towards 4%, primarily as a result of imported 
inflation on the back of a weakening pound. 
 
The rise in wage inflation and fall in CPI inflation is good news for consumers as their 
spending power is improving in this scenario as the difference between the two 
figures is now around 1.3%, i.e. a real terms increase. Given the UK economy is very 
much services sector driven, an increase in household spending power is likely to 
feed through into providing some support to the overall rate of economic growth in the 
coming months. 
 
 

5.3 Interest Rate Forecast 
 
Base Rate has remained at 0.75% since 2nd August 2018. Link Asset Services 
forecasts Base Rate increase to 1.00% in December 2020. 
 
 

5.4 Annual Investment Strategy  
 
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2019/20 which included 
the Annual Investment strategy was approved by Council on 11 February 2019. It sets 
out the Council’s investment priorities as being: 
 

 Security of Capital; 
 Liquidity; 
 Yield.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



The following table shows the fixed term deposits and tradeable investments held at 
30 June 2019. 
 

Counterparty 
Date Date 

Days 
Principal Int Rate 

From To £ % 

Thurrock Borough Council 02/10/2018 02/04/2019 182 2,500,000 0.90 

Thurrock Borough Council 14/11/2018 14/05/2019 181 3,000,000 0.90 

Debt Management Office 02/04/2019 11/04/2019 9 4,000,000 0.50 

Debt Management Office 01/05/2019 13/05/2019 12 5,000,000 0.50 

Debt Management Office 13/05/2019 22/05/2019 9 3,000,000 0.50 

Thurrock Borough Council 14/06/2019 16/03/2020 276 3,000,000 0.88 

Derbyshire County Council 14/05/2019 14/06/2019 31 3,000,000 0.57 

    23,500,000  

 
In addition to the fixed term deposits, the Council has made use of the following 
Deposit accounts and Money Market Funds: 
 

  

Balance at
Average 
balance  28 June ‘19

Interest 
rate

£’000 £’000 %

Santander Business Reserve Account 2,000 1,373 0.65
Lloyds Bank Corporate Account 3,474 1,961 0.65
Goldman Sachs Sterling Liquid Reserves Fund 1,000 1,561 0.86
Deutsche Managed Sterling Fund  1,500 1,793 0.85

 
Approved limits within the Annual Investment Strategy were not beached during the 
quarter ending 30 June 2019. 
 

5.5 Investment performance 
 
Treasury Management investment performance at the end of Quarter 1 is shown in 
the table below, along with the average 7-day London Interbank Bid (LIBID) Rate. All 
activity was consistent with the Council’s approved Treasury and Investment Strategy 
for 2019/2020. 
 

Type of Investment  
Average return 

 Qtr4 18/19 
Average return 

Qtr1 19/20 

  % %

Fixed Term Deposits 0.50 0.75

Treasury Bills 0.65 n/a

Bonds & Certificates of Deposit 0.65 0.65

Money Market Funds 0.73 0.84

Interest Bearing Account 0.59 0.65

Total Investments 0.67 0.75

    

7 day LIBID Benchmark 0.48 0.51
 
 

Page 39



5.6 Borrowing  
 
The current account with Lloyds Bank remained in credit throughout the period. No 
temporary borrowing for cash-flow management purposes took place.   

 
There has been no change in the total value of the Council’s long term borrowing in 
the reporting period, which remains at £57.762m. 
 
 

5.7 Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits 
 
It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the affordable 
borrowing limits. The Council’s approved Treasury and Prudential Indicators 
(affordability limits) are included in the approved TMSS.  

During the quarter to 30 June 2019 the Council has operated within the treasury limits 
and Prudential Indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and in compliance with the Council’s Treasury Management Practices. 
 

6.0 Financial appraisal 
 

6.1 All the financial implicates are contained within the body of the report.  
 

7.0 Legal implications 
 

7.1 There are not legal implications arising from this report.  
 

8.0 Equality analysis 
 

8.1 This Finance update is a routine report for which detailed Equality Analysis is not 
required to be undertaken. The equality implications of individual decisions relating to 
the projects/services covered in this report are addressed within other relevant 
Council reports.   
 

9.0 Conclusion 
 

9.1 As anticipated, there are a number of variations within the General Fund and HRA 
budgets.  However, through careful budgetary control measures and close monitoring 
of the income and expenditure both budgets are expected to be delivered within the 
approved estimates. 
 

9.2 Treasury Management performance is on target and all activities were within the 
approved Treasury and Prudential Limits. 
 

 
Appendices 
 

 Appendix 1 – Housing Revenue Account 
 Appendix 2 – Capital Programme 

 
 

Page 40



 
Background papers 
 
The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows: 
 

 Budget monitoring 19/20 working papers 
 To inspect or obtain copies of background papers please refer to the contact officer 

listed above. 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1
 

Variance
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 (Projected to
  -  BUDGET SUMMARY PROVISIONAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET Q1 ACTUAL Q1 Actual)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £
Income
Dwelling Rents (14,609) (14,531) (14,224) (3,556) (3,556) -
Non-Dwelling Rents (431) (457) (445) (111) (111) -
Charges for Services and Facilities (1,279) (1,237) (1,173) (293) (293) -
Contributions towards Expenditure (173) (204) (179) (45) (45) -
Total Income (16,492) (16,429) (16,021) (4,005) (4,005) -

Expenditure
Repairs and Maintenance 3,921 4,400 4,439 1,015 1,327 312
Supervision and Management 2,718 1,702 1,685 254 240 (14)
Special Services 905 1,313 1,344 254 194 (60)
Rents, Rates, Taxes and Other Charges 145 173 178 21 3 (18)
Movement in the allowance for Bad Debts 152 95 50 13 13 -
Depreciation of Fixed Assets 4,425 - -
  - Dwellings 4,826 4,826 1,207 1,207 -
  - Other Assets - 815 805 201 201 -
Amortisation of Intangible Assets - 6 3 1 1 -
Debt Management Costs - 47 42 11 11 -
Joint Transformation Programme Savings - (156) (60) (15) (15) -
Joint Transformation Programme (JTP) Efficiency Savings - 150 250 63 63 -
Total Expenditure 12,266 13,371 13,562 3,025 3,245 220

- -
Net Cost of HRA Services (4,226) (3,058) (2,459) (980) (760) 220

-
HRA share of Corporate and Democratic Core 448 576 621 155 155 -

- -
Net Operating Cost of HRA Services (3,778) (2,482) (1,838) (825) (605) 220

Capital Financing and Interest Charges
Interest Payable 1,884 1,866 1,850 463 463 -
Interest Receivable (41) (45) (41) (10) (10) -
Amortised Premiums and (Discounts) - - - -
Reversal of Depreciation and Amortisation - (5,647) (5,634) (1,409) (1,409) -
Transfer to Major Repairs Reserve - 5,647 5,634 1,409 1,409 -
Repayment of Internal Borrowing 816 - - -
Revenue Contribution to Capital 349 - -
Total Capital Financing and Interest Charges 2,659 2,170 1,809 452 452 -

- -
(Surplus)/Deficit for the year (1,119) (312) (29) (373) (153) 220

Working Balance at 1 April (1,939) (2,251)
(Surplus) or Deficit for the year -312 (29)
Working Balance at 31 March (2,251) (2,280)

Allocation of Working Balance: 
  -  General Working Balance (1,456) (1,735)
  -  Special Projects (520) (270)
  -  Self Insurance (275) (275)
Working Balance at 31 March (2,251) (2,280)

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/2020   

Original Variations Proposed Q1
Line SUMMARY Programme B/F Reprofiled approved or Programme Expenditure

2019/20 2018/19 2018/19 awaiting approval 2019/20 2019/20
1 HRA HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME £ £ £ £ £
2    Construction of New Dwellings - 419,772 - - 419,772 326,449
3    Buy-back of Properties sold Through Right to Buy 200,000 - - - 200,000 -
4    Saxonbury Redevelopment - 19,707 1,400,000 - 1,419,707 8,455
5    Improvements to Stock 4,765,000 57,357 - - 4,822,357 247,318
6    Recreation & Play Areas 50,000 89,900 - - 139,900 -
7    Conversions & Additional Rooms in Roof - - - - - -
8 TOTAL HRA HOUSING INVESTMENT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 5,015,000 586,736 1,400,000 - 7,001,736 582,221

9 GENERAL FUND HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME
10    Private Sector Housing Support 135,000 - - - 135,000 10,453
11    Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants 1,001,000 27,750 - 80,000 1,108,750 142,722
12    Temporary Accomodation - 83,325 2,100,000 700,000 2,883,325 2,485
13 TOTAL GENERAL FUND HOUSING INVESTMENT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 1,136,000 111,075 2,100,000 780,000 4,127,075 155,660

-

14 GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME -
15 LHIC/Aspiration Homes - loans to facilitate delivery of new homes - 1,490,000 18,500,000 - 19,990,000 146,300
16 Joint Transformation Programme (JTP) - 261,973 - - 261,973 -
17 Regeneration -
18 Commercial Property Acquisition & Development 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000 -
19 NSQ - North Street Quarter - 1,078,977 - - 1,078,977 696,750
20 NSQ - Springman House - 99,000 - - 99,000 635
21 NSQ - Commercial Development Springman House - - - - - 49,672
22 NSQ - Blue Light Services Hub - 34,172 3,200,000 - 3,234,172 564
23 NSQ - Temporary Car Park - (15,560) 700,000 - 684,440 -
24 NSQ - North Street Commercial Property Acquisition/ Development - 14,926 - - 14,926 -
25 Asset Develeopment Newhaven - 1,292,791 - - 1,292,791 2,050
26 Sutton Road - Seaford - - 18,600,000 - 18,600,000 45,027
27 Turkish Baths, Lewes (Refurbishment) - - - - - 7,190
28 19-21 Cradle Hill, Seaford - 73,990 - - 73,990 -
29 Denton Island Commercial Development - - 530,000 - 530,000 -
30 Construction of Avis Way Depot, Newhaven - 27,380 4,000,000 - 4,027,380 958
31 Newhaven Enterprise Centre (Boiler Works) - 9,500 - - 9,500 -
32 Robinson Road Depot - Priorty Works - 232,412 - - 232,412 28,549
33 Asset Management 350,000 873,794 - 170,000 1,393,794 68,199
34 Community Infrastructure - - - - - -
35 Service Delivery -
36 Vehicle & Plant Replacement Programme 964,000 - - - 964,000 222,024

P
age 45



Appendix 2

37 Waste & Recycling - 378,388 - - 378,388 -
38 Specialist -
39 Tree survey Works - 10,000 - - 10,000 -
40 Air Quality Monitoring Station Newhaven - 80,000 - - 80,000 -
41 Flood Protection Measures 136,000 177,136 - - 313,136 29,316
42 Coastal Defence Works - 16,955 - 16,955 35,950
43 Parks, Pavilions etc. - Remedial works 50,000 722,607 - - 772,607 294,110
44 Information Technology (IT) 150,000 - - - 150,000 -
45 Finance Transformation 100,000 - - 100,000 -
46 TOTAL GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 5,750,000 6,858,441 45,530,000 170,000 58,308,441 1,627,293

46 TOTAL OVERALL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 11,901,000 7,556,252 49,030,000 950,000 69,437,252 2,365,174

47 CAPITAL PROGRAMME FUNDING
48  Borrowing 56,861,501
49  Capital Receipts 1,613,200
50  Reserves 8,926,491
51  Capital Grants 1,176,250
52  Section 106 Contributions 274,167
53  Other Capital Contributions 202,865
54  Capital Expenditure Financed from Revenue (General Fund) 332,778
55  Capital Expenditure Financed from Revenue (Housing Revenue Account) -
56  CIL Contributions 50,000
57 TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 69,437,252

Original Variations Proposed Q1
Line SUMMARY Programme B/F Reprofiled approved or Programme Expenditure

2019/20 2018/19 2018/19 awaiting approval 2019/20 2019/20

P
age 46



Report to: Cabinet

Date:  16 September 2019

Title: Portfolio Progress and Performance Report 2019/20- Quarter 
1 (April -  June 2019)

Report of: Ian Fitzpatrick, Director of Regeneration and Planning 

Cabinet member: Councillor Chris Collier, Cabinet member for performance 
and people

Ward(s): All

Purpose of report: To consider the Council’s progress and performance in 
respect of key projects and targets for the first quarter of the 
year (Jan-March 2019) as shown in Appendix 1.

Decision type: Non-key

Officer 
recommendation(s):

a) To note progress and performance for Quarter 1 as well as 
the overall performance for 2019/20 and 

b)To consider any recommendations made by the Scrutiny 
Committee.

Reasons for 
recommendations:

To enable Cabinet to consider specific aspects of the 
Council’s progress and performance.

Contact Officer(s): Name: Millie McDevitt
Post title: Projects and Performance Lead
E-mail: Millie.McDevitt@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01273 085637 / 01323 415637

1 Introduction

1.1

1.2

1.3

The Council has an annual cycle for the preparation, implementation and 
monitoring of its business plans and budgets. This cycle enables us regularly to 
review the Council’s work, and the targets it sets for performance, to ensure these 
continue to reflect customer needs and Council aspirations.  

It is important to monitor and assess progress and performance on a regular 
basis, to ensure the Council continues to deliver priority outcomes and excellent 
services to its customers and communities. 

This report sets out the Council’s performance against its targets and projects for 
the first quarter of 2019/20 (the period running from 1st April to 30 June 2019).

Page 47

Agenda Item 11



2 Performance in the first quarter of 2019/20

2.1

2.2

Appendix 1 provides a high level summary of progress and performance arranged 
by Cabinet portfolio. The summary shows where performance and projects are 
‘on track/on target’ and where there are areas of risk, concern or under-
performance.  Where performance or projects are ‘off track/below target’, an 
explanation of the management action being taken to address this is also 
provided.

Detailed project/performance tracking information is recorded in the Council’s 
performance management information system (Pentana (formerly known as 
Covalent). The system uses the following symbols to indicate the current status of 
projects and performance targets:

 = Performance that is at or above target;
 = Project is on track;
  = Performance that is slightly below target but is within an acceptable 

tolerance/projects where there are issues causing significant delay or 
change to planned activities; 

 = Performance that is below target/projects that are not expected to be 
completed in time or within requirements;

= Project has changed or been discontinued;
 = Data with no performance target.

3

3.1

4.

4.1

5

5.1

6

6.1

Financial Appraisal

Project and performance monitoring and reporting arrangements are contained 
within existing estimates. Corporate performance information should also be 
considered alongside the Council’s financial update reports (also reported to 
Cabinet each quarter) as there is a clear link between performance and 
budgets/resources. 

Legal Implications

Comment from the Legal Services Team is not necessary for this routine 
monitoring report. 

Risk Management Implications

It is important that corporate performance is monitored regularly otherwise there is 
a risk that reductions in service levels, or projects falling behind schedule, are not 
addressed in a timely way. 

Equality Analysis

The equality implications of individual decisions relating to the projects/services 
covered in this report are addressed within other relevant Council reports or as 

Page 48



7

7.1

8

part of programmed equality analysis. The equality implications of projects that 
form part of the Joint Transformation Programme are addressed through separate 
Equality and Fairness assessments.

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Portfolio Progress and Performance Report (Quarter one 2019/20).

Background Papers

Council Plan 2016 to 2020

Page 49

http://www.lewes.gov.uk/council/1991.asp


This page is intentionally left blank



A

K
 

N
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1 

 
Key 

 

 

Performance t
Project is on tr
 

 

 
Project has be

 Direction of tra

  Direction of tra

N* Based on natio

Lewes D

that is at or above targ
rack 

een completed, been d

avel on performance in

avel on performance in

onal indicator 

District Co

get 

discontinued or is on h

ndicator : improving pe

ndicator : no change 

uncil Portf
Quar

hold 

erformance 

 

folio Progre
rter 1 2019

 
 
 

 

 Performan
Projects th

 

 
Performan
Projects : w
cost press

Direction o

 Data with n

  

 

ess and Pe
‐2020  

ce that is below target
hat are not expected to

ce that is slightly belo
where there are issues
ures or risks 

of travel on performanc

no performance target

rformance

t 
o be completed in time

w target but is within a
s causing significant d

ce indicator : declining

t 

e Report 

e or within requiremen

an acceptable toleranc
delay, changes to plan

g performance 

ts 

ce 
nned activities, scale, P

age 51



 

C
 
 
1.1 Env
 
Project / In

Clear Futur
and Sustain

Upper Ouse

Newhaven 
(Environme

 
 

CPR LDC 1

vironment Pro

nitiative 

res: Joint Venture for E
nability 

e Flood Protection and

Flood Alleviation Sche
ent Agency) 

1 Environm

ojects and Pro

Descriptio

Energy 

A joint ven
Council an
local energ
next 20-30
programm

d Water 3 year pro
the District

eme Enabling t
in Newhav

ment  

ogrammes 

on 

nture between Eastbou
nd a private sector org
gy and sustainability a
0 years. The Joint Ven
e of work.  

gramme of flood prote
t 

he delivery of key infra
ven. 

T
c

urne and Lewes 
ganisation to deliver 
ambitions for the 
nture will follow a 

ection work across 

astructure projects 

 

Target 
completion  Stat

Q1 2037/38 

Q3 2019/20 

 Q4 2020/21  
 

tus Update 

 

The Joint Ventu
term solutions to
with Energy & S
integrating the p
for local commu

 The JV betwee
and is a partner
Sussex College

Meetings of the 

 
Meetings have b
Wivelsfield area
 
Further engage
locations where
explore a critica
gardens. 
  

 

 
Areas 2,3,4 and
 
• The majority o
install demounta
season and is e
• Work on the fl
possession of e
2021.  
 

ure (JV) is a procureme
o sustainability challen

Sustainability themes, 
public and private sect
unities and businesses

en LDC, EBC, Roberts
rship for up to 30 years
e Group have recently 

JV Operations Group

been held with the En
a and upper Adur catc

ment with community 
e new flood manageme
al issue of a route for a

d 5 are complete. Area

of consents have now 
able flood barriers on 

expected between Sep
lood rail gate is progre

entire line from Networ

ent and delivery frame
nges. It will bring innov
faster, better, cheape
tor. The framework als
s. 

son and AECOM was e
s. Bolton Metropolitan
become new participa

p and the Steering Boa

vironment Agency reg
hment.   

groups is due to comm
ent would be beneficia
an engineered flow pa

a 1 is the only area wh

been obtained from H
the A26. This work wi

ptember and Novembe
essing, with surveys in
rk Rail). Target comple

ework that is used to d
vation and help delive
r and with more certai
so brings excellent op

established in Septem
n Borough Council and
ants. 

ard took place on 18 a

garding potential proje

mence in Wivelsfield a
al. In Ringmer there is 
th for water through p

here works remain out

Highways England for 
ll take place after bird 
er 2019.  
n late July (delays due
etion for this aspect is 

develop long 
er projects 
inty, by 
portunities 

mber 2017 
d the East 

and 21 June 

ects in the 

around key 
a need to 

rivate 

standing.  

the works to 
nesting 

e to need for 
now March 

P
age 52



 

 

 
 
1.2 Env
 

KPI Desc

Number of 
dioxide leve
air quality o
μg/m3 hour
 
(reported to
governmen

Sites excee
recommend
quality nitro
(40 μg/m3 q
(Nov 2018 
requested P
 
(reported to
governmen

Number of 
matter leve
air quality o
μg/m3 24 h
(Nov 2018 
requested P
(reported to
governmen

Percentage
waste sent 
recycling an
(N*- old nat

vironment : Ke

ription 

times nitrogen 
els exceed national 
objectives (200 
rly mean ave.) 

o central 
nt) 
eding 
ded national air 
ogen dioxide levels  
quarterly mean) 
Council motion 
PI) 

o central 
nt) 

times particulate 
els exceed national 
objectives (50 
hour ave) 
Council motion  
PI) 
o central 
nt) 

e of household 
for reuse, 
nd composting 
tional indicator) 

ey Performanc

Annual 
Target 

2019/20 

Q4 20

Val

18 Not rep

Data only Not rep

35  

37.00% 36.2

ce Indicators

18/19

lue Value 

ported 0 

ported TBC 

1 

26% 41.84% 

Q1 201

Target 

No more than 
5 

Data only 

No more than 
8 

At least 
37.00% 

 

 

9/20

Status Perfo
T

 

 

 

 

Q1 2018
ormance
Trend Value 

  

  

  

 32.00%

8/19
Latest Note 

It should be no
change in the f
must be consid
 

 
This will be rep
DEFRA. 

There has been
number of times
than 35 times a

% 

Performance in 
increase from th
intensive projec
service more ef
office processes
of Lewes waste

oted the data is curre
future because it has
dered with care. 

ported annually once

n only 1 occasion (Nee
s 24-hour mean 50 μg
 year. 

Q1 increased from 36
he same period last ye
ct to look at making the
fficient and effective. T
s with an objective of 

e services. 

ently provisional and
s not been fully ratifi

e raw data has been 

edlemakers car-park) w
g/m3 exceeded. The ta

6.26% in Q4 and also 
ear. In Q2, there will b
e administration of our
This will primarily look 
improving customers’ 

d may 
ied and 

verified by 

when the 
arget is less 

shows an 
be an 
r waste 
at the back 
experience 

P
age 53



KPI Desc

Number of 
within plann
(Nov 2018 
requested P
 

Number of 
permissions
some form 
energy is in
conditions d

Total numb
tipping incid

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ription 

EV charging points 
ning applications 
Council motion 
PI) 

planning 
s given where 
of renewable 

ncluded and 
discharged 

ber of reported fly-
dents 

Annual 
Target 

2019/20 

Q4 20

Val

 Ne

 Ne

Max 200 70

18/19

lue Value 

ew 160 

ew 0 

0 50 

Q1 201

Target 

Data only 

Data only 

No more than 
50 

 

9/20

Status Perfo
T

 

 

 

 

Q1 2018
ormance
Trend Value 

 New for 1

 New for 1

 

Not repo
as new 

previous
was  num

of days
clear

8/19
Latest Note 

19/20 This figure repre
been proposed 

19/20

 
A number of ap
conditions attac
facilities.  
 
However in Q1 
already been di
between determ
then being able
(i.e. the further 
submitted and t
conditions have
.  
 

orted 
PI- 
ly PI 

mber 
s to 
r  

The total numbe
Our analysis sh
the rural part of 
spot in the Ditch
Most of the fly t
  
 

esents the number of 
through the applicatio

plications that we hav
ched requiring further d

there where 0 applica
scharged (cleared). W

mining applications wh
 to report that these c
information that is req
the planning authority 
e been met). 

er of fly-tipping inciden
hows that most of the f

Lewes district. In May
hling Beacon area. 
ips were of small van 

EV charging points th
on process (27 applica

ve determined have pla
details of the Renewa

ations where these con
We expect there to be a

ich have conditions at
onditions have been d
uired by the condition
has then confirmed th

nts for Q1 is 50.   
fly tips were in Lewes 
y, there was also parti

load size. 

at have 
ations). 

anning 
ble energy 

nditions had 
a time-lag 
ttached and 
discharged  
s has been 

hat  the 

town and 
cular hot 

P
age 54



 

 

CPR 
 
 
2.1 Reg
 
Project / In

Newhaven 

Newhaven 

North Stree

Seaford He
Leisure Ce

Railway Qu

LDC 2 Reg

generation and

nitiative 

Enterprise Zone 

Town Centre 

et Quarter 

ealth Hub formerly Dow
ntre 

uay Newhaven 

generation 

d Business Pr

Descriptio

NEZ cover
with the ai
the creatio
floorspace
employme
up to 2,000

Delivery of
NEZ. 

Regenerat
Lewes to p
park and n

wns Project to 
better serv

Delivery of
NEZ. 

 and Grow

rojects and Pr

on 

rs 8 key sites of strate
m of driving economic

on of up to 55,000m² o
e, refurbishing 15,000m
ent floorspace and crea
0 FTE jobs over a 25-

f mixed use regenerat

tion of the North Stree
provide over 400 home
new commercial space

renovate the Downs L
ve the community's he

f mixed use regenerat

wth:  

rogrammes 

T
c

egic importance 
c growth through 
of new employment 
m²; of existing 
ating / sustaining 
-year period. 

tion scheme within 

et Quarter area in 
es; health hub; car 
e. 

Leisure Centre to 
ealth needs. 

tion scheme within 

 

2.1 Re

Target 
completion  Stat

Q4 2041/42 

Q4 2020/21 

Q1 2021/22 

Q3 2020/21 

  

egeneration an

tus Update 

 

 
Transitional arra
South East LEP
 
Work is continu
agreed a works
 
The Board has 
enterprise repre

 

 
 
Plans are evolv
and are now wo

 

North Street Qu
three phases) o
with the develop
 
The land collabo
prospective dev
the financial cap
been identified, 
landowners will 
developer.   
 
LDC continues t

 
Progress on this
consider options
 

 

 
We are currently
complements th
town centre – lin

nd Growth Pro

angements for the EZ 
P.  

ing. The new work pla
hop would be held in S

now been expanded t
esentatives. 

ing. We were success
orking with central gov

uarter Ltd (NSQL) com
on 22 June 2019. NSQ
per appointing a build 

oration (legal) agreem
veloper provides a ran
pacity and experience
a more detailed deve
remain actively involv

to work to secure the 

s project is subject to f
s. A further Cabinet re

y reviewing the develo
he future operations of
nking with the Future H

ojects and Pro

have been agreed be

an was discussed at th
September to prioritise

to include a number of

sful in the first round o
vernment on the next s

mmenced marketing th
QL aims to appoint a de

contactor in the Sprin

ment between NSQL a
ge of information to sa
 to deliver the scheme
lopment programme /

ved in the scheme follo

remaining third party f

further consideration. 
eport on this can be fo

opment options for Ra
f the UTC building and
High Streets Fund bid

ogrammes 

etween Coast to Capita

he EZ Board on 30 Jul
e the actions. 

f key business and soc

f the Future High Stre
stage.  

e scheme for a develo
eveloper by the end o
g of 2020. 

nd LDC will require th
atisfy the landowners 
e. As soon as a develo
 timelines will be avail
owing appointment of 

freehold land interests

A Scrutiny panel is wo
und elsewhere on the

ailway Quay to ensure 
d the overall developm
. We are expecting to 

al and 

ly and it was 

cial 

ets Fund 

oper (for all 
of this year, 

at the 
that it has 
oper has 
lable. Both 
a 

s at the site. 

orking to 
e agenda. 

that it 
ment of the 

have 

P
age 55



Springman 

 
 
 

CPR 
 
 
3.1 Fina
 
Project / In

Devolution 

House- Blue light ser

LDC 3 Fina

ance and Corp

nitiative 

of Open Spaces 

rvices hub 
Relocation
blue light s
North Stre

ance and C

porate Project

Descriptio

Work with 
Town and 
maintain h
spaces. 

n of key emergency se
services hub that supp

eet Quarter. 

Corporate 

ts and Progra

on 

new grounds mainten
Parish Councils and l

high quality public park

ervices to create a 
ports delivery of the 

 

ammes 

T
c

nance contractor, 
ocal volunteers to 

ks and community 

 

Q3 2019/20  

 

3.1 Fin
3.2 Fin

Target 
completion  Stat

Q3 2019/20 
 

further clarity th
  

 
The Council iss
services (fire, po
had been agree
station on the si
in terms of affor
wider scheme.

nance and Co
nance and Co

tus Update 

Devolution site

Valley Road Re

East Side Recre
open space disp
disposing of ope
transfer should 

Lewes Road Re
solicitor) to refle
responsibility fo

Riverside Coun
(amongst other)
2019 to enter in
Cabinet before 
arrangements m
to continue to p

Drove Park Rec
of issues that in

is autumn. 

ued draft Heads of Te
olice and ambulance) 

ed. ESFRS subsequen
ite.  ESFRS has ident
rdability, planning and 

rporate Projec
rporate Key P

es to Newhaven Tow

ecreation Ground: Suc

eation Ground: LDC n
posal advertisement (a
en space) has been ca
complete very shortly

ecreation Ground:  NT
ect the previous landfil
r the landfill.  

ty Park:  ESCC has ob
) countryside sites.  LD

nto a lease/manageme
completion).  ESCC w

mirror those terms.  We
rogress matters.  

creation Ground and A
nvolve third parties bef

erms for a shared Blue
on the 5 April 2019, b

ntly expressed a prefe
ified a final preferred d
highways matters, an

cts and Progra
Performance In

wn Council:  

ccessfully completed in

ow holds full set of sig
a statutory requiremen
arried out and LDC is 
. 

TC to approve amende
ll site as it has been ag

btained Lead Member
DC Cabinet had alread
ent arrangement with N
will prepare heads of te
e await receipt of the d

Avis Road Recreation 
fore proceeding furthe

e Light Hub to the eme
based on the shared s
rence for a stand-alon
design which we will n
nd phasing in the conte

ammes
ndicators

n March 2019. 

gned documentation.  
nt when a local author
finalising authorisatio

ed boundary (plan sen
greed that NTC will no

r approval to transfer t
dy confirmed approva
NTC (to be reported b
erms so that the LDC 
draft heads of terms fr

Ground: Awaiting regu
er.  LDC has asked NT

ergency 
cheme that 

ne fire 
now review 
ext of the 

An updated 
rity is 
ns and this 

t to NT’s 
ot have 

this 
l in March 
ack to 

rom ESCC 

ularisation 
TC’s solicitor 

P
age 56



Project / In

 
 
 

CPR 
 
 
4.1 Fina
 

KPI Desc

Percentage
collected du
 
(Income rep
governmen

nitiative 

LDC 4 Fina

ance and Corp

ription 

e of Council Tax 
uring the year –  

ported to central 
nt) 

Descriptio

ance and C

porate Key Pe

Annual 
Target 

2019/20 

Q4 20

Val

98.00% 97.7

on 

Corporate 

erformance Ind

18/19

lue Value 

70% 29.47% 

T
c

 

dicators 

Q1 201

Target 

 29.78% 

 

Target 
completion  Stat

 

 
4.1 Fin

9/20

Status Perfo
T

 

tus Update 

if NTC would co
issues after dev

Castle Hill Natu
to progress the 

Devolution site

Land at Mountfi
Trust), Stanley 

LDC awaits con
approaching the
committee.  

Devolution site

East Chiltington
Cabinet on the 2
by LDC to the P

 

nance and Co

Q1 2018
ormance
Trend Value 

 30.04%

onsider progressing de
volution.  

ure reserve and Meech
devolution of these sit

es to Lewes Town Co

ield Road (land not he
Turner Recreation Gro

nfirmation from LTC th
e Charity Commission

es to Rural Areas :  

n, Hollycroft Field inclu
27 March.  Report on 

Parish Council  

rporate Key P

8/19
Latest Note 

% 

Collection is 0.3
council’s contro
July this year w
Service changin
impacted on the

evolution of the sites n

hing Down:  LDC has s
tes.  

ouncil :  

eld in Trust), Land at M
ound (land held in Tru

at they wish to procee
.  LDC understands th

uding play space:  Rec
Title and draft transfe

Performance In

31% below target due 
ol. The main court for t
whereas in 2018 it was 
ng the Court timetable
e collection rate for Ju

now and to regularise t

suggested to NTC tha

Mountfield Road (land 
st). 

ed with these sites bef
hat LTC is setting up a

commended for devolu
r documentation has b

ndicators

to circumstances bey
he current year arrear
in June. This is due to

e this financial year. Th
ne as there will have b

those 

at we begin 

held in 

fore 
a devolution 

ution by 
been sent 

ond the 
rs is early 
o the Court 
his has 
been a 

P
age 57



KPI Desc

Percentage
collected du
Lewes 
 
(Income rep
governmen

Increase th
calls to the 
answered w
Lewes 

Average da
employee d

ription 

e of Business Rates 
uring the year – 

ported to central 
nt) 

e percentage of 
contact centre 

within 60 seconds - 

ays lost per FTE 
due to sickness (J) 

Annual 
Target 

2019/20 

Q4 20

Val

98.50% 98.1

80% 56.1

8.0 days 2.47 

18/19

lue Value 

3% 29.48% 

7% 48.98% 

days 2.2 days

Q1 201

Target 

 28.59% 

At least 80% 

No more than 
2.0 days 

 

9/20

Status Perfo
T

 

 

 

Q1 2018
ormance
Trend Value 

 29.18%

 38.33%

 1.62 da

8/19
Latest Note 

delay in receivin

% Collection is 0.8
last quarter. 

% 

Latest position
 
Apr to Jun com
considerable im
within target a
 
The Customer A
performance mo
answered within
percentage of c
down from 56.1
reason for this i
April following A
sent out in Marc
This was also o
had in May. Alt
60seconds for 
has pulled us do
 
Performance Im
now gone from 
system being im
robust training i
and new starts. 
now behind us, 
continue improv
There is further 
focus on the qu
of first time reso
supplied to resid

ays 

2.20 days for Q
and HR Busines
managing atten
 
In total there we

ng income from this co

89% ahead of the prof

n (July 2019): 84.4%

mmentary for Q1: Pe
mprovement with 91
nd 84.4% in July. 

Advisors have been w
onth on month with Ju
n 60seconds increasin
calls answered for the 
7% for Q4 18/19’ to 4
s due to the increased

Annual Billing and the 
ch where calls overflow

on top of the 2 bank ho
hough we reached 9
June, unfortunately A

own lower than anticip

mprovement Plan: W
Customer Contact an

mplemented, Custome
s cascaded to all of th
With March, April and
we will be looking to g

vement in SLAs across
work to look at how c
ality of service custom

olutions of contact and
dents. 

1 represents a decrea
ss Partners continue t

ndance issues. 

ere 138 short-term abs

ourt until July. 

filed target but slightly 

rformance has show
.37% calls answered

working hard on improv
une’s percentage of ca
ng when compared to 
quarter has unfortuna
8.98% for Q1 19/20’. T
d call volumes we rece
250K pieces of corres
wed into the new finan
olidays and 2 Elections
91.37% of calls answe
April and May’s low pe
pated for the first quar

With all Temporary Age
d a change in the IVR

er Contact will focus on
he team, both existing 
d the majority of Bank 
get back to business a
s the board. 

call handling is measur
mers receive including 
d the correct informatio

ase from Q4 which wa
to support managers i

sences and 28 long-te

down from 

wn 
d in June 

ving the 
alls 
May. The 

ately gone 
The main 
eived in 
spondence 
ncial year. 
s dates we 
ered within 

ercentage 
rter. 

ency staff 
R phone 
n ensuring 
members 
Holidays 

as usual and 

red. This will 
the number 

on being 

as 2.47 days 
n robustly 

erm 

P
age 58



KPI Desc

Number of 
the Council
channels 

Social med
rate  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ription 

new sign-ups to 
ls' social media 

ia responsiveness 

Annual 
Target 

2019/20 

Q4 20

Val

At least 600 22

80% NEW

18/19

lue Value 

21 251 

W PI 88.67% 

Q1 201

Target 

At least 150 

80% 

 

9/20

Status Perfo
T

 

 

 

Q1 2018
ormance
Trend Value 

 150

 NEW P

8/19
Latest Note 

absences (eg m
 
The non-manua
level within the 
 
 The average na
8.5 days (these
and absence ra
sector than in th
production (6.2)
 
A detailed analy

Signups continu

PI 

'Response rate'
Facebook page
received. 
LDC Q1 twitter 
Profile visits: 10
Tweets issued: 
Impressions (tw
Mentions in oth
 

more than 4 weeks).  

al workforce sickness 
manual workforce is 2

ational public sector s
 are currently the mos

ates nationally remain 
he private sector (5.6 d
) or non-profit (7.3).  

ysis around staff sickn

ue to increase. 

' is the percentage of n
e that we respond to on

analytics 
0,847 
2434 

weets appeared in othe
er tweets: 746  

level is 2.08 days. The
2.96 days. 

ickness absence for 2
st up to date figures pu
considerably higher in
days), manufacturing 

ness is taking place. 

new messages receiv
n the day the message

er users feeds): 264,5

e sickness 

2017/18 was 
ublished) 
n the public 
and 

ed via our 
e is 

00 

P
age 59



 

 

CPR 
 
 
5.1 Hou
 

KPI Desc

DFGs - Tim
council rece
complete a
council app

Number of 
Inspected p

Rent arrear
tenants (ex
percentage

Average vo
key (month

Taking eve
account, pe
tenants sat

LDC 5 Hou

using Key Per

ription 

me taken from 
eiving a fully 
pplication to the 

proving the grant

Licensed HMO’s 
per Quarter 

rs of current 
xpressed as a 
e of rent debit) (L) 

oid relet time key to 
 & YTD) (L) 

rything into 
ercentage of 
isfied or 

using  

rformance Ind

Annual 
Target 

2019/20 

Q4 20

Val

28 days 10 d

8 2

3% 4.64

20.0 40

Data only 85

icators 

18/19

lue Value 

days 14 days 

2 2 

4% 5.2% 

0.6 22.4 

% 79% 

Q1 201

Target 

No more than 
28 days 

At least 2 

No more than 
3% 

No more than 
23.0 

Data only 

 

5.1 Ho

9/20

Status Perfo
T

 

 

 

 

 

ousing Key Pe

Q1 2018
ormance
Trend Value

 7 days

 2 

 2%

 24.0

 75%

erformance Ind

8/19
Latest Note 

e 

s The handling of
within our maxim

The inspection t
There are more
licence. Legisla
storeys for licen
be 2 or more sto
some facilities t
and only has to 

We have given 
(previously 4%)
customers have
with delays on p
technological so
through text me
Q2 we have bui
additional staff, 
rent collection to
 

The re-let time f
However in May
figure for the wh
improvement in
Property Servic
meetings to ma
order to closely 

During Q1, we a
implemented ch
challenges in se

dicators

f DFG applications con
mum handling times (2

target for this quarter 
e than 16 HMOS in Lew
tion changed in Octob

nsing was removed (pr
oreys). As long as the
then a licence is requir
be inspected once.  

the team a stretching 
) as in Q1 18/19 they a
e been impacted by th
payments and we hav
olution that  will improv
essages and emails as
ilt  a new team built ar
including two visiting 

o improve through Q2

for the first quarter sta
y and June figures imp
hole quarter being with
 comparison to last ye

ces and Housing Need
nage void and re-let ti
manage performance

achieved overall tenan
hanges in Homes First
ervice delivery and an

ntinues to be processe
28 days). 

was met.  
wes in total but only 1
ber 2018 when the num
re Oct 18 the property

ere are 5 or more peop
red. The licence lasts 

target in Q1 of no mo
achieved 2% rent arre
e introduction of unive
e been implementing 
ve the targeting of ren
s well as the usual pho
round rent collection, w
caseworkers. We are 

2 to Q4. 

arted off just above tar
proved, resulting in the
hin target. This is a ma
ear. Neighbourhood H
ds continue to attend w
imes and this will cont
e going forward. 

nt satisfaction of 79%.
t work-streams to add
ticipate these changes

ed well 

6 require a 
mber of 
y needed to 
ple sharing 
for 5 years 

ore than 3% 
ears. In Q1 
ersal credit, 
a new 

nt arrears, 
one calls. In 
with 
profiling 

rget in April. 
e overall 
arked 
ousing, 

weekly 
tinue in 

 We have 
ress current 
s to impact 

P
age 60



 

KPI Desc

dissatisfied
Homes Firs

Number of 
in emergen
accommod
(N*) 

 
 
 

ription 

 with  overall 
st service   

households living 
ncy (nightly paid) 
ation (L) 

Annual 
Target 

2019/20 

Q4 20

Val

Data only 48.

18/19

lue Value 

33 61 

Q1 201

Target 

Data only 

9/20

Status Perfo
T

 

 

Q1 2018
ormance
Trend Value

 13

8/19
Latest Note 

e 

positively on lev

The pressures o
throughout Q1.
In June a signifi
streams was ca
other things, the
including: Hous
Private Sector H
Commercial Pro
 
From initial data
number of bene
through the intro
to prevent and r
service for custo
 
In the first mont
solutions Hub. 7
a placement int
preventative an
The remaining 4
property in the p
stay with friends
accommodation
Hub are having 
information on h
in the first instan
 
On 5 August ou
Property work s
intensive focus 
accommodation
structured team
accommodation
Additionally, dis
opportunities fo
other temporary

vels of satisfaction dur

on Housing Needs and

icant review of the Ho
arried out and a re-alig
e re-alignment introdu
ing solutions Hub, Pre

Housing and Tempora
operty. 

a the re-alignment of w
efits for the service, mo
oduction of the Housin
relieve homelessness 
omers. 

th we had 115 househ
71 of these household
o Temporary Accomm
d relief work of the Hu
40 (54%) households 
private rented sector, 
s or family or referred 
n. Additionally, househ

shorter stays in EA as
how to find accommod
nces.  

ur Temporary Accomm
stream went live in full
on the management o

n, helping them to mov
m will be working to mo
n more quickly into set
scussion with EA provi
r them to provide a co

y accommodation.  

ring Q2. 

d Standards remained

using Needs and Stan
gnment went live in Ju
ced six new work stre

evention, Assessment
ary Accommodation an

work streams has brou
ost significantly makin
ng solutions Hub. The 
on the day, providing

hold present to the Hou
ds were in Priority Nee
modation however due
ub, 31 placements wer
were either supported
able to remain in their
directly into supported

holds that have been s
s they are provided be
dation in the private re

modation (TA) and Com
. This work stream wil
of households in this ty
ve more quickly out of 
ove those in emergenc
ttled accommodation. 
iders is now underway

ombination of nightly p

d high 

ndards work 
ly. Amongst 

eams, 
, Move On, 

nd 

ught about a 
ng savings 
 Hub aims 
 a better 

using 
ed, requiring 
e to the 
re made. 
d into a 
r property, 
d 
seen by the 
etter 
ented sector 

mmercial 
l provide 
ype of 
f it. A new 
cy 
 

y to explore 
paid and 

P
age 61



 

CPR 
 
 
6.1 Plan
 
Project / In

Neighbourh

LDC 6 Plan

nning Projects

nitiative 

hood Planning 

nning  

s and Program

Descriptio

Work with 
Plans, to g
housing ca

mmes 

on 

local communities on 
guide future land use a
an be built. 

T
c

neighbourhood 
and identify where 

 

 

6.1 Pla
6.2 Pla

Target 
completion  Stat

Q4 2019/20 

anning Projec
anning Key Pe

tus Update 

 

 
Seaford NP: Th
representations
document at the
public consultat
'make' a Neighb
proceeds to exa
examination wil
 
Newhaven: The
listing recomme
NPO will issue a
modifications an
provisionally set
 
Peacehaven an
from Locality in 
Environmental A
assessments. 
 
Ringmer: No ch
PC can initiate a
moderate chang
support as nece
 
Chailey : The R
the consultation
 
Newick : The Pa
 
Lewes Town (S
The Lewes Neig
Development P

cts and Progra
erformance In

e Regulation 16 Cons
 have queried the abs

e second Regulation 1
tion means that this po
bourhood Plan. The st
amination. The NPO is
l take place in August

e Examination has con
ended modifications to
a decision statement s
nd if the Plan will proc
t for 10 October. 

nd Telscombe: Peaceh
order to progress with

Assessment. The appo

anges were made to t
a Review of the neigh
ges as required and th
essary once advised b

Regulation 14 Consulta
n responses with the P

arish Council are cons

DNPA-led and will for
ghbourhood Plan was 
lan. 

ammes
ndicators

sultation has conclude
sence of Policy SEA10

4 consultation in 2018
olicy does not meet the
teering group have dec
s in the process of app
. 

ncluded. The Examine
o the Plan so that it me
shortly to state whethe
eed to referendum. Th

haven Town Council h
h the Sustainability Ap
ointed consultant, Aec

the Ringmer NP prior 
bourhood plan at any 

he Neighbourhood Pla
by the Parish Council t

ation concluded on 28 
Parish Council. 

sidering making modif

rm part of the SDNPA 
made on 11 March. T

d. A high proportion o
0 -Health Facilities in t
8. The consequential l
e basic conditions req
cided to omit the polic
pointing an Examiner; 

er, has issued the final
eets the basic conditio
er LDC accepts the pro
he Referendum date h

as applied for technic
ppraisal and Strategic 
com, are proceeding w

to the May elections.  
time to address minor

anning Officer will resp
that a review will take 

June. The NPO is due

ications to the NP. 

development plan, no
The Plan is now part o

of the 
he 
lack of 

quired to 
cy before it 

the 

 report 
ons. The 
oposed 
has been 

al support 

with the site 

 Ringmer 
r or more 

pond with 
place. 

e to discuss 

ot LDC’s) : 
of the SDNP 

P
age 62



Project / In

The Local P

 
 

 
 
6.2 Plan
 

KPI Desc

Percentage
applications
13 weeks (
(N*) 

Percentage
applications
8 weeks (L
combined) 
(N*) 

nitiative 

Plan (Part 2) 

nning Key Per

ription 

e of major 
s determined within 
LDC only) 

e of minor planning 
s determined within 
DC/SDNP 

Descriptio

Local Plan
types of de
Gypsy and
protected. 

rformance Ind

Annual 
Target 

2019/20 

Q4 20

Val

65% 66.6

75.00% 54.9

on 

n Part 2 will allocate la
evelopment (including
d Traveller pitches) as

dicators 

18/19

lue Value 

67% 60% 

93% 58.75% 

T
c

and for different 
 new housing and 

s well as land to be 

Q1 201

Target 

65% 

75.00% 

 

Target 
completion  Stat

Q3 2019/20 

9/20

Status Perfo
T

 

 

tus Update 

 
Barcombe – The
and effort requir
NP. 
 
General Neighb
advised of the u

 
The main modif

Q1 2018
ormance
Trend Value

 TBC 

 69.64.%

e Chair of the Barcom
red to produce an NP 

bourhood Plan : The T
updated five year hous

fications recommende

8/19
Latest Note 

e 

Q1 performance
3 out of 5 major
In Q2 we have a
that will improve

·       Senio
·       Spec
·       Case
·       Case
·       Autho

 

% 

Q1 performance
80 minor planni
Additional resou
applications. 
 
In addition, an a
implemented an
figures showing

mbe NP confirmed the 
will be met by the com

own/Parish Councils a
sing land supply positi

d by the Inspector we

e of 60% was slightly 
r applications determin
added the following ad
e the performance acr
or (Special Projects) 
ialist advisor  (Plannin

e worker (Planning) 
eworker (Enforcement)
orised overtime payme

e of 58.75% was below
ng applications determ
urce has now been pu

action plan to address
nd this has  already re
g 71%). 

group do not feel that 
mmunity and have disb

and Steering Groups w
on.. 

re out for consultation

lower than the target o
ned within 13 weeks. 
dditional resource into
ross all applications. 

ng) 

) 
ents for a three month

w the target of 75% w
mined within 8 weeks.
ut in to look at minor pl

 performance issues h
esulted in improvemen

the time 
banded the 

will be 

n in August. 

of 65% with 

o the team 

h period 

with 47 out of 
 
lanning 

has been 
ts (latest 

P
age 63



KPI Desc

Processing
applications
(LDC/SDNP
(N*) 

Percentage
appeals allo
(officer/com

 
 
 

CPR 
 
 
7.1 Com
 
Project / In

Lewes Dist

 

ription 

g of other planning 
s within 8 weeks 
P combined) 

e of all planning 
owed 

mmittee decisions) 

LDC 7 Com

mmunity and P

nitiative 

rict Lottery 

Annual 
Target 

2019/20 

Q4 20

Val

75.00% 56.1

10.0% 33.3

mmunity a

Partners Proje

Descriptio

A lottery fo

18/19

lue Value 

12% 70.95% 

3% 11.1% 

nd Partner

ects and Prog

on 

or good causes for Lew

Q1 201

Target 

75.00% 

10.0% 

rs  

grammes 

T
c

wes District 

 

9/20

Status Perfo
T

 

 

 

7.1 Co
7.2 Co

Target 
completion  Stat

Q4 2018/19 

Q1 2018
ormance
Trend Value

 82.44%

 10.0%

ommunity and
ommunity and

tus Update 

 

We are aiming f
the local press, 
those organisat
 
Work on the des
and work is con
the lottery. Once
details of how th
 
  

8/19
Latest Note 

e 

% Q1 performance
149 applications

% 

 
A total of 9 appe
delegated decis
 
The allowed ap
complied with p
acceptable, no 
Forest), no harm
larger dwelling, 
to Newick Neigh

d Partners Proj
d Partners Key

for a launch date of m
website and at meetin
ions likely to be intere

sign for the Logo is in 
ntinuing on identifying t
e we have identified th
hey may benefit from b

e of 70.95% was sligh
s out of 210 processe

eal decisions were rec
sions) and 1 allowed (c

peal:   The inspector c
policy when considered
adverse impact on the
m in developing the ga
size and scale reflect

hbourhood plan. 

jects and Prog
y Performance

id October. We will ad
ngs, for example the J

ested.  

progress. A communi
those local organisatio
he organisations we w
being a part of the lott

tly under the target of 
d within 8 weeks. 

ceived : 8 were dismis
committee decision) 

considered that the pro
d as a whole – access
e European site (Ashd
arden, no harm from d
s those in the area – n

grammes 
e Indicators 

dvertise the launch this
Joint Action Group, att

ications plan is being d
ons that may wish to b

will contact them to giv
tery. 

f 75% with 

ssed (all 

oposal 
s is 
down  
developing a 
not contrary 

s through 
ended by 

drawn up 
be part of 
e them 

P
age 64



 7.2 Co
 

KPI Desc

Average nu
process ne
housing/co
(reported to
Governmen

Average da
change of c
(Housing/C
(reported to
Governmen

Improve ou
compared t
authorities 
crime  

 
  

mmunity and 

ription 

umber of days to 
w claims for 
uncil tax benefit  
o Central 
nt) 

ays to process 
circs. 

Council Tax Benefit) 
o Central 
nt) 

ur ranking 
to similar 
in relation to all 

Partners Key 

Annual 
Target 

2019/20 

Q4 20

Val

22.0 25

8.0 3.

5 1

Performance

18/19

lue Value 

5.1 22.9 

1 7.2 

1 2 

e Indicators 

Q1 201

Target 

No more than 
22.0 

No more than 
8.0 

Within top 5 

15 

9/20

Status Perfo
Tren

 

 

 

Q1 2018

ormance 
d 

Value

 20.0

 8.0

 5 

8/19

Latest Note 
e 

While performa
compared to 22
quarters of 2018

Performance fo

Our aim is to be
per 1,000 popul
The top 5 (from
follows:  
1.South Notting
2. Lewes Distric
3. Hinckley & Bo
4.NW Leicester
5.Arun, West Su
 
Whilst LDC’s ra
two authorities i
residents and th
55.4 crimes per
 

nce for Qtr 1 is slightly
2.00 the outturn shows
8/19 which were 36.9 

r the 1st quarter of 19

e within the top 5 (eg h
lation) compared to th
 lowest number of crim

ghamshire  
ct 
osworth (Leicestershir
rshire 
ussex 

ank has fallen one plac
is marginal, with LDC 
he top ranking authorit
r 1000 residents. 

y above target at 22.9 
s an improvement on t
and 25.1 days. 

9/20 is ahead of target

have the lowest numbe
ose in our  most simila

mes to highest)  for Q1

re) 

ce, the difference betw
reporting 56.2 crimes

ty, South Nottinghams

 days 
the last two 

. 

er of crimes 
ar group. 
1 was as 

ween the top 
s per 1000 
shire DC, 

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet

16 September 2019

Treasury Management

Homira Javadi, Chief Finance Officer

Councillor Zoe Nicholson, Leader of the Council

All

To present to Cabinet the quarterlyTreasury Management 
Report and the Annual Treasury Management Report for 
2018/19.

Budget and Policy Framework

Report To:

Date:

Report Title:

Report of:

Cabinet member:

Ward(s):

Purpose of report:

Decision type

Officer 
Recommendations:

Reasons for 
recommendations:

(1) To confirm to Cabinet that Treasury Management 
Activity for the period 1 March to 30 June 2019 has 
been in accordance with the approved Treasury 
Strategies for that period.

To endorse the following recommendation from Audit and 
Standards Commitee to Council:

(2) It be recommended to Council that the annual Treasury 
Management report for 2018/19 be agreed and the 
2018/19 Prudential and Treasury Indicators included in 
the report be approved.

Requirement of CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public 
Sector Code of Practice (the Code) and this has to be 
reported to Full Council.

Contact Officer(s)- Name: Stephen Osborne
Post title: Principal Accountant
E-mail: stephen.osborne@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01273 085286

1 Introduction

1.1The Council’s approved Treasury Strategy Statement requires the Audit and 
Standards Committee to review details of Treasury Strategy transactions against 
the criteria set out in the Strategy and make observations to Cabinet as 
appropriate.

Page 67

Agenda Item 12



1.2The Treasury Strategy Statement also requires the Audit and Standards 
Committee to review a formal summary report after the year end before it is 
considered by Council, in accordance with best practice and guidance issued by 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. The Audit and 
Standards Committee considered this report on Treasury Management activity for 
the period 1st March 2019 to 30th June 2019, and the Treasury Management 
Annual Report at its meeting on 16th July 2019. The Treasury Management Annual 
Report is attached as Appendix 1, and the the relevant extract of the Audit and 
Standards Committee is attached as Appendix 2.

2 Treasury Management Activity

2.1The timetable for reporting Treasury Management activity in 2019/2020 is shown 
in the table below. This takes into account the timescale for the publication of each 
Audit and Standrads Committee agenda and is on the basis that it is preferable to 
report on activity for complete months. Any extraordinary activity taking place 
between the close of the reporting period and the date of the Audit and Standards 
Committee meeting will be reported verbally at that meeting.

Meeting date Reporting period for transactions 
16 July 2019 1 March to 30 June 2019
23 September 2019 1 July to 31 August 2019
18 November 2019 1 September to 31 October 2019
20 January 2020 1 November to 31 December 2019
17 March 2020 1 January to 29 February 2020

2.2Fixed Term Deposits pending maturity

The following table shows the fixed term deposits held at 30 June 2019 and 
identifies the long-term credit rating of counterparties at the date of investment. It is 
important to note that credit ratings are only one of the criteria that are taken into 
account when determining whether a potential counterparty is suitable. All of the 
deposits met the necessary criteria the minimum rating required for deposits made 
after 1 April 2018 is long term A- (Fitch). 

Ref Counterparty
Date
From

Date
To Days

Principal
£

Int 
Rate
%

Long-
term
Rating

243419 Thurrock Borough Council 14 Jun 19 16 Mar 20 276 3,000,000 0.88 *
*UK Government body and therefore not subject to credit rating

2.3Fixed Term Deposits which have matured in the reporting period

The table below shows the fixed term deposits which have matured since 1 March 
2019, in maturity date order. It is important to note that the table includes sums 
reinvested and that in total the Council’s investments have not increased by £32m 
over this period. 

Ref Counterparty
Date
From

Date
To Days

Principal
£

Int. 
Rate
%

Long-
term
rating

242018
243018

Eastbourne Borough Council
Eastbourne Borough Council

03-Dec-18
01-Mar-19

01-Mar-19
13-Mar-19

88
12

3,000,000
3,000,000

0.75
0.65

*
*

Page 68



Ref Counterparty
Date
From

Date
To Days

Principal
£

Int. 
Rate
%

Long-
term
rating

240618
240618
243119
243219
241418
241418
243319
243519

Thurrock Borough Council
Thurrock Borough Council
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Thurrock Borough Council
Thurrock Borough Council
Debt Management Office
Derbyshire County Council

02-Oct-18
02-Oct-18
02-Apr-19

01-May-19
14-Nov-18
14-Nov-18
13-May-19
14-May-19

02-Apr-19
02-Apr-19
11-Apr-19

13-May-19
14-May-19
14-May-19
22-May-19
14-Jun-19

182
182

9
12

181
181

9
31

2,500,000
2,500,000
4,000,000
5,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000

0.90
0.90
0.50
0.50
0.90
0.90
0.50
0.57

*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

Total 32,000,000
*UK Government body and therefore not subject to credit rating

At no stage did the total amount held by any counterparty exceed the approved limit 
set out in the Investment Strategy. The average rate of interest earned on deposits 
held in the period 1 March and 30 June 2019 was 0.72%, slightly below the average 
bank base rate for the period of 0.75%. Those made during the period averaged 
0.61%.

2.4Use of Deposit accounts

In addition to the fixed term deposits, the Council has made use of the following 
interest bearing accounts in the period covered by this report, with the average 
amount held being £3.328m generating interest of approximately £3,300.

Balance at
30 June ‘19
£’000

Average 
balance 
£’000

Current
interest 
rate %

Santander Business Reserve Account £2,000 1,374 0.65
Lloyds Bank Corporate Account £2,517 1,955 0.65

2.5Use of Money Market Funds

Details of the amounts held in the two Money Market Fund (MMF) accounts used by 
the Council are shown below. The approved Investment Strategy allows a maximum 
investment of £3m in each fund, and at no time was this limit exceeded. 

Balance at
30 June ‘19
£’000

Average 
balance 
£’000

Average
return %

Goldman Sachs Sterling Liquid Reserves Fund £1,000 1,562 0.86
Deutsche Managed Sterling Fund £1,500 1,779 0.82

2.6Treasury Bills (T-Bills)

There were no Treasury Bills held at 30 June 2019, and there was no activity in the 
period. 

2.7Secured Investments 

There were no Secured Investments at 30 June 2019. 

Page 69



2.8Tradeable Investments

There were no Tradeable Investments at 30 June, and there was no activity in the 
period.  

2.9Overall investment position

The chart below summarises the Council’s investment position over the period 1 
March to 30 June 2019. It shows the total sums invested each day as Fixed Term 
deposits, Treasury Bills, amounts held in Deposit accounts, Money Market Funds 
and Tradeable Investments.

2.10 Borrowing

The current account with Lloyds Bank remained in credit throughout the period. No 
temporary borrowing for cash-flow management purposes took place.  

There has been no change in the total value of the Council’s long term borrowing in 
the reporting period, which remains at £56.673m.

3 Non-treasury investments

3.1At its previous meeting, the Audit and Standards Committee requested that 
information should be included in this report about the Council’s ‘non-treasury’ 
investment activity e.g. loans to Council-owned companies or the purchase of 
property assets for the purpose of income generation.

Page 70



3.2 Lewes Housing Investment Company 

3.2.1 Lewes Housing Investment Company (LHIC) is a wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Council. Incorporated in July 2017, LHIC has been set up to acquire, 
improve and let residential property at market rents. Although the 2018/19 
Capital programme included £2.5m as potential commercial loan funding to 
facilitate property purchases, this facility was not drawn down and has rolled 
forward into 2019/20. No payments were made to, or monies received from, 
LHIC during 2018/19 and no amounts were owing to, or owed by, LHIC at 
the end of the year. There have been no transactions during the period 1 
March 2019 to 30 June 2019.

3.3 Aspiration Homes LLP

3.3.1 Aspiration Homes LLP (AH) is a limited liability Partnership owned equally 
by Lewes District Council and Eastbourne Borough Council. Incorporated in 
June 2017, AH has been set up for the purpose of developing housing to be 
let at affordable rent. Although the 2018/19 Capital programme included 
£17.5m as potential commercial loan funding to AH to facilitate property 
purchases, this facility was not drawn down and has rolled forward into 
2019/20. During the period 1 March 2019 to 30 June 2019, £121,300 was 
drawn down for the purchase of Gray’s School, Newhaven.

3.3.2 A working Capital facility loan of £100,000 has been agreed, at an interest 
rate of 2% above Base Rate. As at 31 March 2019 £10,000 of the working 
Capital facility loan had been drawn down. During the period 1 March 2019 
to 30 June 2019, a further £35,000 has been drawn down against the loan 
facility.

4 Annual Treasury Management Report

4.1As well as reviewing details of Treasury transactions during the course of the year, 
the Audit and Standards Committee is required to review a formal summary report 
after the year end before it is considered by Council in accordance with best 
practice and guidance issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy. 

4.2The Annual Report is attached at Appendix 1. It should be noted that this report 
has been drafted prior to the final closure of the Council’s accounts and, as a 
result, some minor changes may be necessary. If so, the changes will be reported 
verbally at the meeting. 

Financial Implications

5 All relevant implications are referred to in the above paragraphs.

Page 71



Risk Management Implications

6 The risk management implication associated with this activity is explained in the 
approved Treasury Management Strategy. No additional implications have 
arisen during the period covered by this report.

Equality Screening

7 This is a routine report for which detailed Equality Analysis is not required to be 
undertaken.

Sustainability implications

8 No implications arising directly from this report. However, the issue of climate 
change had been raised at the previous meeting of the Audit and Standards 
Committee, and although the Council had no direct investments with a climate 
change risk (for example fossil fuel companies) a watching brief would be 
maintained as there was a potential for very marginal indirect investments to 
be made in these areas.

Legal implications

9 None arising directly from this report.

Appendix 

Appendix 1: Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019

Appendix 2: Audit and Standards Committee 16th July 2019 Minutes Extract

Background Papers

Treasury Strategy Statements 2018/2019 and 2019/2020

Page 72



APPENDIX 1

Lewes District Council

Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019

Contents

1. Background .....................................................................................................1

2. Overall Summary of Activity 2018/2019 ........................................................1

3. Detailed Analysis – Borrowing ......................................................................2

4. Detailed Analysis - Investments ....................................................................5

5. Compliance with Prudential Indicators .........................................................7

6. Investment Consultants..................................................................................7

7. Reporting and Training...................................................................................8

8. Local Authority Regulatory Changes instigated in 2018/2019....................8

Appendix A – Prudential Indicators 2017/2018..................................................11

Appendix B – Economic Background explained by Arlingclose .....................16

Appendix C – List of Investments made and/or maturing in 2018/2019..........18

Glossary of Terms ................................................................................................20

Page 73



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 1

1. Background

1.1 The Council is required through regulations issued under the Local 
Government Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury management report. 
The report must review treasury management activities and set out the final 
position of the Council’s Treasury Prudential Indicators. This report meets the 
requirements of both the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the 
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities.

1.2 The Council defines its Treasury Management activities as:

“the management of the Council’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated 
with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those 
risks.”

1.3 The Council agreed its Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
Investment Strategy 2018/2019 to 2020/2021 at its meeting in February 2018.

2. Overall Summary of Activity 2018/2019

2.1 The table below lists the key elements of the 2018/2019 Strategy and records 
actual performance against each one of them.

Key Element Target in Strategy Actual Performance

Borrowing
Underlying need to borrow (CFR) 
at year end

£109.930 million £82.030 million -

Internal borrowing at year end £20.206 million £35.357 million -
New external long-term borrowing 
in year

None anticipated None undertaken 

Debt rescheduling in year Review options but not 
anticipated

Options kept
under review, none 
undertaken



Interest payments on 
external borrowing

£1.722 million £1.743 million 

Investments

Minimum counterparty credit 
ratings for unsecured investments

Long-term BBB+- (does 
not apply to 
Government and other 
local authorities which 
have the highest 
ratings)

At least Long-term A 

Interest receipts from 
external investments

£0.100m £0.150m 

Appointment of Investment Consultants

Independent Treasury Adviser to 
be retained

Arlingclose to be 
retained as
Treasury Adviser

Arlingclose 
retained as
Treasury Adviser



Page 74



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 2

Key Element Target in Strategy
Actual 
Performance

Reporting and Training
Reports to be made to Audit and 
Standards Committee and
Cabinet

Every regular meeting Every 
regular 
meeting.



Briefing sessions for Councillors 
and Staff

Treasury Adviser to provide Staff training 
September 2018

-

2.2 The remainder of this report explores each of the key elements in more 
depth. Appendix A gives details of the final position on each of the Prudential 
Indicators, and Appendix B explores the Economic Background to the year’s 
activity. A glossary appears at the end of the document to explain technical 
terms which could not be avoided when writing this report.

3. Detailed Analysis – Borrowing

3.1 Other than for temporary cash flow purposes, local authorities are only 
allowed to borrow to finance capital expenditure (e.g. the purchase of 
property, vehicles or equipment which will last for more than one year, or the 
improvement of such assets). Prior to 2018/19, the Government limited the 
amount of borrowing by local authorities for housing purposes by specifying 
‘debt caps’. The Council’s underlying debt cap was fixed at £72.931m. In 
2014/2015 local authorities were able to bid for an increase in the housing 
debt cap in order to enable specific projects. A bid from the Council was 
successful and the debt cap was increased to £75.248m to match 
expenditure incurred in building new houses on specified former garage 
sites. The Government removed the ‘debt cap’ during 2018/19, which 
enables the Council to further invest in the provision of new social housing.

3.2 In accounting terms, the underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is 
measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) while usable reserves 
and working capital are the underlying resources available for investment.

3.3 The CFR is, in simple terms, the amount of capital expenditure which has 
been incurred by the Council but which has not yet been paid for (by using, 
for example, grants, capital receipts, reserves or revenue income) and in the 
meantime is covered by internal or external borrowing. ‘External borrowing’ is 
where loans are raised from the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) or banks. 
Alternatively it is possible to ‘internally borrow’ the significant levels of cash 
which has been set aside in Balances and Reserves and which would 
otherwise need to be invested with banks or other counterparties.

3.4 As noted above, the level of CFR increases each year by the amount of 
unfinanced capital expenditure and is reduced by the amount that the Council 
sets aside for the repayment of borrowing. The original CFR projection for 
2018/2019, the revised position reported at the time of producing the 
Treasury Strategy 2019/2020 (February 2019) and the final position for the 
year are shown in the table below. The variation between the revised and

Page 75



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 3

final position reflects the changing profile of capital spend across financial 
years, particularly allocations in the capital programme in respect of  
facilitating loans to Lewes Housing investment Company, which was not 
called on in 2018/19, and a loan to Aspiration Homes LLP, which was called 
on in 2018/2019 to the extent of £10k.

3.5 The overall CFR can be split between the General Fund and the Housing 
Revenue Account as follows:

2018/19 2018/19
Revised Outturn

CFR Component £m £m
General Fund 65.560 16.270
Housing Revenue Account 67.519 65.760
Total 133.079 82.030

3.6 The following table compares the CFR with the amount that the Council 
holds in balances and reserves as well as working capital (day to day cash 
movements as well as grants, developer contributions and capital receipts 
held, pending their use).

31/3/19
Revised

£m

31/3/19
Outturn

£m
(a) Capital Financing Requirement 133.079 82.030
(b) Actual external long-term borrowing (56.673) (56.673)
(c) Borrowing required in year (56.200) -
(d) Use of Balances and Reserves and working 
capital as alternative to borrowing (a)–(b)-(c) 20.206 25.357

2018/19
Original

2018/19
Revised

2018/19
Outturn

£m £m £m
Opening CFR 86.482 77.210 77.210
Capital expenditure in year 32.407 71.585 15.010
Less financed (7.508) (15.400) (9.874)
Less amount set aside for debt 
repayment

(1.451) (0.316) (0.316)

Closing CFR 109.930 133.079 82.030

Page 76



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 4

3.7 The Council’s long-term loan portfolio at 31 March 2019 was:

3.8 In the table above the Barclays loan was taken out in April 2004 with a term 
of 50 years. In June 2016 the bank decided to permanently waive its 
contractual right to vary the interest rate on this loan, which was effectively 
fixed at the rate of interest applicable at that time, 4.5%.

3.9 Total interest paid on external long-term borrowing in the year was 
£1.743m, which was consistent with the revised budget for the year. No 
new long-term borrowing was undertaken. The Council remained eligible to 
access the Government’s ‘Certainty Rate’ allowing the Council to borrow, 
had it been appropriate to do so, at a reduction of 0.2% on the Standard 
Rate.

3.10 Through the year, officers, supported by Arlingclose, monitored 
opportunities for the rescheduling of external loans and the possibility of 
repayment utilising cash balances that would otherwise be invested. No 
beneficial rescheduling opportunities were identified and the loan portfolio 
remained unchanged through the year.

3.11 As determined by the Council, two separate Loans Pools operated in 
2018/2019, for the General Fund and HRA respectively. At 31 March 2019 
the balance on internal loans from the General Fund to the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) was £8.795m, an increase of £0.601m compared 
with the previous year, which comprised new lending as funding for the 
construction of new homes. Interest was charged on internal borrowing at 
1.67% (equivalent to a one-year maturity loan from the PWLB at the start of 
the financial year).

3.12 No temporary borrowing was undertaken during the course of the financial 
year and consequently, there were no temporary loans outstanding at 31 
March 2019.

Lender Interest Amount £m Rate % Maturity
PWLB Fixed 4.000 2.70 01-03-2024
PWLB Fixed 5.000 3.30 01-03-2032
PWLB Fixed 2.000 3.05 01-09-2027
PWLB Fixed 2.000 2.76 01-09-2024
PWLB Fixed 4.000 2.97 01-09-2026
PWLB Fixed 5.000 3.28 01-09-2031
PWLB Fixed 4.000 2.63 01-09-2023
PWLB Fixed 5.000 3.44 01-03-2037
PWLB Fixed 6.673 3.50 01-03-2042
PWLB Fixed 5.000 3.43 01-09-2036
PWLB Variable 5.000 0.92 28-03-2022
PWLB Fixed 4.000 3.01 01-03-2027

  Sub-total 51,673

Barclays Fixed 5.000 4.50 06-04-2054
Sub-total 5.000
Total 56.673 

Page 77



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 5

4. Detailed Analysis - Investments

4.1 The Council held an average of £18.7m as cash during the year. This 
comprised working cash balances, capital receipts, earmarked reserves and 
developer contributions held pending their use.

4.2 The Council’s general policy objective is to invest its surplus funds prudently. 
Throughout 2018/2019, the Council’s investment priorities continued to be:

Highest priority - Security of the invested capital;
Followed by - Liquidity of the invested capital;
Finally - An optimum yield commensurate with security and liquidity.

4.3 All of the Council’s investments were managed in-house. Security of capital 
was maintained by following the counterparty policy set out in the Investment 
Strategy for 2018/2019. Investments made during the year included:

 Fixed Term Deposits with the Debt Management Office (DMO) (a total of 
£73 million – 27 occasions);

 Fixed Term Deposits with other Local Authorities (a total of £27.524 million 
– 11 occasions);

 Fixed Term Deposits with UK Banks and Building Societies (a total of £1 
million – 1 occasion);

 Investments in Money Market Funds (MMFs) (average daily balance held in 
year £2.303 million);

 United Kingdom Treasury Bills (a total of £14 million – 14 occasions);

 Tradable Investments - Floating Rate Notes, Certificates of Deposit, Bonds 
(a total of £3.65 million – 4 occasions);

 Deposit accounts with UK Banks (average daily balance held in year 
£1.222 million);

 Deposit accounts with UK Building Societies (average daily balance held in 
year £1.374 million);

 Overnight deposits with the Council’s banker, Lloyds Bank (average daily 
balance held in year £1.245 million).

4.4 Counterparty credit quality was assessed and monitored with reference to 
credit ratings (a minimum long-term counterparty rating of BBB+ across all 
three rating agencies Fitch, Standard and Poor’s, and Moody’s applied); credit 
default swaps; GDP of the country in which the institution operates; the 
country’s net debt as a percentage of GDP; any potential support mechanisms 
and share price.

Page 78



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 6

4.5 In keeping with Government guidance on investments, the Council maintained 
a sufficient level of liquidity through the use of Money Market Funds (MMF), 
overnight deposits and deposit accounts, the average daily balance held 
being £7.255 million.

4.6 A full list of investments (excluding deposit account or MMF transactions) 
made or maturing in the year is given at Appendix C. All investments were 
made with UK institutions, and no new deposits were made for periods in 
excess of one year. The first chart below gives an analysis of aggregate fixed 
term deposits by duration. The second chart shows how the total amount 
invested varied from day to day over the course of the year, from a low of 
£7.3m to a high of £31.1m. The movement largely reflects the cycle of grant, 
council tax and business rate receipts and precept payments made.

Page 79



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 7

4.7 The income return generated from investments in the year was £0.150 million, 
above the total budget for investment income of £0.100 million. This position 
arose as a result of the requirement to re-profile major projects within the 
approved capital programme, ensuring an increase in the short-term 
availability of additional cash for investment.

4.8 The average rate of return from investments at the end of each quarter in 
2018/2019 is shown in the table below, along with comparative benchmark 
information, the 7-day LIBID rate.

Average rate of investments in:
Lewes 
District 
Council

7 day 
LIBID

Quarter 1 ending 30 June 2018 0.57% 0.36%
Quarter 2 ending 30 September 2018 0.84% 0.51%
Quarter 3 ending 31 December 2018 0.43% 0.58%
Quarter 4 ending 31 March 2019 0.38% 0.57%
Whole year 2018/2019 0.83% 0.51%

5. Compliance with Prudential Indicators

The Council can confirm that it has complied with its Prudential Indicators for 
2018/2019. A detailed review of each of the Prudential Indicators is at 
Appendix A.

Page 80



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 8

6. Investment Consultants

6.1 The Council appointed Arlingclose as its Treasury Adviser in 2012 following 
an open procurement. The agreement with Arlingclose was for an initial four- 
year term expiring on 30 June 2016, with the Council having the option to 
extend for a further year.

6.2 The Council exercised the option to extend the agreement to the end of June 
2017 and following discussion with Arlingclose opted to maintain the 
appointment for a further year. A further year’s extension is anticipated prior to 
a formal review of arrangements in conjunction with Eastbourne Borough 
Council, given that a shared finance team (with treasury management 
responsibility) is being established.

7. Reporting and Training

7.1 The Deputy Chief Executive and, subsequently, the new Chief Finance Officer 
reported the details of treasury management activity to each regular meeting 
of the Audit and Standards Committee and Cabinet held in 2018/2019. A mid-
term summary report was issued in November 2018.

7.2 The training needs of the Council’s treasury management staff were reviewed 
as part of the annual corporate staff appraisal/training needs assessment 
process for all Council employees. Members of staff attended, where 
appropriate, Arlingclose workshops alongside colleagues from other local 
authorities during 2018/2019.

7.3 In 2018/19, Arlingclose met with Council officers with a role in treasury 
management both to explain developments within the sector, as well as 
review the Council’s own investment and debt portfolios.

7.4 The Treasury Strategy had anticipated that Arlingclose would hold a local 
briefing session for all councillors tasked with treasury management 
responsibility, including scrutiny of the treasury management function. It did 
not prove practicable for this session to take place. Following the election in 
May 2019 of a significant number of new councillors, the next councillor 
briefing session is now expected to take place in autumn 2019.

8. Local Authority Regulatory Changes instigated in 2018/2019

8.1 Revised CIPFA Codes:

i. CIPFA published revised editions of the Treasury Management and 
Prudential Codes in December 2017. The timing precluded adoption of 
the required changes from the 2011 Code in the 2018/2019 Treasury 
Management Strategy which had already been drafted. Where relevant, 
the changes were incorporated into the 2018/2019 monitoring reports. All 
changes were fully implemented in the 2019/2020 Treasury Management 
Strategy.

ii. The 2017 Prudential Code introduced the requirement for a Capital 
Strategy which provides a high-level overview of the long-term context of 
capital expenditure and investment decisions and their associated risks 
and rewards along with an overview of how risk is managed for future 

Page 81



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 9

financial sustainability. Where the strategy is produced and approved by 
full Council, the determination of the Treasury Management Strategy can 
be delegated to a committee. The Code also expands on the process and 
governance issues of capital expenditure and investment decisions. 
CIPFA recognised that authorities may require a lead-in period to create a 
Capital Strategy and that this requirement may not be able to be fully 
implemented until 2019/2020: this Council has adopted that timescale.

iii. In the 2017 Treasury Management Code the definition of ‘investments’ 
was widened to include financial assets as well as non-financial assets 
held primarily for financial returns such as investment property. These, 
along with other investments made for non-treasury management 
purposes such as loans supporting service outcomes and investments in 
subsidiaries, must be discussed in the Capital Strategy or Investment 
Strategy. Additional risks of such investments are to be set out clearly and 
the impact on financial sustainability is be identified and reported.

8.2 MHCLG Investment Guidance and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP):

i. In February 2018 the MHCLG (Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government) published revised Guidance on Local Government 
and Investments and Statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP).

ii. Changes to the Investment Guidance include a wider definition of 
investments to include non-financial assets held primarily for generating 
income return and a new category called ‘loans’ (e.g. temporary transfer 
of cash to a third party, joint venture, subsidiary or associate). The 
Guidance introduces the concept of proportionality, proposes additional 
disclosure for borrowing solely to invest and also specifies additional 
indicators. Investment strategies must detail the extent to which service 
delivery objectives are reliant on investment income and a contingency 
plan should yields on investments fall.

iii. The definition of prudent MRP was changed to ‘put aside revenue over 
time to cover the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR); it cannot be a 
negative charge and can only be zero if the CFR is nil or negative. 
Guidance on asset lives has been updated, applying to any calculation 
using asset lives. Any change in MRP policy cannot create an 
overpayment; the new policy must be applied to the outstanding CFR 
going forward only.

8.3 MiFID II:

i. As a result of the second Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 
(MiFID II), from 3rd January 2018 local authorities were automatically 
treated as retail clients but could ‘opt up’ to professional client status, 
providing certain criteria was met which includes having an investment 
balance of at least £10 million and the person(s) authorised to make 
investment decisions on behalf of the authority have at least a year’s 
relevant professional experience. In addition, the regulated financial 
services firms to whom this directive applies have had to assess that that 
person(s) have the expertise, experience and knowledge to make 

Page 82



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 10

investment decisions and understand the risks involved.

ii. The Council has met the conditions to opt up to professional status and 
has done so in order to maintain its professional client status. The Council 
will continue to have access to products including money market funds, 
pooled funds, treasury bills, bonds, shares and to financial advice.

Page 83



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 11

Appendix A – Prudential Indicators 2018/2019

1. Background:

There is a requirement under the Local Government Act 2003 for local 
authorities to have regard to CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities (the “CIPFA Prudential Code”) when setting and reviewing 
their Prudential Indicators. Some of the Prudential Indicators relate directly to 
the Council’s Capital Programme. These Indicators are also included below 
for completeness of reporting.

2. Net Borrowing and the Capital Financing Requirement

2.1 This is a key indicator of prudence. In order to ensure that over the medium 
term net borrowing will only be for a capital purpose, the local authority 
should ensure that the net external borrowing does not, except in the short 
term, exceed the total of capital financing requirement in the preceding year 
plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the 
current and next two financial years.

2.2 The Chief Finance Officer reports that the Council has had no difficulty 
meeting this requirement in 2018/2019, nor are there any difficulties 
envisaged for future years. This view takes into account current 
commitments, existing plans and the proposals in the budget for 2019/2020.

3. Estimates of Capital Expenditure (direct link to Capital Programme)

This indicator is set to ensure that the level of proposed capital expenditure 
remains within sustainable limits and, in particular, to consider the impact on 
Council Tax and in the case of the HRA, housing rent levels.

No. Capital Expenditure

2018/19
Original

£m

2018/19
Revised

£m

2018/19
Actual

£m
1a Non-HRA 26.913 62.319 9.436
1b HRA 5.494 9.266 5.574

Total 32.407 71.585 15.010

4. Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream (direct link to Capital 
Programme)

4.1 This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of 
existing and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the 
revenue budget required to meet borrowing costs.

4.2 The ratio is based on costs net of investment income. Where investment 
income exceeds interest payments, the indicator is negative.

Page 84



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 12

No.
Ratio of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream

2018/19
Original

%

2018/19
Revised

%

2018/19
Actual

%
2a Non-HRA 1.47 1.47 1.30
2b HRA 15.82 15.82 11.28

5. Capital Financing Requirement

5.1 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) measures the Council’s underlying 
need to borrow for a capital purpose. The calculation of the CFR is taken 
from the amounts held in the Balance Sheet relating to capital expenditure 
and it’s financing. The amounts shown are as at 31 March.

No Capital Financing Requirement

2018/19
Original

£m

2018/19
Revised

£m

2018/19
Actual

£m
3a Non-HRA 43.951 65.560 16.270
3b HRA 65.979 67.519 65.760

Total CFR 109.930 133.079 82.030

5.2 The year-on-year change in the CFR is set out below.

Capital Financing Requirement

2018/19
Original

£m

2018/19
Revised

£m

2018/19
Actual

£m
Balance B/F 86.482 77.210 77.210
Capital expenditure financed from borrowing 24.899 56.185 5.136
Revenue provision for Debt Redemption. (1.451) (0.316) (0.316)
Balance C/F 109.930 133.079 82.030

6. Actual External Debt

This indicator is obtained directly from the Council’s balance sheet. It is the 
closing balance for actual gross borrowing plus other long-term liabilities. The 
Indicator is measured in a manner consistent for comparison with the 
Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit (see 8 below).

No. Actual External Debt as at 31/03/2019 Revised
£m

Actual
£m

4a Borrowing 112.858 56.673
4b Other Long-term Liabilities 0.392 0.704
4c Total 113.250 57.377

7. Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions Stream (direct link 
to Capital Programme)

This is an indicator of affordability that shows the impact of capital investment 
decisions on Council Tax and Housing Rent levels. The incremental impact is 
calculated by comparing the total revenue budget requirement of the current 
approved Capital Programme with an equivalent calculation of the revenue 
budget requirement arising from the proposed Capital Programme.

Page 85



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 13

No.
Incremental Impact of Capital Investment 
Decisions

2018/19
Original

£m

2018/19
Revised

£m

2018/19
Actual

£m
5a Increase in Band D Council Tax 47.96 47.96 59.97

5b Increase in Average Weekly Housing Rents 0.82 0.82 4.22

The increase in Band D council tax/average weekly rents reflects the funding 
of the capital programme: for example, new borrowing increases interest 
payable, and funding from reserves utilises resources which could have 
otherwise been used to fund revenue expenditure. The actual indicators are 
less than the revised as a result of significant capital projects being deferred 
from 2018/2019 into 2019/2020.

8. Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt

8.1 The Council has an integrated treasury management strategy and manages 
its treasury position in accordance with its approved strategy and practice. 
Overall borrowing will therefore arise as a consequence of all the financial 
transactions of the Council and not just those arising from capital spending 
reflected in the CFR.

8.2 The Authorised Limit sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a 
gross basis (i.e. not net of investments) for the Council. It is measured on a 
daily basis against all external borrowing items on the Balance Sheet (i.e. 
long and short term borrowing, overdrawn bank balances and long term 
liabilities). This Prudential Indicator separately identifies borrowing from other 
long term liabilities such as finance leases.

8.3 The Authorised Limit has been set on the estimate of the most likely, prudent 
but not worst case scenario with sufficient headroom over and above this to 
allow for unusual cash movements.

8.4 The Authorised Limit is the statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of 
the Local Government Act 2003 (referred to in the legislation as the 
Affordable Limit). The 2018/2019 Actual values shown below are the 
maximum levels of borrowing, including temporary borrowing, experienced at 
any time during the year.

No. Authorised Limit for External Debt

2018/19
Original

£m

2018/19
Revised

£m

2018/19
Actual

£m
6a Borrowing 106.500 121.300 63.67
6b Other Long-term Liabilities 0.532 0.392 0.704
6c Total 107.032 121.692 57.004

8.5 The Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s estimates of the 
CFR and estimates of other cash flow requirements. This indicator is based 
on the same estimates as the Authorised Limit reflecting the most likely, 
prudent but not worst case scenario but without the additional headroom included 
within the Authorised Limit.

Page 86



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 14

8.6 The Chief Finance Officer has delegated authority, within the total limit for 
any individual year, to effect movement between the separately agreed limits 
for borrowing and other long-term liabilities. Decisions will be based on the 
outcome of financial option appraisals and best value considerations. Any 
movement between these separate limits will be reported to the next meeting 
of the Cabinet. The 2018/2019 Actual values shown below are the maximum 
levels of borrowing, including temporary borrowing, experienced at any time 
during the year.

No. Operational Boundary for External Debt
2018/19
Original

£m

2018/19
Revised

£m

2018/19
Actual

£m
7a Borrowing 111.500 111.300 56.300
7b Other Long-term Liabilities 0.532 0.392 0.704
7c Total 112.032 111.692 57.004

9. Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code

This indicator demonstrates that the Council has adopted best practice.

No. Adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury Management
8 The Council approved the adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code in 

2002. Following revisions to the Code published in December 2009, reconfirmed its 
adoption of the Code in February 2010.

10. Upper Limits for Fixed Interest Rate Exposure and Variable Interest Rate 
Exposure

10.1 These indicators allow the Council to manage the extent to which it is 
exposed to changes in interest rates. This Council calculates these limits on 
net principal outstanding sums i.e. fixed rate debt net of fixed rate 
investments.

10.2 The upper limit for variable rate exposure has been set to ensure that the 
Council is not exposed to interest rate rises which could adversely impact on 
the revenue budget.

No.

2018/19
Original

£m

2018/19
Revised

£m

2018/19
Actual

£m

9
Upper Limit for Fixed Interest Rate
 Exposure 110.0 110.0 100.0

10
Upper Limit for Variable Interest
Rate Exposure (27.5) (27.5) (27.5)

10.3 The limits above provide the necessary flexibility within which decisions will 
be made for drawing down new loans on a fixed or variable rate basis; the 
decisions will ultimately be determined by expectations of anticipated interest 
rate movements as set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.

10.4 Because the Council’s investments are substantially in excess of its variable 
rate borrowing, the Upper Limit for Variable Interest Rate exposure is shown 
as a negative figure.

Page 87



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 15

11. Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate borrowing

11.1 This indicator highlights the existence of any large concentrations of fixed 
rate debt needing to be replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates 
and is designed to protect against excessive exposures to interest rate 
changes in any one period, in particular in the course of the next ten years.

11.2 It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate 
maturing in each period as a percentage of total projected borrowing that is 
fixed rate. The maturity of borrowing is determined by reference to the 
earliest date on which the lender can require payment.

No. Maturity structure of fixed rate
borrowing

Lower Limit
%

Upper Limit
%

Actual
%

11a under 12 months 0 75 0
11b 12 months and within 24 months 0 75 0
11c 24 months and within 5 years 0 75 0
11d 5 years and within 10 years 0 100 44
11e 10 years and above 0 100 56

12. Upper Limit for total principal sums invested over 364 days

The purpose of this limit is to contain exposure to the possibility of loss that 
may arise as a result of the Council having to seek early repayment of the 
sums invested. No investments of more than 364 days were made during 
2018/19.

No. Upper Limit for total principal 
sums invested over 364 days

2018/19
Original

%

2018/19
Revised

£m

2018/19
Actual

£m
12 Upper limit 50 2 -

13. HRA Limit on Indebtedness

The indicator is associated with self-financing for housing. It indicates the 
residual capacity to borrow for housing purposes, while remaining within the 
overall HRA ‘Debt Cap’ specified by the Government.  The Government 
removed the ‘debt cap’ during 2018/19. The Council has retained the 
indicator 2018/19 for reporting to show the position if the ‘debt cap’ had 
remained in place.

No Capital Financing Requirement

2018/19
Original

£m

2018/19
Revised

£m

2018/19
Actual

£m
13a HRA CFR 65.979 67.519 65.760
13b HRA Debt Cap 75.248 75.248 75.248

Difference 9.269 7.729 9.488

Page 88



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 16

Appendix B – Economic Background explained by Arlingclose

Economic background: After spiking at over $85/barrel in October 2018, oil prices fell 
back sharply by the end of the year, declining to just over $50 in late December 
before steadily climbing toward $70 in April 2019. UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) 
for February 2019 was up 1.9% year/year, just above the consensus forecast but 
broadly in line with the Bank of England’s February Inflation Report. The most recent 
labour market data for the three months to January 2019 showed the unemployment 
rate fell to a new low 3.9% while the employment rate of 76.1% was the highest on 
record. The 3-month average annual growth rate for pay excluding bonuses was 
3.4% as wages continue to rise steadily and provide some upward pressure on 
general inflation. Once adjusted for inflation, real wages were up 1.4%.

After rising to 0.6% in the third calendar quarter from 0.4% in the second, fourth 
quarter economic growth slowed to 0.2% as weaker expansion in production, 
construction and services dragged on overall activity. Annual GDP growth at 1.4% 
continues to remain below trend. Following the Bank of England’s decision to 
increase Bank Rate to 0.75% in August, no changes to monetary policy have been 
made since.

The US Federal Reserve continued its tightening bias throughout 2018, pushing 
rates to the 2.25%-2.50% range in December. However, a recent softening in US 
data caused the Fed to signal a pause in hiking interest rates at the last Federal 
Open Market Committee (FOMC) meeting in March.

With the 29th March 2019, the original EU ‘exit day’ now been and gone, having 
failed to pass a number of meaningful votes in Parliament, including shooting down 
Theresa May’s deal for the third time, MPs voted by a majority of one (313 to 312) to 
force the prime minister to ask for an extension to the Brexit process beyond 12th 
April in order to avoid a no-deal scenario. Recent talks between the Conservative and 
Labour parties to try to reach common ground on a deal which may pass a vote by 
MPs have yet to yield any positive results. The EU must grant any extension and its 
leaders have been clear that the terms of the deal are not up for further negotiation.  
The ongoing uncertainty continues to weigh on sterling and UK markets.

While the domestic focus has been on Brexit’s potential impact on the UK economy, 
globally the first quarter of 2019 has been overshadowed by a gathering level of 
broader based economic uncertainty. The US continues to be set on a path of 
protectionist trade policies and tensions with China in particular, but with the potential 
for this to spill over into wider trade relationships, most notably with EU. The EU itself 
appeared to be showing signs of a rapid slowdown in economic growth with the major 
engines of its economy, Germany and France, both suffering misfires from downturns 
in manufacturing alongside continued domestic/populist unrest in France. The 
International Monetary Fund downgraded its forecasts for global economic growth in 
2019 and beyond as a consequence.

Financial markets: December was a month to forget in terms of performance of riskier 
asset classes, most notably equities. The FTSE 100 (a good indicator of global 
corporate sentiment) returned -8.8% assuming dividends were reinvested; in pure 
price terms it fell around 13%. However, since the beginning of 2019 markets have 
rallied, and the FTSE 100 and FTSE All share indices were both around 10% higher 
than at the end of 2018.

Page 89



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 17

Gilt yields continued to display significant volatility over the period on the back of 
ongoing economic and political uncertainty in the UK and Europe.  After rising in 
October, gilts regained their safe-haven status throughout December and into the 
new year - the 5-year benchmark gilt yield fell as low as 0.80% and there were similar 
falls in the 10-year and 20-year gilts over the same period dropping from 1.73% to 
1.08% and from 1.90% to 1.55%.The increase in Bank Rate pushed up money 
markets rates over the year and 1-month, 3-month and 12-month LIBID (London 
Interbank Bid) rates averaged 0.53%, 0.67% and 0.94% respectively over the period.

Recent activity in the bond markets and PWLB interest rates highlight that weaker 
economic growth is not just a UK phenomenon but a global risk. During March the 
US yield curve inverted (10-year Treasury yields were lower than US 3 month money 
market rates) and German 10-year Bund yields turned negative. The drivers are a 
significant shift in global economic growth prospects and subsequent official interest 
rate expectations given its impact on inflation expectations. Further to this is world 
trade growth which collapsed at the end of 2018 falling by 1.8% year-on-year. A large 
proportion of this downturn in trade can be ascribed to the ongoing trade tensions 
between the US and China which despite some moderation in January does suggest 
that the International Monetary Fund’s (IMF) and Organisation for Economic Co-
Operation & Development’s (OECD) forecasts for global growth in 2019 of 3.5% 
might need to be revised downwards.

Credit background: Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads drifted up towards the end of 
2018 on the back of Brexit uncertainty before declining again in 2019 and continuing 
to remain low in historical terms. After hitting around 129 basis points in December 
2018, the spread on non-ring-fenced bank NatWest Markets plc fell back to around 
96bps at the end of March, while for the ring-fenced entity, National Westminster 
Bank plc, the CDS spread held relatively steady around 40bps. The other main UK 
banks, as yet not separated into ring-fenced and non-ring-fenced from a CDS 
perspective, traded between 33 and 79bps at the end of the period.

The ring-fencing of the big four UK banks (Barclays, Bank of Scotland/Lloyds, HSBC 
and RBS/NatWest Bank plc) transferred their business lines into retail (ring-fenced) 
and investment banking (non-ring-fenced) entities.

In February, Fitch put the UK AA sovereign long-term rating on Rating Watch 
Negative as a result of Brexit uncertainty, following this move with the same 
treatment for UK banks and a number of government-related entities.

There were minimal other credit rating changes during the period. Moody’s revised 
the outlook on Santander UK to positive from stable to reflect the bank’s expected 
issuance plans which will provide additional protection for the senior unsecured debt 
and deposits.

Page 90



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 18

Appendix C – List of Investments made and/or maturing in 2018/2019

  Counterparty Principal
 £ From / To Interest/Return 

£

Term Deposits
15-Dec-1817
12-Feb-18
10-May-18
14-May-18
15-May-18
29-May-18
01-Jun-18
11-Jun-18
12-Jun-18
02-Jul-18
18-Jul-18
27-Jul-18

01-Aug-18
10-Sep-18
02-Oct-18
01-Oct-18
01-Oct-18
08-Oct-18
15-Oct-18
15-Oct-18
22-Oct-18
22-Oct-18
14-Nov-18
01-Nov-18
05-Nov-18
05-Nov-18
09-Nov-18
15-Nov-18
03-Dec-18
10-Dec-18
17-Dec-18
17-Dec-18
17-Dec-18
02-Jan-19
15-Jan-19
24-Jan-19
04-Feb-19
13-Feb-19
01-Mar-19

16-Apr-18
14-May-18
22-May-18
14-Nov-18
22-May-18
29-Nov-18
11-Jun-18
19-Jun-18
12-Dec-18
02-Oct-18
23-Jul-18

03-Aug-18
03-Aug-18
19-Sep-18
02-Apr-19
03-Oct-18
08-Oct-18
18-Oct-18
22-Oct-18
18-Oct-18
23-Jan-19
29-Oct-18

14-May-19
05-Nov-18
09-Nov-18
12-Nov-18
11-Feb-19
19-Nov-18
01-Mar-19
17-Dec-18
24-Dec-18
02-Jan-19
19-Dec-18
07-Jan-19
21-Jan-19
08-Feb-19
08-Feb-19
18-Feb-19
13-Mar-19

Nationwide Building Society
Thurrock Borough Council
Debt Management Office
Thurrock Borough Council
Debt Management Office
South Heighton Parish Council
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Surrey Heath Borough Council
Thurrock Borough Council
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Thurrock Borough Council
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Eastbourne Borough Council
Debt Management Office
Thurrock Borough Council
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Thurrock Borough Council
Debt Management Office
Eastbourne Borough Council
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Debt Management Office
Eastbourne Borough Council

1,000,000
3,000,000
1,000,000
3,000,000
2,000,000

24,000
3,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
4,000,000
2,000,000
2,500,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
6,000,000
4,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
3,000,000
8,000,000
4,000,000
4,000,000
5,000,000
2,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000
1,000,000
3,000,000
2,000,000
3,000,000
2,500,000
2,000,000
2,500,000
2,000,000
3,000,000

1,304 
 4,114 

 85 
 9,528 

 96 
 76 

 205 
 109 

 3,008 
 2,521 

 34 
 54 
 74 

 247 
 11,219 

 55 
 192 
 274 
 575 
 164 

 3,567 
 192 

 13,389 
 438 
 219 
 384 

 9,400 
 110 

 5,425 
 288 

 96 
 658 

 55 
 205 
 205 
 411 
 140 
 137 
 641

Page 91



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 19

  Counterparty Principal
£ From / To Interest/Return 

£

Treasury Bills
UK Treasury Bill 0% 28-Aug-2018
UK Treasury Bill 0% 28-Aug-2018
UK Treasury Bill 0% 10-Sep-2018
UK Treasury Bill 0% 10-Sep-2018
UK Treasury Bill 0% 01-Oct-2018
UK Treasury Bill 0% 29-Oct-2018
UK Treasury Bill 0% 26-Nov-2018
UK Treasury Bill 0% 10-Dec-2018
UK Treasury Bill 0% 10-Dec-2018
UK Treasury Bill 0% 10-Dec-2018
UK Treasury Bill 0% 10-Dec-2018
UK Treasury Bill 0% 04-Feb-2019
UK Treasury Bill 0% 04-Feb-2019
UK Treasury Bill 0% 04-Feb-2019

1,000,000 
 1,000,000
 1,000,000 
 1,000,000 
 1,000,000 
 1,000,000 
 1,000,000 
 1,000,000
 1,000,000 
 1,000,000 
 1,000,000 
 1,000,000 
 1,000,000 
 1,000,000

30-Jul-18
30-Jul-18

13-Aug-18
13-Aug-18

3-Sep-18
1-Oct-18

29-Oct-18
12-Nov-18
12-Nov-18
12-Nov-18
12-Nov-18

7-Jan-19
7-Jan-19
7-Jan-19

28-Aug-18
28-Aug-18
10-Sep-18
10 Sep-18

1-Oct-18
29-Oct-18
26-Nov-18
10-Dec-18
10-Dec-18
10-Dec-18
10-Dec-18

4-Feb-19
4-Feb-19
4-Feb-19

457
452
534
524
557
517
499
477
482
489
475
497
499
505

  Other
12,900 

 18,545 
 18,544 

 6,712

  Daimler AG (Bond - Fixed)
  Daimler AG (Bond - Fixed)
  Nordea AB (Certificate of Deposit)
  BMW Finance NV (Bond - Fixed)

650,000 
1,000,000 
1,000,000 
1,000,000

14-Sep-17
4-Oct-17

25-Oct-17
19-Dec-17

16-Jul-18
16-Jul-18

25-Apr-18
14-Dec-18

Page 92



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 20

Glossary of Terms

Affordable Borrowing Limit Each local authority is required by statute to determine and keep 
under review how much money it can afford to borrow. The 
Prudential Code (see below) sets out how affordability is to be 
measured.

Base Rate The main interest rate in the economy set by the Bank Of England, 
upon which others rates are based.

Bonds Debt instruments issued by government, multinational companies, 
banks and multilateral development banks. Interest is paid by the 
issuer to the bond holder at regular pre-agreed periods. The 
repayment date of the principal is also set at the outset.

Capital Expenditure Spending on the purchase, major repair, or improvement of assets 
e.g. buildings and vehicles.

Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR)

Calculated in accordance with government regulations, the CFR 
represents the amount of Capital Expenditure that it has incurred 
over the years and which has not yet been funded from capital 
receipts, grants or other forms of income. It represents the 
Council’s underlying need to borrow.

Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA)

CIPFA is one of the leading professional accountancy bodies in the 
UK and the only one that specialises in the public services. It is 
responsible for the education and training of professional 
accountants and for their regulation through the setting and 
monitoring of professional standards. Uniquely among the 
professional accountancy bodies in the UK, CIPFA has 
responsibility for setting accounting standards for a significant part 
of the economy, namely local government.

Counterparty Organisation with which the Council makes an investment.

Credit Default Swaps CDS are a financial instrument for swapping the risk of debt default 
and are effectively an insurance premium. Local authorities do not 
trade in CDS but trends in CDS prices can be monitored as an 
indicator of relative confidence about the credit risk of 
counterparties.

Credit Rating A credit rating is an independent assessment of the credit quality of 
an institution made by an organisation known as a rating agency. 
The rating agencies take many factors into consideration when 
forming their view of the likelihood that an institution will default on 
their obligations, including the institution’s willingness and ability to 
repay. The ratings awarded typically cover the short term outlook, 
the long term outlook, as well as an assessment of the extent to 
which the parent company or the state will honour any obligations. 
At present the three main agencies providing credit rating services 
are Fitch Ratings, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s

Fixed Deposits Loans to institutions which are for a fixed period at a fixed rate of 
interest.

Gilts These are issued by the UK government in order to finance public 
expenditure. Gilts are generally issued for set periods and pay a 
fixed rate of interest. During the life of the gilt it will be traded at 
price decided in the market.

Page 93



LDC Annual Treasury Management Report 2018/2019 Page 21

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) There is a statutory requirement for local authorities to account 
separately for expenditure incurred and income received in respect 
of the dwellings that they own and manage.

Lenders’ Option Borrower’s Option 
(LOBO)

A long term loan with a fixed interest rate. On pre- determined 
dates (e.g. every five years) the lender can propose or impose a 
new fixed rate for the remaining term of the loan and the borrower 
has the ‘option’ to either accept the new imposed fixed rate or 
repay the loan.

LIBID The rate of interest at which first-class banks in London will bid for 
deposit funds.

Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP)

The minimum amount which must be charged to an authority’s 
revenue account each year and set aside as provision for the 
repayment of debt.

Operational boundary This is the most likely, prudent view of the level of gross external 
indebtedness. A temporary breach of the operational boundary is 
not significant.

Prudential Code/Prudential 
Indicators

The level of capital expenditure by local authorities is not rationed 
by central government. Instead the level is set by local authorities, 
providing it is within the limits of affordability and prudence they set 
themselves. The Prudential Code sets out the indicators to be used 
and the factors to be taken into account when setting these limits.

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) A central government agency which provides long-term and 
medium-term loans to local authorities at interest rates only slightly 
higher than those at which the Government itself can borrow.

Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement (TMSS)

Approved each year, this document sets out the strategy that the 
Council will follow in respect of investments and financing both in 
the forthcoming financial year and the following two years.

Treasury Bills (T-Bills) These are issued by the UK Government as part of the Debt 
Management Office’s cash management operations. They do not 
pay interest but are issued at a discount and are redeemed at par. 
T-Bills have up to 12 months maturity when first issued.

Page 94



Appendix 2

Meeting: Cabinet

Date: 11 September 2019

Subject: Response to Treasury Management Report

Report of: On behalf of the Audit and Standards Committee

The Cabinet is asked to note the minute and resolution of the Audit and Standards 
Committee held on 16 July 2019 in response to the Treasury Management Report.

The Cabinet is recommended to:- 

Note the consideration and resolutions of the Audit and Standards Committee on 
the Treasury Management Report. 

Minute extract

Audit and Governance Committee –16 July 2019.

The Interim Deputy Chief Finance Officer introduced the report which had been issued 
as a supplement to the agenda as follows.

The oversight of Treasury Management was a function of the Audit and Standards 
Committee and the Treasury Management report was one of three reports considered 
by Full Council on an annual basis, including a mid-year review. 

A key point in the report was that a Member-briefing session would be undertaken by 
the Council’s treasury management advisors in autumn 2019. Treasury management 
was an important element of governance for the Council and sets the limits and 
parameters within which officers operated in terms of borrowing and lending.

The annual report set out the Council’s position for 2018/19 and the Council’s level of 
compliance during that period. All of the indicators for that period had been complied 
with and there had been no risk of those indicators being breached.

The issue of climate change had been raised at the previous meeting and although the 
Council had no direct investments with a climate change risk (for example fossil fuel 
companies) a watching brief would be maintained as there was a potential for very 
marginal investments in this area.

Members discussed the item and highlighted the following points and officers 
responded:

 Did the Committee discuss the strategies behind the investments as there appeared 
to be a number of investments with other local authorities, which might not be as 

Page 95



effective as investing in external companies? - It was not a deliberate policy. Local 
authorities had varying cash-flow requirements at different points in time. Some 
councils would be investing while others would be borrowing and often the best 
rates could be found among local authorities with the risk element mitigated by the 
Councils being sovereign backed.

 There had not been any investment activity on treasury bills, secured investments 
and tradeable investments during the recent period. Were the returns in this area 
less productive? There was generally limited investment in these instruments, and 
the recent departure of the Principal Accountant had also limited activity in this area. 

 Were daily or monthly interest rates looked when approaching the market with 
deposits? - The Council’s investments were dictated by its cash-flow and this was 
monitored and analysed, ensuring that the Council’s obligations were being met. 
Page 15 of the report provided a graph which detailed the Council’s investments. 
The Council’s priority when looking at investments with marginal returns was to 
ensure security.

 Which debts or loans did the Council have and was there a breakdown of all the 
Council’s investments? - The Council had a long term debt relating to the Housing 
Revenue Account. This was an historic debt for the Council to acquire its own 
housing and was taken out with the Public Works Loan Board; a government loan 
scheme for local authorities. Appendix C to the report listed the Council’s 
investments. Further details on individual investments could be provided, if needed. 

 There was difficulty in supporting the recommendations without a clearer 
understanding of whether the indicators were being complied with.  - The prudential 
indicators had been set out in a standard format. However, a paragraph could be 
added to future reports which included the Chief Finance Officer’s assurance that 
the Treasury Management indicators were being complied with and this would be 
reflected in the resolution. It was also be recognised that further, strategic training to 
enable evaluation of the Treasury Management indicators was needed.

 The indicators and targets in future reports should be made clearer for Members, 
possibly through the use of red, amber, green (RAG) indicators, in much the same 
way as the quarterly performance reports were presented.

RESOLVED that:
1) The Chief Finance Officers assurance that the Treasury Management Indicators 

were being complied with, be noted and accepted;
2) It be confirmed to Cabinet that Treasury Management Activity for the period 1 

March to 30 June 2019 has been in accordance with the approved Treasury 
Strategies; and 

3) It be recommended to Council that the annual Treasury Management report for 
2018/19 be agreed and the 2018/19 Prudential and Treasury Indicators included in 
the report be approved.

Page 96



For a copy of the report please contact Democratic Services:

Tel. (01273) 471600.
E-mail:  committees@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

A copy may be downloaded on the Council’s website by following the link below:
(to be inserted).

Page 97

mailto:committees@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet

Date: 16 September 2019

Title: Wave Leisure Trust – LDC Contract Annual Review 2018/19

Report of: Phil Evans, Director of Tourism and Enterprise

Cabinet member: Councillor Ruth O’Keeffe, Cabinet member for tourism and 
devolution

Ward(s): All

Purpose of report: For Cabinet to approve the 2018/19 Annual Service Delivery 
Plan from Wave Leisure Trust and the annual service 
delivery objectives for 2020/21.

Decision type: Non-Key

Officer 
recommendation(s):

(1) To note and approve Wave Leisure Trust’s 
performance against the LDC contract Annual Service 
Delivery Plan for 2018/2019.

(2) To approve the annual service delivery objectives for 
2020/21

Reasons for 
recommendations:

The agreement between the Council and Wave Leisure Trust
requires Cabinet to approve a review of the LDC contract 
Annual Service Delivery Plan on an annual basis and to 
receive a report on the performance of the Trust. 
Additionally, Cabinet is required to approve the joint 
objectives proposed for the forthcoming financial year.

Contact Officer(s): Name: Mark Langridge-Kemp
Post title: Head of Property, Delivery and Compliance
E-mail: mark.langridge-kemp@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01323 415876

1 Introduction

1.1 Wave Leisure Trust (WLT) run four leisure sites on behalf of the Council – 
Lewes Leisure Centre, Downs Leisure Centre, Seahaven Swim and Fitness 
Centre and Peacehaven (Meridian) Leisure Centre, as well as Newhaven Fort. 
WLT also runs other sites on behalf of other clients that are not the subject of 
this report.

1.2 On an annual basis the Council gives WLT service delivery objectives that 
provide the Trust with a framework to produce an Annual Service Delivery Plan 
(ASDP). WLT’s ‘Chief Executives Twelve Month Report’ for 2018/19 has 

Page 99

Agenda Item 13



recently been published and the summary report of the 2018/19 ASDP 
achievements against core outcomes is attached at Appendix A (Leisure sites) 
and Appendix B (Newhaven Fort). Visitor numbers for the wet and dry sites 
overall for the Trust have increased to 1,036,857 and there are currently 5,247 
Live memberships.

2

2.1

Annual Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 Outcome

WLT is required to report on its performance against a series of
performance indicators agreed with the Council. Performance targets are set 
taking account of the aims and objectives of the Council and are a means for 
encouraging the Trust to help meet the Council’s overall priorities in line with 
Corporate Plan aspirations.

Performance monitoring is undertaken by officers throughout the year; there are 
no ongoing concerns about the performance of the Trust to be raised.

2.2 Leisure

2.2.1

Highlights of the report against the previous year are set out below.

Outcome 1: Increasing participation and reducing health inequality

Key priority 1:  Provision of activities to meet the needs of the aging population 
of the District, inclusive of outreach work, to provide opportunities of increasing 
participation and wellbeing, particularly in the rural communities where people 
need them.

- Older people participation increased to over 1,030 individuals within 
centres and through outreach with 42,579 attendances – an increase of 
12.5%;

- Walking Football participation up 35.5%;
- Walking Netball introduced;
- 3,925 individuals attended Strength and Balance Programmes;
- 27 additional walks delivered in Seaford, Newhaven and Peacehaven in 

partnership with South Downs National Park Authority.

Key priority 2: Seek to develop new partners as well as enhancing existing 
relationships with the Council and other key partners to increase the 
availability and take up of positive activities for children and young people 
with the aim of encouraging greater participation by young children and 
families on a low income.

 
- Children and Young People attendance in health and wellbeing activities 

reached 375,488;
- Continued participation in Children, Young People and Family Forums 

and networks;
- Community and Health Improvement Team continued engagement with 

disengaged children and young people;
- Whole family participation activities and events up to 30,098.

Page 100



2.2.2

Key priority 3: Provide a varied programme of activities, including taster 
sessions, that positively promote physical activity, particularly amongst those 
that are not currently active. 

- Referrals for individuals with a diagnosed health condition up to 597, an 
increase of 431 people;

- Continued active participation within Community, Voluntary Sector and 
Stakeholder led Health Partnerships;

- Development for activities for those with special educational needs and 
disability enabled 692 attendances by 182 people.

Key priority 4: Provision of a range of holiday activities for children and young 
people of all age ranges.

- 13,761 participants in holiday activity programmes; 
- 1,409 attendances by children and young people unable to otherwise 

access a Wave site;

Key priority 5: Give due regard to the Equality Act 2010, particularly where there 
is a change to Policy, project development or where new services are being 
provided/existing services discontinued.

- No claims made.

Key priority 6: Provide opportunities and activities for residents on low income, 
which are either outreach or centre based and which include rural communities.

- 26,835 attendances from those who would otherwise have experienced 
barriers to participation, an increase of 5%;

- 3,143 attendances at open space community events;
- 4 residential care homes being worked with through the Community and 

Health Improvement Team.

Key priority 7: Provide opportunities to engage with the rural population, 
increasing access to activities.

- 1,034 Strength and Balance classes targeted at three rural communities

Outcome 2: Improving accessibility and social inclusion

Key priority 1: Ensuring activities are accessible by the whole community but 
working particularly with people and families on a low income, ensuring that 
activities are provided in such a way to meet the needs of specific groups within 
the community.

- Attendance for disabled people increased to 14,351;
- Increase in access to activity for those with a disability or SEND by 5%;
- 7th Seahaven Para Games held;
- 30% increase in attendance in targeted free/low cost holiday activities.

Page 101



2.2.3

Key priority 2: Working with partners to identify appropriate funding to support 
sessions and activities that could be offered free to users at the point of delivery 
as a means of overcoming lack of income as a barrier to participation.

- Worked with 72 delivery partners for targeted programmes;
- Successful with a £3000 grant for the Wave Leisure Community Trust 

Fund;
- Continued work with Active Sussex to support access for young people 

and young adults at low or no cost.

Key priority 3: Promote opportunities for workforce development to encourage 
training and skills development for individual staff.

- Continued Apprenticeship scheme providing employment opportunities;
- Volunteers increased by 12.5% on the previous year.

Key priority 4: Explore opportunities to increase non-centre based activity to 
further reduce access barriers and to encourage participation from current non-
users.

- 8310 attendances in community settings;
- 824 children supported through breakfast, lunch and after school clubs;
- Continued support for access to transport and journey planning.

Key priority 5: Assist LDC with undertaking ongoing equalities assessments and 
monitoring.

- 100% co-operation

Outcome 3: Reducing Environmental Impact

Key priority 1: Continue to look for opportunities to increase recycling for 
customers and staff wherever possible.

- Facilities continue to be audited for effectiveness each year as part of 
Wave’s Internal Environmental Audits programme;

- Mixed recycling has now replaced specific ones across all sites, including 
for recycling plastic bottles.

Key priority 2: When planning future investment with the Council, identify 
opportunities to reduce energy usage and help to reduce CO2 emissions. When 
replacing plant and equipment , cleaner and energy efficient technology should 
be considered that will help generate future efficiency savings.

- Lighting replaced with LED’s;
- Aerating showers installed at Lewes Leisure Centre;
- Energy use measured through half-hourly automatic meter readings;
- Social Enterprise Mark retained

Page 102



2.3

2.4

Newhaven Fort

Outcome 1: Improve the overall visitor experience at the Fort.making it a great 
destinationfor all the family and one which encourages repeat visits.

- Newhaven Fort visitors increased 1.5% to 30,720;
- Over 89% of people said their experience of the Fort was Excellent or 

Good;
- Tea Room offer further developed.

Outcome 2: Ensure that the educational offer for schools is current, relevant and 
one which children will find interesting and fun. Ensure that the exhibits and 
displays are well presented to maximise their educational value.

- The number of schools visiting the Fort increased by almost 5%;
- 5,026 visits from school pupils;
- 1,314 language students.

Outcome 3: Provide and promote a wide range of appealing events to attract 
more visits.

- Worked with a marketing company on plans and materials;
- External hire and partnership events increased;
- Popular Halloween event organised;
- Talks and weddings held.

It is proposed that the outcomes outlined above will form the annual service 
delivery objectives for 2020/21. 

3 Corporate plan and council policies 

3.1 Meets the aims of the Corporate Plan 2017-2020 – Thriving Communities: 
Resilient, heathy and engaged communities: increasing participation in leisure 
activities amongst older people and in rural areas and increasing visitors to 
Leisure Centres.

4

4.1

4.2

Financial appraisal

In return for WLT providing services and undertaking activities that meet the 
Council’s stated objectives, the Council provides the Trust with an Annual 
Service Fee. The service fees for 2019/2020 are:-

Leisure Management Contract £100,000
Newhaven Fort Contract £104,200

As agreed with the Council in 2014, the Service Fee for the leisure management 
contract will reduce in 2019/2020 by £108,900 compared with 2018/2019.
2019-2020 will be the final year fees are paid as by 2020/2021the Council will 
provide no annual funding for this element of the service. The service fee for 
Newhaven Fort will remain fixed through to 2024-25. This represents an overall 

Page 103



saving to the Council of £2.3m over the 10 year period 2015-16 to 2024-25.

5 Legal implications

5.1 There are no legal implications as a result of this monitoring report.

6

6.1

Risk management implications

There are no risks identified as a result of this monitoring report.

7 Equality analysis

7.1 An equality analysis has been undertaken and and has not identified any 
equality impacts .

8. Appendices

 Appendix A – Leisure Summary Report
 Appendix B – Newhaven Fort Summary Report

9 Background papers

None

Page 104



Page 110 of 146 

Wave Leisure Trust 

Annual Service Delivery Plan 
2018/2019 

“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

2018/19
CEO's 12 Month Report

Appendix 4

Appendix A

Page 105



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 111 of 145 

Page 106



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 112 of 145 

Contents 
Annual Service Delivery Plan (2018/19)……………………………….………………………….114 

Strategy………………………………………………………………….……………………………115 

Table of Figures 
Figure 1: “Inspiring Active Lifestyles” Strategy….………………………………………..……….115 

Figure 2: Delivering to National Outcomes……………………………………………..…………116 

Figure 3: Outcome 1 - Increasing Participation and Reducing Health Inequality  ……………118 

Figure 4: Outcome 2 - Improving Accessibility and Social Inclusion…………………………...134 

Figure 5: Outcome 3 - Reducing Environmental Impact…………………………………………142 

Page 107



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 113 of 145 

Page 108



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 114 of 145 

 

Annual Service Delivery Plan (2018/19) 

On an annual basis Lewes District Council (LDC) is required to furnish Wave Leisure Trust 
(Wave) with an “Annual Service Statement” that provides the Trust with a framework to produce 
an Annual Service Delivery Plan. 
 

The Annual Service Delivery Plan that Wave produces complements and supports the Council’s 
objective to promote healthy lifestyles by developing a district wide leisure strategy. The Council 
recognises that reducing hazards like cold houses and falls in homes could save the NHS over 
£1 million in treatment costs.  
  
The Council have committed to improve the condition of both private and council homes to 
prevent accidents and ill health. They will continue to work with the NHS and other partners in the 
county to improve the health and wellbeing of Lewes District residents.  
  
Besides the major contributions to ill-health prevention from housing programmes, LDC will work 
with local communities and companies to provide sport and recreation facilities where people 
need them. As a result, the Council has set the following objectives for Wave in relation to the 
Leisure contract. 
 

The LDC Annual Service Statement framework focuses on three core outcomes, namely: 
1. Increasing Participation and Reducing Health Inequality. 
2. Improving Accessibility and Social Inclusion. 
3. Reducing Environmental Impact. 

 

Within each of the three core outcomes, LDC has provided a number of “Key Priorities” that 
define the requirements further. 
 
Aligned to the LDC Outcomes and Key Priorities, Figures 3 to 5 presents Wave’s response to the 
LDC Service Statement, presenting the specific actions to be implemented to ensure that the 
LDC’s requirements are achieved. The Plan is also a demonstration of Wave’s shared 
commitment to the priorities and the valuable partnership that exists between LDC and Wave. 
 
At the end of 2018/19 the Annual Performance and Monitoring Report will provide Key Examples 
and Outcomes for each of the Wave Actions defining successful delivery. 
 

  

Page 109



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 115 of 145 

Strategy 

Figure 1: “Inspiring Active Lifestyles” Strategy 

Purpose 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Vision 
“To be at the heart of the improvement of health and wellbeing in our communities.” 

Objectives 
“By engaging with partners Wave Leisure, an established charitable trust, will agree a shared 

programme of activities to deliver to the community. Wave aspires to achieve excellence in 

the delivery of services which will provide customers with choice and inspire active lifestyles. 

The ultimate objective is to create a sustainable business contributing towards the long term 

health and wellbeing of our community.  

Page 110



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 116 of 145 

Figure 2: Delivering to National Outcomes 

Wave recognises the influence of Government Outcomes on its “Delivering to our Community” objective and as such has developed a model of 
delivery which encompasses, not only the three core LDC Annual Service Statement outcomes but also, the five outcomes of the Department 
of Culture, Media and Sport, linking to improved public health and sustainable communities, as shown in Figure 2. With this approach, Wave is 
also addressing Public Health England’s priorities of Improving health and wellbeing and reducing inequalities. 

P
age 111



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 117 of 145 

P
age 112



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 118 of 145 

Figure 3: Outcome 1 - Increasing Participation and Reducing Health Inequality 

LDC Key Priority 1 
“Provision of activities to meet the needs of the aging population of the District, inclusive of outreach work to provide opportunities of increasing 
participation and wellbeing, particularly in the rural communities, where people need them.” 

Wave Actions Measure Target Outcome 

Continue to develop and implement activities, which encourages 
Older Peoples participation, designed to develop confidence and 
encourage engagement in regular activity both within centres and 
through outreach. 

Number of people engaged 504 1,030 
supported 
individuals 

Total number of attendances 24,958 42,579 

Number of new weekly activities 
introduced 

5 5 

Number of taster sessions introduced 4 9 

Across all delivery, Wave now includes 44 weekly timetabled sessions of activity, specifically designed to support participation of older 
people across the district (Walking Sports age 50 plus and targeted senior activity aged 60 plus) at various levels of intensity from gentle 
exercise such as Chair Based and Strength and Balance, to higher intensity such as Walking Football and Netball, as well as Senior Gym  and 
Senior Swim sessions, where access to facilities is restricted to support confidence in participation. 

Across all senior activity there have been a total of 42,579 attendances, which is an increase of 12.5% on previous year. 

• In Seaford, at Downs Leisure Centre, Seaford Head Swimming Pool and Seaford Head Sports Hall, 11 weekly activity sessions are
timetables with 11,870 attendances (an increase of 12%), of which 2,691 are specifically swimming (an increase of 38%)

• The Community and Health Improvement Team provide activities in community setting, as well as in centre for supported and
guided activity, resulting in 10,598 attendances in activity (an increase of 33%), of which 3,848 attendances were referred into and
out in the community activity (an increase of 43%).

• Peacehaven Leisure Centre provides 7 weekly activity sessions with 5,589 attendances (an increase of 18%).

• Lewes and Ringmer provides 7 weekly activity sessions with 11,744 attendances (an increase of 5.4%), of which 9,076 are
specifically swimming (an increase of 3.5%)

• In Newhaven at Shakespeare Hall and Seahaven Swim and Fitness Centre, 5 weekly activity sessions are timetabled with 9,528
attendances (an increase of 0.3% on previous year) in activity, of which 6,267 are specifically swimming (a decrease 1%).

Deliver and support activity, within rural communities, which 
supports the participation of older people to gain, regain or 
maintain participation in physical activity, as part of a healthy 
lifestyle both mentally and physically. 

Number of rural locations engaged. 6 3 

Number of weekly activities available 4 3 

Number of wellbeing events attended 6 0 

Number of people engaged. 54 59 

P
age 113



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 119 of 145 

Total number of attendances. 543 1,034 

%age of participants identified as 
engaging in further activity. 

74% 47% 

Wave continues to deliver weekly Strength and Balance classes, targeting those at risk of falls in 3 rural communities; 

• Wivelsfield Village Hall has 627 attendances an increase of 41% on previous year.

• Rodmell Village Hall has 201 attendances, an increase of 15% on previous year.

• Firle Village Hall has 214 attendances, an increase of 9% on previous year.

Attend the Seniors Forum meetings and Networking Events, 
ensuring that Wave is aware of the latest issues relating to the 
older person’s agenda. 

Wave representation at Seniors Forum 
meetings. 

3 9 

Continue to provide, and support, opportunities of engagement in 
activity, as part of National Older Peoples Day particularly aimed at 
those who are currently not engaged in physical activity. 

Number of weekly activities available. 28 10 

Number of new people enagaging in 
activities. 

31 5 

Total Number of attendances in activities 1,185 722 

%age of participants identified as 
engaging in further activity. 

74% 0 

The National Older Peoples Day is coordinated by East Sussex Seniors Forum and supported by East Sussex County Council. Throughout 
September and October 2017 opportunities to participate in various workshops and activities are promoted across the county to support 
engagement of older people in new experiences and opportunities. 

Following feedback from participants, Wave has changed the offering of activities for Older People’s Day, by seeking to support those 
individuals who are not currently engaged in activity, as oppose to a wider offering of reduced cost access, this has included attending partner 
organisations to promote activity and deliver taster sessions, such as chair based classes for lunch clubs and table top activity in care homes 
and supported housing environments. 

It has not been possible to identify all those individuals who have attended a promotional event and as such impossible to identify onward 
participation into activity. 

Continue to provide Walking Football and develop other Walking 
Sport opportunities with partners, such as Lewes Football Club, 
Eastbourne Borough Football Club, Sussex Veterans League, 
Sussex County Cricket Club and Netball NGB. 

Number of weekly activities 4 5 

Total number of people registered 72 176 

Total number of attendances 2,274 2,924 

Walking Sports continue to grow in popularity and Wave has continued to see an increase in participation in Walking Football. 

P
age 114



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 120 of 145 

• Downs Leisure Centre, Seaford, delivered 2 mornings a week with an attendance of 1,609 by 75 people

• Lewes Leisure Centre, delivered 1 evening a week with an attendance of 499 by 27 people

• Peacehaven Leisure Centre, delivered 1 evening a week with an attendance of 676 by 23 people

The introduction of sessions at both Peacehaven and Lewes during 2017/18 have had an obvious impact on increased participation in 
Walking Football by 35.5% on previous year. 

The introduction of Walking Netball, in January 2019, at Downs Leisure Centre has resulted in a new attendance by women aged 50 years 
over, seeking more active participation in exercise, resulting in 151 attendances by 39 people. 

Continue to provide and develop Wave’s Strength and Balance 
Programme (Falls Prevention) alongside commissioned falls 
prevention services, within Wave facilities and in community 
settings. 

Number of weekly activities. 7 13 

Total number of people registered 105 429 

Total number of attendances 2,352 3,925 

%age of participants reporting feeling 
more confident to participate in regular 
activity. 

74% 82% 

Strength and Balance is a gentle, instructed exercise which support the prevention of falls and provides open access participation for 
individuals, either through self-motivation or are advised by other organisations, such as GP Practices, support groups or family members. 
Strength and Balance is delivered within Wave sites, as well as out in community settings. 

Wave delivers sessions in Site at: 

• Downs Leisure Centre, Seaford resulting in 664 attendance, an increase of 10%.

• Lewes Leisure Centre resulting in 363 attendances, a small increase of 0.5%.

• Shakespeare Hall, Newhaven resulting in 121 attendances an increase of 55%.

• Peacehaven Leisure Centre introduced Strength and Balance in July 2018 and resulted in an attendance of 68.

Working with community partners, sessions are delivered in community setting at: 

• Rodmell Village Hall has 201 attendances, an increase of 15% on previous year.

• Firle Village Hall has 214 attendances, an increase of 9% on previous year.

• Wivelsfield Village Hall has 627 attendances an increase of 41% on previous year.

• Responding to a need identified in Eastbourne, a class has been introduced at All Saints Church, Eastbourne in October 2018
resulting in 43 attendances.

P
age 115



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 121 of 145 

The introduction of both Peacehaven and Eastbourne classes has had an obvious impact on increased participation by 24% on previous 
year to 2,305 attendances. 

In addition, Wave Instructors deliver Postural and Stability Instruction (PSI) 17 week course, in partnership with East Sussex Healthcare 
NHS Trust, as part of the falls prevention service delivered within Eastbourne, Seaford and Hailsham CCG area, linked to the areas defined 
under Better Together. PSI is accessible via referal to the Community Falls Development Team and is currently delivered in Seaford and 
Eastbourne by Wave. 

• Downs Leisure Centre, Seaford resulting in 557 attendances.

• Kings Church, Eastbourne resulting in 583 attendances

• Venton Centre, Age Concern, Eastbourne resulting in 450 attendances

Maintain and expand Healthy Walk opportunities for older people, 
developing new walking opportunities and sessions to encourage 
participation from the older person living in rural settings.  

Number of weekly walks provided. 4 3 

Total number of people registered 120 246 

Total number of attendances 3,185 2,724 

Health Walks have continued to be delivered in Seaford, Lewes and Peacehaven, at no cost to the participant, by volunteer Walk Leaders as 
an accredited Walking for Health and the Ramblers Association. 

• Down Leisure Centre, Seaford has seen a decrease in attendance of 12.5%, to 1,143.

• Lewes Leisure Centre has seen an increase in attendance of 14%, to 504.

• Peacehaven Leisure Centre has seen an increase in attendances of 8% to 624

Working in partnership with the South Down National Park Authority (SDNPA), 27 additional walks have been dellivered in Seaford, Newhaven 
and Peacehaven supporting small groups and 1:1 engagement, encouraging more people to experience walking as a form of physical activity. 
In total 38 attendances have been made in this new project. 

Funded  by SDNPA, the walks are delivered as part of an East Sussex County Council project, Active Access for Growth, funded by the 
Department for Transport. 

P
age 116



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 122 of 145 

Key Priority 2 
“Seek to develop new partners as well as enhancing existing relationships with the Council and other key partners, to increase the availability 
and take up of positive activities for children and young people with the aim of encouraging greater participation by young children and families 
on a low income.” 

Wave Actions Measure Target Outcome 

Continue to develop and implement activities, which encourages 
children, young people and family participation, designed to 
promote positive health and wellbeing activities, including those at 
risk of involvement in nuisance and anti-social behaviour, across 
the District. 

Total number of attendances from 
Children and Young People 

244,849 375,488 

Number of new weekly activities 
introduced 

42 26 

Number of taster sessions introduced 25 23 

Across all delivery, Wave provides sessions and activity specifically designed to support children, young people and family participation, 
across the District and at various levels of intensity from coached sport for excellence, targeted sessions, where access to facilities is 
restricted to support confidence in participation, drop in low cost activity access and taster activities. 

• In Newhaven at Shakespeare Hall and Seahaven Swim and Fitness Centre, 60,814 attendances in activity have been made, of
which 76% are specifically swimming.

• Lewes and Ringmer have provided 153,017 attendances in activity have been made, of which 40% are specifically swimming.

• Peacehaven Leisure Centre, 59,820 attendances in activity have been made.

• In Seaford, at Downs Leisure Centre, Seaford Head Swimming Pool and Seaford Head Sports Hall, have provided 91,933
attendances of which 22.5% are specifically swimming.

• The Community and Health Improvement Team provide activities in community setting, as well as in centre for supported and
guided activity, resulting in 14,706 attendances in activity of which 9,461 attendances were out in the community activity.

Continue to be an active participant with Children, Young People 
and Family Forums and networks, ensuring Wave is aware of the 
latest issues relating to children, young people and family 
agendas.  

Wave representation at Children, Young 
People and Family Forum meetings. 

6 31 

Wave continues to work with and develop partnerships which support the engagement of individuals in positive health and wellbeing 
activities. These relationships support the design of programmes to address barriers to participation, referrals into service or direct delivery 
for organisations seeking activities for their own groups. 

Continue to implement a diverse programme of “Reach Out” 
activities, targeting children and young people who are otherwise 
disengaged from mainstream activities due to low income. 

Number of regular activities provided. 12 16 

Number of people 140 545 

Number of attendances 887 1,230 

The Community and Health Improvement Team continue to engage with children and young people within community settings and by 
providing targeted activity, for those least likely to engage due to lack confidence, opportunities, income or knowledge. 

P
age 117



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 123 of 145 

Activities have included delivery within in primary, secondary and tertiary settings, as well as engagment out in the community across 
Lewes District, resulting in 64% of all attendances happening within a community setting. 

Continue to work with East Sussex County Council Youth 
Services, and other youth service providers, to offer reduced cost 
access and/or targeted sessions for “Drop In”. 

Number of children and young people’s 
groups engaged. 

10 11 

Number of weekly activities available 4 26 

Number of taster sessions delivered 10 28 

Number of People engaged. 190 767 

Total number of attendances. 965 1,976 

%age of participants identified as 
engaging in further activity. 

25% 42% 

Working with Youth Service delivery partners, both voluntary sector and East Sussex County Council Youth Development Service, Wave 
has provided access passes as well as targeted engagement for supported access into activity. 

An increase in the provision of supportive engagement is reflective of partner organisations seeking support for delivery of activity for 
children and young people needing additional support to make positive health and wellbeing choices, as well as a decline in services 
available to access. 

Deliver funded initial engagement courses, such diversionary and 
Health and Wellbeing activities, targeting young people who are 
less physically active and not engaged in regular activity. 

Number of funded courses. 13 10 

Number of people 270 326 

Number of attendance 1,913 891 

%age of participants progressing into 
further activity. 

55% 47% 

Previously funded by Active Sussex Sportivate programme, a reduction in funding is reflected in the drop in number of weekly sessions 
being delivered for those currently not active.  

The number of individuals reached has increased by 34% and transfer into onward activity has remained high, even with less sessions 
being available. 

Continue to organise a range of taster courses for children and 
young people to try new activities and feed into established Clubs, 
linked to schools and colleges. 

Number of taster courses. 82 44 

Number of people 454 595 

Total number of attendances. 4,368 9,681 

Number of children transferring into 
established Clubs. 

55% 46% 

P
age 118



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 124 of 145 

Taster sessions and in school activity continues to be delivered as part of the Active Schools Programmes, to include primary and 
secondays settings. 

A large proportion of attendances are attributed to the introduction of Purposeful Play and Activity Lunch Time sessions, which are 
delivered during the lunchtime breaks at both Chyngton and Cradle Hill Primary Schools in Seaford, enabling children to come together in 
structured and fun activity, with Wave’s Activators and Sports Coaches.  

Expand the programme offerings into Schools by introducing new 
activities, for example; “Drop In” and Inset Days activity sessions. 

Number of new activities 9 4 

Number of people 60 543 

Number of attendances. 480 6,660 

Working with local primary schools, “Lunch Time Purposeful Play” has been introduced  as well as “Golden Time”, an opportunity for 
students to be rewarded for acheivements and positive behaviour to participate in fun sport and activity sessions. 

Continue to expand and develop whole of family participation 
activities and events, across sites and in communities 

Number of regular activities provided 6 36 

Number of activity events 4 6 

Total number of attendances 1,440 30,098 

To enable children and young people to be active with their parents or carers, Wave continues to offer a range of activies which enable 
families to be physically active together, including Fit Families to enable in the gym participation, play sessions, swimming, sporting and out 
reach. 

• Lewes and Ringmer have provided 16,410 attendances in activity have been made.

• In Newhaven at Shakespeare Hall and Seahaven Swim and Fitness Centre, 9,507 attendances in activity have been made.

• Peacehaven Leisure Centre, 1,794 attendances in activity have been made.

• In Seaford, at Downs Leisure Centre, Seaford Head Swimming Pool and Seaford Head Sports Hall, have provided 2,387
attendances.

• The Community and Health Improvement Team provide activities in community setting, as well as in centre for supported and
guided activity, resulting in 264 attendances in activity.

The significant jump in attendnace is reflective of improved data capture and reporting of family activity. 

P
age 119



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 125 of 145 

Key Priority 3 
“Provide a varied programme of activities including taster sessions that positively encourage and promote physical activity, particularly amongst 
those who are not currently active.” 

Wave Actions Measure Target Outcome 

Develop and implement referred into activity opportunities with 
partner organisations, for those with a diagnosed health condition. 

Total number of referrals made. 180 597 

%age of refferals attending an activity 
opportunity. 

70% 87% 

%age of participants reporting feeling 
more confident in attending regular 
activity. 

75% 79% 

%age of participants identified as 
engaging in further activity. 

60% 36% 

Exercise referral is provided for individuals who would benefit from participating in physical activity, to achieve an identified health outcome 
either physical or mental. 

Working with GP’s, physiotherapists, rehabilitation teams, as well as other health professions, a number of different programmes are 
provided by the Community and Health Improvement Teams to support participation either on a 1:1 basis, for example through referral in 
the gym or  in a group environment for those with Dementia or to support falls prevention. 

A significant increase of referrals has been identified for this year, by 431 people. This has been due to increased opportunities to 
participate, a change in how engagement is made with health professional and improved data capture to identify those who are being 
supported though dedicated health and fitness professionals delivering on the GP Exercise Referral programme. 

Continue to be an active participant within Community, Voluntary 
Sector and Stakeholder led Health Partnerships, ensuring Wave is 
aware of the latest issues related to supporting people for 
improved health and wellbeing, both physically and mentally. 

Wave representation at Health 
Partnership events 

12 18 

Wave continues to work with, and develop, partnerships which support the engagement of individuals in positive health and wellbeing 
activities. These relationships support the design of programmes to address barriers to participation, referrals into service or direct delivery 
for organisations seeking activities for their own groups.  

Deliver “Change4Life” days providing opportunities for children 
and families to participate in activity at no cost. 

Number of Events 4 3 

Total number of participants. 850 167 

Three Change4Life events were delivered, providing free trial session in physical activity, advice, information and guidance from community 
partners and literature provided by Public Health’s Change4Life Campaign, related to “10 minute Shake Ups” and “Sugar Swap”, promoting 
healthy eating and physical activity for children and families. 

P
age 120



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 126 of 145 

Activities were delivered at Peacheaven Leisure Centre and Shakespeare Hall for all families, and Downs Leisure Centre had a supported 
engagement day for children and young people with Special Educational Needs, to enable families to experience and participate in activity 
as a family.  

Attendance at these events  are down, primarily due to moving Downs Leisure Centre’s whole of day event into the next reporting year, 
downsizing delivery at Peacehaven Leisure Centre due to staff changes and no event being delivered at Lewes Leisure Centre. 

Increase the number of programmes to support those with a 
diagnosed health condition, for adults, children, young people and 
families. 

Total number of attendances 3,744 7,472 

Number of new regular weekly activities 
introduced 

3 4 

Number of regular activities provided 8 19 

Number of people 104 837 

Wave provides points of access for those with a diognosed health condition or need, including children, young people and adults with 
SEND, adults with Dementia, those at risk from falls and weight management, across Lewes District and Easbourne. 

Acitivities delivered include short courses, as well as ongoing weekly activity ,enabling onward participation for those needing additional 
support to access. 

Further development of activity for those with SEND, has enabled 692 attendances by 182  people in supported social sports and acitivies. 

Continue to provide a range of supporting mechanisms to 
encourage activity participation to address barriers accessing 
activity. 

Number of sites with Journey Plans 
available 

4 8 

Number of sites offering creche and 
childcare facilities. 

3 4 

Number of regular offsite exercise 
programmes being delivered. 

16 13 

Wave continues to develop programmes and work with partners to address barriers to accessing activity: 

• Journey Planning
Wave has an active partnership with Community Transport Lewes Area (CTLA) and can provide their contact details across all
facilities, to support people to access CTLA as a transport provider. In addition, targeted activities, particularly for those with limited
mobility, are provided in consultation with CTLA to ensure co-ordination between activity programmes and transport timetables.

• Creche and Childcare
Supervised sessions are provided within Wave Sites, to enable those with children under 8 to participate in activity at Downs
Leisure Centre, Lewes Leisure Centre, Peacehaven Leisure Centre

• Offsite Activity

P
age 121



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 127 of 145 

Offsite programmes being delivered are primarily linked to targeted activity to enable greatest reach to those least likley to 
participate in activity. These programmes include; Rural Group Exercise, Active Schools, Holiday Programmes and activity provided 
within community centres, village halls, open spaces, schools and colleges 

Continue to proactively reach out into GP Surgeries across the 
District to encourage participation and provide patient engagment 
opportunties on site. 

Number of engagement opportunties 
delivered. 

26 23 

Number of participants engaged on GP 
referral pathway. 

123 233 

%age participants attending a further 
wellbeing activity. 

54% 30% 

Working directly with GP practice staff, consultation has been undertaken to review the delivery of exercise on referral, to provide the most 
appropriate enagement for those taking their first steps into physical activity to achieve positive health outcomes. 

A new approach to engaging with individuals to access activity has seen an increase of 45% of participants engaged on a GP referral 
pathway, compared to last year. 

With changes to reporting and data capture, it has not been possible to fully identify those who have continued to engage and participate in 
activity, however 30% have continued to engage though a membership opportunity. 

P
age 122



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 128 of 145 

Key Priority 4 
“Provision of a range of holiday activities for children and young people of all age ranges.” 

Wave Actions Measure Target Outcome 

Continue to deliver and support holiday activity programmes in 
Seaford, Lewes, Newhaven and Peacehaven. 

Total number of activities. 45 67 

Total number of participants. 8,770 13,761 

Wave provides holiday programmes across Sites and in the community, during all school holidays. Provision is made for whole of day 
Holiday Clubs and drop in sessions, to enable the greatest opportunity for participation, recognising the need for childcare as well as fun 
and engaging activity. 

All of the reportable activities are coached or instructed, to support engagement. 

• In Newhaven at Shakespeare Hall and Seahaven Swim and Fitness Centre, 4,832 attendances in activity have been made.

• Lewes and Ringmer have provided 3,382 attendances in activity have been made.

• Peacehaven Leisure Centre, 372 attendances in activity have been made.

• In Seaford, at Downs Leisure Centre, Seaford Head Swimming Pool and Seaford Head Sports Hall, have provided 4,579

• The Community and Health Improvement Team provide activities in community setting, as well as in centre for supported and
guided activity, resulting in 596 attendances in activity.

The significant jump in attendance is reflective of improved data capture and reporting of family activity. 

In order to diversify the holiday programme, ensuring the delivery 
remains fresh and dynamic, Wave will continue to engage with 
partners involved in the delivery of each holiday programme.  

Total number of delivery partners. 16 11 

Recruiting partners for holiday programme provision has enabled better pathways into activity to be established, to include reduced cost 
access to sessions, taster opportunities and engaging coaches and delivery teams from partner organisation to deliver activity during the 
holiday periods. 

Ensure that funding is secured for all holiday programmes for each 
of the towns in the District. 

Funding secured. 60% 60% 

Funding has been applied for and received from Newhaven, Peacehaven and Telscombe Councils for holiday activities. 

Work with resident and community associations to be able to 
make a holiday activity available to children and young people 
who are unable to access a Wave site. 

Number of activities 14 6 

Number of People 30 91 

Number of attendances 389 1,409 

The Community and Health Improvement Team engage with participants, not just within Wave Sites but also out in the community to 
include open spaces and community halls, as well as supporting commuity events. 

P
age 123



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 129 of 145 

Wave also supports participants to access drop in activity in centre, though the provision of funded places during the school holiday period, 
for those who may not otherwise be able to participate.  

To develop and implement holiday activities which are inclusive of 
parents and/or carers to encourage family participation in regular 
activity.  

Number of activities. 8 14 

Number of people 15 124 

Total number of attendances. 90 174 

Beyond the regular whole of family activities, additional coached activiites are provided during the school holidays for fmailies to participate 
together, to include archery, orienteering and adventorous activity. 

P
age 124



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 130 of 145 

Key Priority 5 
“Give due regard to the Equality Act 2010, particularly when there is a change to Policy; project development or where new services are being 
provided or where existing services are discontinued.” 

Wave Actions Measure Target Outcome 

Wave recognises that discrimination can occur and will ensure 
that no individual will be unjustifiably discriminated against. This 
includes, but not exclusively, on the basis of gender, race, 
nationality, ethnic or national origin, religious or political beliefs, 
disability, marital status, social background, family circumstance, 
sexual orientation, gender re-assignment, spent criminal 
convictions, age or for any other reason. 

Number of Claims 0 0 

No claims were made against Wave on grounds of gender, race, nationality, ethnic or national origin, religious or political beliefs, disability, 
marital status, social background, family circumstances, sexual orientation, gender re-assignment, spent criminal convictions, age or for any 
other reason under the Equality Act 2010. 

P
age 125



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 131 of 145 

Key Priority 6 
“Provide opportunities and activities for residents on low income, which are either outreach or centre-based and which include rural 
communities.” 

Wave Actions Measure Target Outcome 

Through 2017/18 Wave will continue to initiate and develop 
programmes of activity in isolation and by partnering key 
stakeholders, for example LDC Housing Services, Tenants of 
Lewes District (TOLD), Action in rural Sussex, 3VA and Active 
Sussex. Sport, Physical Activity and Health and Wellbeing 
Programmes will be both centre based and in other community 
and rural settings. 

Number of programmes provided. 25 38 

Number of people engaged 1,157 2,373 

Total number of attendances 25,456 26,835 

Wave continues to provide targeted and supported activity for those experiencing barriers to participation, though supported and coached 
engagement as well as providing in the community opportunities to participate.   

By expanding the offering from the Community and Health Improvements Team, as well as developing in centre targeted activity, an 
increase of 5% for attendances in activity has been achieved on previous year. 

Continue to support and develop ‘Open Spaces’ community 
events particularly using spaces near areas of social housing, 
working with Lewes District Council Housing Services, social 
housing landlords, tenant and resident participation groups and 
local community groups. 

Number of Open Spaces events. 13 20 

Number of attendances 1,560 3,143 

More “Open Space” opportunities have been delivered, enabling greater participation in activity outside. Activities included working with 
Peacheaven Town Council to support participants to use outdoor gym equipment for activity, family orienteering providing support which 
enables families to explore together and working with SDNPA provide guided health walks to explore local surroundings. 

As well as coached and supported activity, Wave teams can often be found a community events providing challenges, sports days and 
advice about accessing activity. These events are not included within attendance numbers. 

Seek to develop further activity programmes in or accessible to 
residential care settings (such as warden controlled, care and rest 
homes). 

Number of residential care settings 
engaged 

5 4 

Number of activities delivered in a 
residential setting 

20 12 

Number of people engaged 40 33 

Total number of attendances 149 95 

The Community and Health Improvement Team have been working with 4 residential care home setting, where activities and support are 
provided for residents. 

P
age 126



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 132 of 145 

Parris Lawns in Ringmer and Alfriston Court, near Seaford, are both residential nursing and care homes with residents who have multiple 
conditions, including dementia. With in each setting social sports and activities are provided enabling wider engagement and participation in 
physical activity. 

Currently at Parris Lawns activity is provided twice weekly, to include strength and balance sessions to support falls prevention. At Alfriston 
a weekly session of seated sport is provided to enable greater movement of residents who are lesss active or able to participate. 

In addition, two residential homes for younger adults with physical disabilites and learning needs have been engaged in seated sports and 
activities. Webb House in Newhaven received weekly sessions within their communal lounge and Chaisly Trust in Eastbourne accesses 
activities as part of a varied activity programme. 

Continue to work with Resident and Community Associations to 
support consultation and engagement activities, to further support 
to development of activities which are accessible to those less 
likely to engage with physical activity. 

Number of events. 3 8 

Number of engagements 30 163 

Total number of attendances 60 163 

Wave has attended consultations to engage with tenants and residents across the Lewes District, to identify areas of need and barriers to 
participation, supporting development of engaging and accessible activities across communities. 

P
age 127



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 133 of 145 

Key Priority 7 
“Provide opportunities to engage with the rural population, increasing access to activities.” 

Wave Actions Measure Target Outcome 

Continue to work with Action in rural Sussex, South Down National 
Park Authority (SDNPA), Parish Councils and Community 
Transport Lewes Area (CTLA) to rural proof provision of services 
by identifying barriers to accessing services and creating 
opportunities for participation in regular activity. 

Number of activities provided 10 3 

Number of people 54 59 

Total number of attendances 543 1,034 

Wave continues to deliver weekly Strength and Balance classes, targeting those at risk of falls in 3 rural communities; 

• Rodmell Village Hall has 201 attendances, an increase of 15% on previous year.

• Firle Village Hall has 214 attendances, an increase of 9% on previous year.

• Wivelsfield Village Hall has 627 attendances an increase of 41% on previous year.

P
age 128



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 134 of 145 

Figure 4: Outcome 2 - Improving Accessibility and Social Inclusion 

Key Priority 1 
“Ensuring activities are accessible by the whole community but working particularly with people and families on a low income, ensuring that 
activities are provided in such a way to meet the needs of specific groups within the community.” 

Wave Actions Measure Target Outcome 

Continue to work with partner organisations to expand the range 
of accessible activities available for disabled people. 

Number of targeted activities provided. 26 55 

Number of people engaged (supported 
access) 

171 182 

Total number of attendances across all 
activities by disabled people. 

13,240 14,351 

Beyond the Para Games, Wave has continued to expand and develop provision which is accessible or targeted for the participation of 
people with special educational needs and disabilities.  

Community and Health Improvement Team 

• SEND Activities Children and Young People: 632 attendances.

• SEND Family Fund Day: 29 attendances

• SEND Activities Adults: 96 attendances
Partners 

• Seaford Downs Syndrome Special Needs Group (SDSSNG) – Seaford 95 attendances (Play), 315 attendances (Swimming)
Newhaven 3,040: attendances (Swimming)

• Down Syndrome Development Trust 480 attendances (Sport and Activities)

• Kurling 960 attendances (based on attendance of 20 per week)
Sites 

• Downs Leisure Centre and Seaford Head Swimming Pool: 2,082 attendances (Sport, Gym, Swim, Class, Soft Play)

• Lewes Leisure Centre and Ringmer Swimming Pool: 4,747 attendances (Sport, Gym, Swim, Class, Soft Play)

• Peacehaven Leisure Centre: 215 attendances (Sport, Gym, Swim, Class, Soft Play)

• Seahaven Swim and Fitness Centre: 1,675 attendances (Swim, Gym)

Wave continue to develop and introduce new SEND supportive access sessions for Children and Yong People, as well as adults. The 
introduction to these new sessions has supported the increase in access to activity for those with a disability or SEND need by 5%. 

Continue to develop and expand on the activities available which 
are mixed activities at low or no cost, specifically engaging 
children and young people with additional education needs such 

Number of sessions delivered. 72 91 

Number of people 39 149 

P
age 129



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 135 of 145 

as Autism and Asperger’s, their sibling and parents or carers to 
access regular activity. 

Total number of attendances. 660 632 

%age of participants reporting they are 
engaging in a new regualr activity. 

38% 40% 

During this reporting year, Wave appointed a new Commuity and Activiites Coordinator, with a particular focus on developing initiatives 
which support engagegement from those with SEND.  

More opportunities are now available with Wave for children and young people needing additional support to participate and have resulted 
in an increase of individuals accessing activity by 45% on previous year. 

To further develop and deliver low or no cost access to Holiday 
Schemes, specifically targeting those in low income households. 

Number of attendances 3,233 3,228 

Targeted and low cost holiday activities have continued to be provided across Lewes District to enable free or low cost access for those 
who would otherwise not be able to participate, resulting in an increase of 30% attendnace in targeted holiday activities. 

To continue to provide the Para Games, in active partnership, at 
Downs Leisure Centre, providing competitive opportunities for 
people with disabilities to engage in activities. 

Number of participants. 30 29 

%age of participants reporting engaging 
in further activity. 

45% 63% 

Wave held its 7th Seahaven Para Games in 2018. 29 participants took part in a variety of activities which included basketball, boccia, 
football, new age kurling, table tennis and the wheelchair slalom. The event was held at the Downs Leisure Centre and was supported by 
partners including; Seaford Rotary Club, Sainsburys, Fitzroy House, Active Sussex, CTLA. Volunteers included Seaford Kurlers and Wave 
Volunteers. 

In addition, a SEND Family Funday has also been delivered at Downs Leisure Centre, enabling 29 participants to try new activities and 
identifying 50% as transferring into further activity with Wave. 

P
age 130



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 136 of 145 

Key Priority 2 
“Working with partners to identify appropriate funding to support sessions and activities that could be offered free to users at the point of 
delivery as a means of overcoming lack of income as a barrier to participation.” 

Wave Actions Measure Target Outcome 

Continue to work in partnership with key stakeholders to develop 
targeted programmes designed to encourage greater levels of 
physical activity by individuals and groups of people for whom lack 
of income is a barrier to participation. 

Number of delivery partners 30 72 

Wave continues to develop partnerships which support engagement for positive health and wellbeing, to include local sports clubs to 
diversify offering, specialist support organisation particularly therapeutic, to support mental and emotional wellbeing and alternative activity 
providers such as arts and crafts to be able to develop other interests for participants, as an introduction to activity. 

Identify and apply for funding to support activity diversification and 
delivery 

Number of funds applied for. 12 18 

Number of successful applications 6 9 

Excluding commissioned services and tendering, 9 grants have been successfully applied for to support targeted delivery. 

Continue to provide and promote the “Wave Leisure Trust 
Community Fund” to enable individuals and groups to obtain 
funding to support activity. 

“Wave Leisure Community Trust Fund” 
provided and funds distributed. 

£3,000 £3,000 

A Community Fund of £3,000 per annum provides funding to individuals, clubs or organisations which meet certain criteria.  Advertised in all 
Wave managed facilities, and on the Wave website, the fund received 18 applications, of which, 10 this year were successful. 

Continue to work with local Councils to provide Summer Holiday 
Schemes at low or no cost to those where income is a barrier to 
participation. 

Number of Council’s participating. 4 3 

Number of Holiday Schemes. 4 4 

Total number of attendances 4,150 2,479 

Newhaven, Telscombe and Peacehaven Councils, continue to support the delivery of activities for children and young people, including 
holiday activities enabling funded places, reduced cost and a diversified offer for activities locally. 

Continue to offer a wide range of discounted and subsidised rates 
across the product range to encourage participation. 

Price list published with discounted 
rates applied. 

Completed Completed 

Wave continues to offer a wide range of discounted and subsidised rates across activities, enabling opportunitiies for participation for those 
who cost most maybe a barrier. 

Continue to work with Active Sussex to support access for young 
people and young adults at low or no cost. 

Number of funded programmes. 7 4 

Total number of participants. 200 179 

Active Sussex have supported Satalite Clubs, delivering weekly sport and physical activity opportunities. Courses have included SEND 
students at Eastbourne College, Girls Can Club at Seahaven Academy and drop in fitness sessions at Peacehaven. 

P
age 131



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 137 of 145 

Working with partners, develop resources which provide 
information and instructions to participate in free to access 
activities, to include instructional and ideas. 

Number of seperate activity topic 
resources created. 

4 8 

Take away work sheets and information resources have been developed for schools and outside sessions, enabling individuals to continue 
to participate in activity without the need of an instructor or sports coach. Activities have included work out programmes for outdoor gyms, 
orienteering fact sheets, fun family games and resources for walking the Saouth Down National Park. 

P
age 132



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 138 of 145 

Key Priority 3 
“Promote opportunities for workforce development to encourage training and skills development for individual staff.” 

Wave Actions Measure Target Outcome 

Work in partnership with Albion in the Community and Swim UK to 
implement the Apprenticeship Scheme with a target of providing 8 
placements each year. 

Number of placements. 8 8 

Average number of participants moving 
into permanent employment. 

80% 80% 

Wave’s partnership with Albion in the Community continues to provide employment opportunities with 80% of those completing obtaining a 
full time role within Wave. 

Provide placements on the Aspiring Managers programme to 
ensure Wave has a robust succession plan which will guarantee 
the continued and uninterrupted expected service delivery 
standards and provide career enhancement and progression 
opportunities to the staff. 

All statutory training requirements 
achieved. 

100% 100% 

No of placements. 5 0 

No course was provided for Aspiring Managers this year.  A Business Development Programme and Aspiring Managers programme are 
schedule to commence in July and September 2019. 

Provide specific training and qualification opportunities for all 
contracted staff. 

Number of participants graduating. 100% 100% 

Training and qualification requirements are broken down by job function and stored on a central training matrix.  The matrix ensures 100% 
compliance with statutory training requirements and identifies development opportunities to all levels of staff through a broad range of 
activities: classroom training, Apprenticeships, coaching, in house development programmes. 

Capture data in all key areas to inform and guide the ongoing 
development of HR Strategy. 

Key areas. 6 6 

%age of key areas captured. 100% 100% 

The six key areas reflect a broad range of measuresments and have been selected as they provide data on areas that need specific 
monitoring to ensure that staff are fully engaged and motivated. 

Continue to provide opportunities for Volunteers and ensure that 
they feel valued and part of the Wave Team. 

Number of volunteers. 74 96 

Number of volunteer events. 2 2 

Volunteers are a valued part of Wave and have increased by 12.5% on previous year. Volunteer roles include providing peer support for 
participants, engagement opportunities in activity, as well as support within other areas of the business.  

P
age 133



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 139 of 145 

Key Priority 4 
“Explore opportunities to increase non-centre based activity to further reduce access barriers and to encourage participation from current non-
users.” 

Wave Actions Measure Target Outcome 

Deliver activities in community settings, targeting people who 
have no access or currently do not access centres. 

Number of activities delivered in 
community settings. 

20 22 

Number of people engaged 374 505 

Total number of attendances 7,480 8,310 

Delivering out of centre and in community settings, the community and health improvement team have identified 3,180 attendances in 
activity away from Wave facilities. 

Improved reporting and data capture have enabled better recording of activity and excludes 5,130 attendances in drop in lunch time 
activities at local primary schools where it is more difficult to identify those who are unable to access a Wave facility. 

Continue to work with Schools to provide a range of; breakfast, 
lunch and after school clubs within schools and outdoor play 
areas. 

Number of clubs. 31 99 

Number of people 413 824 

Total number of attendances 4,325 8,588 

Delivery with schools includes curricular delivery, such as orienteering for Geography and Active Science sessions exploring the 
environment as well as the affects of activity on physiology. 

Working with primary, secondary and tertiary settings has enabled greater opportunities for children and young people to be active and 
experience new activities which otherwise may not be available. 

Seek to develop further activity programmes in or accessible to 
residential care settings (such as warden controlled, care and rest 
homes). 

Number of residential care settings 
engaged 

5 4 

Number of activities delivered in a 
residential setting 

20 12 

Number of people engaged 40 33 

Total number of attendances 149 95 

The Community and Health Improvement Team have been working with 4 residential care home setting, where activities and support are 
provided for residents. 

P
age 134



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 140 of 145 

Parris Lawns in Ringmer and Alfriston Court, near Seaford, are both residential nursing and care homes with residents who have multiple 
conditions, including dementia. With in each setting social sports and activities are provided enabling wider engagement and participation in 
physical activity. 

Currently at Parris Lawns activity is provided twice weekly, to include strength and balance sessions to support falls prevention. At alfriston 
a seekly session of seated sport is provided to enable greater movement of residents who are lesss active or able to participate. 

In addition 2 residential home for younger adults with physical disabilites and learning needs have been engaged in seated sports and 
activities. Webb House in Newhaven received weekly sessions within their communal lounge and Chaisly Trust in Eastbourne accesses 
even activities as part of a varied activity programme. 

Work with CTLA to address transport as an identified barrier for 
individuals to participate in regular activity, where an activity is 
centre based. 

Number of centres offering journey 
plans for participation in session. 

All All 

As part of condition based and supported access delivery, participants are supported to access transport and journey plans. 

P
age 135



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 141 of 145 

Key Priority 5 
“To assist Lewes District Council with undertaking ongoing equalities assessments and monitoring.” 

Wave Actions Measure Target Outcome 

Co-operate fully with LDC regarding any required Equalities 
Assessments and Monitoring. 

Number of assessments. 100% 
Completed 

100% 

Not requested 

P
age 136



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 142 of 145 

Figure 5: Outcome 3 - Reducing Environmental Impact 

Key Priority 1 
“Continue to look for opportunities to increase recycling for customers and staff wherever possible.” 

Wave Actions Measure Target Outcome 

Wave will continue to provide recycling facilities for Wave staff to 
re-cycle paper, cardboard, plastic bottles and printer and 
photocopier cartridges. 

Number of paper recycling bins across 
Wave. 

15 15 

Number of plastic recycling bins across 
Wave 

8 8 

Number of cardboard recycling bins 
across Wave 

5 5 

Number of printer and photocopier 
cartridge recycling bins. 

4 4 

Rating result at each site from internal 
audit. 

Satisfactory 3 x 
Satisfactory, 
1 x Good 

Investigate opportunities for food waste 
recycling at cafe outlets. 

2 sites Investigated 
but no 
service yet 

Rating result from external audit. Conforming Conforming 

All facilities are audited for effectiveness each year as part of Wave’s Internal Environmental Audits programme and annual external audits 
conducted by SAI Global. 

Mixed recycling collections have now replaced specific ones (paper, cardboard and plastics individual bins) across all sites, including for 
customers to re-cycle plastic bottles. 

A food waste collection service is currently unavailable. 

P
age 137



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 143 of 145 

Key Priority 2 
“When planning future investment with the Council, identify opportunities to reduce energy usage and help to reduce CO2 emissions. When 
replacing plant and equipment, cleaner and energy efficient technology should be considered that will help to generate future efficiency 
savings.” 

Wave Actions Measure Target Outcome 

Ensure that all works consider “Green” factors including efficiency, 
CO2 emissions, and up to date technology. 

“Green factors” to be included as a 
standing agenda item on all pre-works 
meeting agendas. 

100% 100% 

“Green” factors to be identified and 
implemented or explained why 
unachievable. 

100% 100% 

When replacing current lighting with new LED lights, all old parts were disposed of appropriately. 

In partnership with LDC, investigate energy efficient plant and 
equipment options. Where possible Wave will obtain grants and/or 
loans to install more energy efficient equipment and plant. 

Number of more energy efficient plant 
and equipment options identified. 

3 3 

Number of more energy efficient plant 
and equipment options implemented. 

1 3 

Number of grants identified. 1 0 

Replacement of existing lighting with more efficient LED lighting was identified at Peacehaven Leisure Centre, Lewes Leisure Centre and 
Seaford Head Pool, which will reduce the amount of electricity used. This has been completed at Peacehaven and Seaford Head, with 
Lewes due to be completed early in the new financial year. 

Aerating showers were installed at Lewes Leisure Centre in August 2018 and have resulted in a reduction in water used, plus an associated 
reduction in the gas required to hear the water. 

No grant funding opportunities were identified. 

Closely monitor energy use through its half-hourly Automatic 
Meter Readings (AMR’s) to ensure sound performance 
monitoring. 

Energy measured via half-hourly 
automatic meter readings (AMRS). 

100% 100% 

Energy performance to be reported 
within the CEO’s quarterly and annual 
reports. 

100% 100% 

AMR’s enable Wave to closely monitor it’s energy consumption. They are used for monitoring gas at Lewes Leisure Centre and Seahaven 
Swim and Fitness Centre, and for monitoring electricity at all the sites. 

P
age 138



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 144 of 145 

Continue the accreditation to the “Social Enterprise Mark” which 
demonstrates ongoing commitment to people and plant. 

“Social Enterprise Mark” Retained Retained 

Wave has held the Social Enterprise Mark (SEM) for four years now. Wave retained the Social Enterprise Mark accreditation in May 2018, 
with the renewal submission being classed as excellent by SEM. The next renewal is due in May 2019. 

Maintain standards in line with ISO 14001. Maintenance of ISO 14001 registration. Registration Retained 

Wave has held the ISO 14001 certification since 2010. In January 2018 Wave successfully passed the new ISO standard, which is noted as 
ISO 14001:2015, and subsequently successfully passed the annual certification audit in January 2019. 

P
age 139



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 145 of 145 

Page 140



Annual Service Delivery Plan 2018/2019 
Appendix 1 

 

Page 27 of 39 
 

 
 
 

Wave Leisure Trust 

Newhaven Fort Annual Service 
Delivery Plan 2018/2019 

“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Appendix B

Page 141



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 28 of 39 
 

  

Page 142



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 29 of 39 
 

  

 
 
Contents 
Annual Service Delivery Plan (2018/2019)………….....................................................................................31 

 
 
 
Table of Figures 
Figure 1: Outcome 1 - Experience ................................................................................................................ 32 
Figure 2: Outcome 2 - Education .................................................................................................................. 34 
Figure 3: Outcome 3 - Events ....................................................................................................................... 36 

 
  

Page 143



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 30 of 39 
 

 
  

Page 144



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 31 of 39 
 

Background 
On an annual basis Lewes District Council (LDC) is required to furnish Wave Leisure Trust Ltd (Wave) with 
an “Annual Service Statement” that provides the Trust with a framework to produce an Annual Service 
Delivery Plan. 
 
On 1st May 2015 Wave was granted operational management responsibility for the Newhaven Fort. This 
plan sets out the key actions that Wave will focus on for the 2018/19 financial year.  
 
The Fort procurement exercise focused on four core outcomes, namely: 

1. Enhance the regeneration opportunities in Newhaven by increasing the number of visitors to 
Newhaven Fort and generating local job opportunities. 

2. Maintain and grow the heritage and educational potential of Newhaven Fort in a way which is 
accessible to the general public. 

3. Improve the current facilities on offer. 
4. Minimise the ongoing liabilities of the Council and potentially produce a revenue stream for the 

Council.  
 

Annual Service Delivery Plan (2018/19) 
In order to achieve the four LDC outcomes, Wave has identified three separate but interlinked areas for the 
Fort Management and Operational Team to focus on within this Plan, namely: 

1. Experience. 
2. Education. 
3. Events. 

 
The key actions in this Plan are detailed under these three headings and will, if successfully implemented, 
meet the LDC four core outcomes. To ensure consistency and a positive compound effect, several of the 
key actions are a continuation of those used in prior years. The targets are however increasing year on 
year as the Fort develops. 
 
Heritage Lottery Fund Heritage Grant 
It was anticipated that a Round 2 application would be submitted in August 2018 which was then delayed 
to November 2018. LDC however recognised through the process that the “Renaissance Project” as 
proposed, was at significant risk because of undercapitalisation. The size of the overall funding required to 
make the project successful was in reality, greater than the resources currently on offer. Therefore, rather 
than push ahead with an undercapitalised and potentially compromised project that may well fail to achieve 
‘take off velocity,’ LDC decided to defer a Round 2 HLF submission. 
 
LDC, Wave and other partners need to create a more robust and holistic solution for the Fort during 2019 
and assess the long-term viability of the Fort as part of the cultural and visitor economy of Newhaven and 
Lewes District as a whole. 

  

Page 145



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 32 of 39 
 

Figure 1: Outcome 1 - Experience 
LDC Key Priority 1 
“To improve the overall visitor experience at the Fort, making it a great destination for all the family and one which encourages repeat visits” 
 

Wave Action Measure Target Outcome 
Deploy visitor feedback/satisfaction system to track 
experience and identify areas for improvement. 

System deployed with at least 350 responses received. 350 186 surveys 
completed  

Visitor feedback has been consistently monitored although completion rates did not reach target. 
 
Measure the percentage of visitors rating their visit as 
“good” or “excellent”. 

Percentage of visitors rating their visit as good or 
excellent 

80% 89% 

89% or respondants rated their visit as good or excellent. 
 
Achieve positive Trip Advisor ratings from visitors. Rating of minimum of 4 out of 5 stars from 2018/19 

respondents. 
4.0 stars or 
above 

92% 4 star or 
above 

Total 39 reviews, 25 5 stars, 11 4 stars, 2 2 stars, 1 1 star. 
 
Continue with new Season Ticket pricing strategy based 
on less than 2 visits per year to encourage sales.  

Increase season ticket holders by 5% from 2017/18 
numbers. (Target based on 17/18 year end forecast) 

290 252 

252 live season tickets as of 31/03/19. Although this is under target, family ticket sales were significantly over target. (below). It is therefore possible that 
visitors are picking the family ticket option over the season ticket option. 

Increase the number of family visits through the 
implementation of a stimulating and vibrant programme 
of activities and targeted promotions. 

Family ticket sales increase by 5% from 2017/18 levels. 
(Target based on 17/18 year end forecast) 

4,650 5,720 

5720 family visits recorded which is very positive. This may be due to a more family focussed approach to the Fort marketing.  
 
Promote the benefits of Gift Aid on season 
tickets/admissions to maximise revenue from each UK 
Taxpayer visit. 

Amount of Gift Aid recovered from HMRC. £6,000 £3,335 

Gift Aid uptake has not met target. It’s possible that persuading visitors to pay the additional gift aid charge at a time of austerity is a challenging ask. 
 
 
Implement measures in Tea Rooms such as menu 
development, special offers, to encourage greater usage 
and spend per head 

Spend per head achieved (target based on 5% 
increase of 2017/18 actual). 

£2.10 £2.17 

Active development of Tea room has been the responsibility of the Catering Manager with support from Fort staff. This has been managed through menu 
review, bespoke event offers and development of customer experience through monitoring of standards. 
. 

P
age 146



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 33 of 39 
 

Implement measures in the Shop such as improved 
displays, new product ranges, promotional pricing, to 
encourage greater sales and spend per head. 

Spend per head achieved (target based on 2% 
increase of 2017/18 actual). 

£0.85 £0.75 

Despite active development of shop and sales through POS refresh and new product ranges the target has not been met. In line with broader spending 
patterns across the UK, this may be in part due to consumer preference for online shopping. 
 
Through improved marketing and promotion, increase 
the visitor sales.  

Spend per head achieved (target based on 5% 
increase of 2017/18 actual). 

£4.20 £4.12 

Visitor spend per head has not achieved target. This will be due to decreased ticket sales. 
 
Design and implement new Quiz Trails to enhance the 
fun/learning and engagement by young people.  

Percentage of visitor feedback as good or excellent. 80% N/A 

Feedback on this particular area is not specifically sought but the Barrack Rat trails were designed and launched in the summer holidays. Additionally, 
seasonal trails were launched at Easter and Halloween as well as a world cup challenge whilst the world cup was on. All initiatives were well attended, 
and ‘soft’ feedback was very positive 
 
HLF Heritage Grant Round 2 application to be 
completed and submitted 

Application submitted by August 2018 deadline August 2018 N/A 

As highlighted on page 5, the HLF Grant is currently on hold. 
 

 
  

P
age 147



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 34 of 39 
 

Figure 2: Outcome 2 - Education 
LDC Key Priority 2 
“To ensure that the educational offer for schools is current, relevant and one which children will find interesting and fun.” 
 
LDC Key Priority 3  
“To ensure that the exhibits and displays are well presented to maximise their educational value.” 
 

Wave Action Measure Target Outcome 
In 2017, Educational Consultants (“Heritec”) were 
appointed, funded as part of the HLF Transition Fund 
bid to review all aspects of the educational offer and 
recommend new activities for implementation. This 
work included the implementation of a promotional 
campaign to attract more schools which commenced in 
the spring of 2017 and remains ongoing. 

Maintain alignment to Heritec’s review work and 
resulting action plan and enhance where appropriate 
to ensure the programme remains current, relevant 
and one which children will find interesting and fun. 

100% 100% 

Heritec review and affiliated action plan has been referenced when planning has been undertaken for programming changes and developments. 
 
Increase the number of school pupil visits from 2017/18. School pupil visits to increase (target based on 5% 

increase from 2017/18 forecast at year end) 
5,682 5,026 

4872 primary students, 154 secondary students. 
 
Increase the number of schools that visit the Fort. Schools visits to increase (target based on 5% 

increase from 2017/18 forecast at year end) 
125 124 

88 primary schools 
33 language groups 
3 Secondary schools  
Implement a tracking system that allows simple analysis 
of visiting schools. 

System to monitor key metrics such as; Local 
Education Authority, number of children, year group 
and purpose of visit.  

100% 100% 

All school and language school visits from 2018/19 are logged and recorded 
 
Design and prepare updated pre-and post-visit 
resources for primary school visits covering WW1 and 
WW2.  

Resources developed with good feedback received 
from schools on relevance to national curriculum. 

100% 100% 

A range of pre and post visit materials and resources remain available all year including over the summer months via the Fort website in time for the 
September term. Schools can download all the resources they require to ensure their learning outcomes are delivered. 
 
Further develop the “Handling Box” experience to 
enable more than one school to visit concurrently. 

To develop 3 more “Handling Boxes” with 
artefacts/props from WW2/Home Front. 

100% 100% 

P
age 148



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 35 of 39 
 

There are a total of 6 boxes so the Fort can offer two schools the experience at any one time. 
Some limitations to the offer exist in terms of spaces to do it in and technology to support it (currently only one laptop and projector) 
 
Provide a range of exhibits/objects on a “Hands-On 
Table” for Fort visitors with interpretation provided from 
staff/volunteers. 

Hands-On Table available every day of public 
opening.  

266 days 266 days 

Operated every weekend and school holiday day. In addition, this is offered most weekdays in term time 
 
Implement a school visit ‘offer’ for the new Ancient 
History Education Centre. 

To attract minimum 10 primary schools (c.300 
children) to visit the new resource and using their 
feedback to make improvements to the visit/learning 
outcomes.  

10 schools 
300 children 

Delayed 

There has been some delay in rolling this out, but 2019 bookings are already in the diary. Ancient History package now compete and ready for launch. 
 
Recruit volunteers with education experience to assist 
with education visitors. 

Number of volunteers recruited and used on school’s 
programme.  

2  2 

Recruitment for volunteers in this area has not been necessary as enough resource currently exists. 
 
Increase number visits by international/foreign language 
students by 5%. 

Number of international students to increase (target 
based on 5% increase from 2017/18 forecast at year 
end) 

1,350 1,314 

1,314 language students visited. Although only just below target, some reports indicate that the volume of international students coming to the UK is in 
decline. 
 
Using the MODES software, to catalogue the Fort 
exhibits. 

To have at least 75% of the Fort’s exhibits catalogued 
on MODES (c.15,000 exhibits). 

11,250 11,250 

All the exhibits are catalogued on MODES and are being reviewed and updated individually by the Collections Manager and a team of volunteers.  

 
  

P
age 149



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 36 of 39 
 

Figure 3: Outcome 3 – Events 
LDC Key Priority 4 
“To provide and promote a wide range of appealing events to attract more visits.”  

Wave Action Measure Target Outcome 
Develop an events Marketing Strategy for 2018 to clearly 
identify the approach to external communications with 
existing and potential customers. 

Marketing Strategy developed and implemented. 100% 100% 

Worked in partnership with Flamingo Marketing who produced the marketing plan and materials until the end of 2018 season. 
 
 

1. Promote a wide number of appealing events. 
 
(All targets based on 5% increase from 2017/18 forecast 
at year end) 
 

Internal (Fort organised) 12 8 

External hire 7 10 

Partnership (Fort/Partner Collaboration) 7 16 

Internal - Talks in the tea room, 1940s day 
 
External - Fort Process, Newhaven Families Forum Fun day, 7 paranormal investigations 
 
Partnership - Belonging Festival, 2 x cinema screenings, Meeching Amateur Dramatics Music Hall shows, 6 x Ghost Walk, 2 x car shows, 2 x Living 
History events, WW1 Remembrance Bike Ride, Beacon lighting 
 
Whilst internal events were down on target, it is encouraging that both external hire and partnership events exceeded target. 
 

2. Increase attendance at events 
 
(All targets based on 5% increase from 2017/18 forecast 
at year end) 

Internal (Fort organised) 800 362 

External hire 1,900 1,220 

Partnership (Fort/Partner Collaboration) 600 3,226 

3. Achieve income target for events.  Target achieved (target based on 5% increase from 
2017/18 forecast at year end). 

£16,800 
 

£15,353 

 
In line with the number of partnership events, income exceeded expenditure. Unfortunately, under performance in the other two categories means that 
overall total was below target. 
 
 
During October half term, promote Halloween activities to 
attract family visitors. 

Increase income generated over the 9 days of half 
term by 5% above 2017 actual.  

£18,342  £18,534 

The Halloween event at the Fort was once again popular and exceeded target. 

P
age 150



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 37 of 39 
 

Promote a Christmas Market and Santa Claus experience 
to attract visitors and revenue at a time the Fort is 
normally closed to the public.  

Visitor number target achieved.  800 0 

This event was run at a loss in 17/18 and, therefore did not go ahead in 18/19. 
 
Promote the Fort as a venue for Paranormal 
adventures/ghost hunts. 

Increase number of bookings from 2017 by 10% 9 7 

9 booked but 2 cancelled by the organisers for internal reasons. 
 
Actively market the Fort as a wedding venue. Number of wedding bookings secured. 

 
3 3 

3 weddings took place during summer of 2018. 
 
Promote “Talks in the Tea Rooms” to engage and 
entertain. 

Number delivered. 6 6 

6 talks delivered – 65 tickets sold. 
 

 
  

P
age 151



Wave Leisure Trust 
“Inspiring Active Lifestyles” 

Page 38 of 39 
 

 

P
age 152



Report to: Cabinet

Date: 16 September 2019

Title: Newhaven Fort

Report of: Ian Fitzpatrick, Director of Regeneration and Planning

Cabinet member: Councillor Ruth O’Keeffe, Cabinet member for tourism and 
devolution

Ward(s): Newhaven South

Purpose of report: For Cabinet to note the issues regarding the existing Fort 
bridge and agree that funds be set aside for its replacement 
from the Council’s capital programme.

Decision type: Key

Officer 
recommendation(s):

(1) To note the existing condition of the Fort bridge.
(2) To approve that up to £350,000 be allocated from the 

Council’s capital programme and ring-fenced to meet 
the cost of replacement.

Reasons for 
recommendations:

Newhaven Fort bridge requires replacement at the earliest 
opportunity. 

Contact Officer(s): Name: Mark Langridge-Kemp
Post title: Head of Property, Delivery and Compliance
E-mail: mark.langridge-kemp@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01323 415876

1 Introduction

1.1

1.2

Newhaven Fort was built in 1871 and decommissioned in the 1960’s, it is a 
Scheduled Ancient Monument situated on the cliffs overlooking Seaford Bay. 
The Fort was run as a tourist attraction briefly in the early 1980’s before the 
owner went out of business and in 1988 the property passed to the Council. 

Since 2015 the property has been part of a management agreement with Wave 
Leisure Trust (WLT), the Council pays WLT £104,200 per annum for the 
agreement which ends in May 2025. It was entered into as a means of 
increasing visitor numbers and reducing the burden of property repairs on the 
Council. Under Wave’s management, visitor numbers for 2018-19 increased by 
1.5% from the previous year to 30,720 people, annual income stood at 
£322,923, down from £335,141 the previous year. WLT’s costs were £290,752 
(employees, premises related and supplies and services) resulting in a surplus 
of £32,171. 

Page 153

Agenda Item 14



1.3

1.4

1.5

The property has received minimal investment from the Council for some time. A 
number of the gun emplacements have been fenced off from members of the 
public in order to ensure continued public safety, and other urgent repairs issues 
are being managed. 

There is an immediate issue with regards to the stability of the bridge into the 
Fort that now requires attention. The bridge was identified as needing 
replacement in 2014 and designs for a new moat bridge were incorporated 
within a Scheduled Ancient Monument consent application, for which consent 
was granted. Installation of the bridge did not occur following the granting of 
consent, presumably due to costs, and the bridge has been propped up ever 
since.

It has now been 5 years since replacement of the bridge was recommended and 
there is no longer an option to delay decision due to the continued deterioration 
of the structure. Urgent additional propping has already been installed recently 
as a temporary measure in order to ensure that the bridge is safe for users and 
residents of Fort Rise who have to pass underneath the bridge in order to 
access their private garages. 

2

2.1

Proposal

A number of options have been explored.

• Do nothing – this is no longer a viable option as the structure of the 
bridge is in serious decline. The cost of the additional propping recently 
installed is around £2500 per week and this solution has a limited 3-5 
years lifespan.

• Remove the bridge – this would not be permitted by Heritage England 
without a new structure going in place due to the property being 
designated a Scheduled Ancient Monument.

• Repair the bridge – the bridge was declared ‘beyond economical repair’ 
in 2014. Costs for repair are likely to be at least £160,000, with a 5-10 
year life expectancy. However, this option comes with a lot of uncertainty 
as there are a number of unknowns and therefore there is considerable 
risk that the required budget would increase.

• Over-bridge could be installed. This would involve a new bridge being 
placed over the existing structure. The cost of this is likely to be at least 
£100k for the new over-bridge including costs for temporary light-weight 
propping and annual monitoring of the existing bridge, which would 
remain in situ with a 5-10 years life expectancy. 

• New bridge –50-60 year life expectancy and costs are likely to be £300k-
£350k. Officers would of course work to reduce costs wherever possible. 

Having taken into account the various options, it is proposed that renewal of the 
bridge be undertaken. Cabinet is asked to authorise up to £350,000 from the 

Page 154



2.2

Council’s capital programme for these works. Although this is the most 
expensive initial outlay, it is the most cost-effective solution long-term and would 
provide a permanent solution. Any other solution would just be delaying the 
inevitable.

Through Wave’s event programming, the site is being used for history based 
talks, family events (festival, pirate fun day, outdoor cinema and spooky 
experiences) and special interest events (ghost walks and ghost hunting, classic 
car shows, service of remembrance and beacon lighting events). In order to 
increase visitor numbers and income generation, further investment will be 
needed in the future to improve the visitor experience and expand the offer, this 
could include virtual reality elements and guided tours, however, there are no 
budgets currently set aside for this expenditure. 

3.

3.1

3.2

Corporate plan and council policies 

This proposal supports the corporate plan policy of ‘Prosperous Economy’. 
Visitor numbers to the Fort have increased and over 89% of visitors rate their 
experience as excellent or good. It has a 4.5 star TripAdvisor rating and has 
been awarded a ‘Certificate of Excellence’. The Fort has undoubtedly 
encouraged visitors to Newhaven who may not otherwise have visited the town. 
The extent to which visitors may have spent additional funds in the town is 
unclear though.

In line with the Corporate Plan and Corporate Asset Management Plan priorities,  
a review of further opportunities for how best to secure long term future of Fort 
will be explored by officers.

4.

4.1

4.2

4.3

Financial appraisal

The existing revenue cost of £2,500 per week or £130k per annum is not 
considered sustainable.  There is a sound financial case for a longterm solution 
and the capital work to take place.  The Council’s exsting Capital Programme 
has sufficient budgetary provision to fund the replacement of the Newhaven Fort 
access bridge. 

Additionaly, there is a risk that debris from the bridge could cause damage to 3rd 
parties- either injuries to pedestrians or motor vehicles accessing the garages.

Assuming the recommendations set out in this report are accepted, the work 
should proceed apace. 

5.

5.1

Legal implications

Legal advice will be taken as the proposals are developed.  

23 August 2019 Ref: 008504-LDC-MR

6.

6.1

Risk management implications

There are risks in not proceeding with the recommended option of renewal of the 

Page 155



bridge. An interim repair option could be explored, however, this in itself comes 
with risks as identified within the report. 

7

7.1

Equality analysis

An equality analysis has been undertaken and has not identified any equality 
impacts.

8 Appendices

None

9. Background papers

None

Page 156



Report to: Cabinet

Date: 16 September 2019

Title: Affordable Workspace Review

Report of: Ian Fitzpatrick, Director of Regeneration and Planning

Cabinet member: Councillor James MacCleary, Cabinet member for 
regeneration and prosperity 

Ward(s): All

Purpose of report: To present the findings and recommendations of the 
Scrutiny Panel Review into the need for affordable 
workspace across the Lewes District

Decision type: Key

Officer 
recommendation(s):

(1) To allocate £10,000 to explore the feasibility of 
Meanwhile Use Leases for the temporary use of Council 
assets, subject to statutory, legislative and building 
constraints.

(2) To formally adopt the South East Creative Economy 
Network’s (SECEN) approach to defining affordable 
workspace.

(3) To commit to exploring the potential to facilitate the 
development of new, affordable ‘open workspace within 
Lewes District.

(4) To note that the Council’s Regeneration service 
continues to work closely with Locate East Sussex and 
other partner agencies to ensure they continue to 
collaborate effectively with South East Creative Cultural and 
Digital Support (SECCADS) and the creative sector.

(5) That Cabinet adopts a position statement formalising the 
Council’s commitment to supporting the growth of creative 
industries.

(6) To commit all services across the Council to raising 
awareness of available business support provision across 
Lewes District.

Page 157

Agenda Item 15



Reasons for 
recommendations:

(1) To re-affirm the Council’s commitment to Growth and 
Prosperity, with specific reference to the local creative 
sector.

(2) To build upon the extensive strategic collaborative work 
already underway by SECEN and SECCADS within the 
SELEP area, which the Council is committed to supporting 
and working with. This is with a view to addressing barriers 
for creative industries, including the shortage of appropriate 
workspace, and specialist business support / advice.

(3) To recognise that Meanwhile Use Leases can offer 
benefits to both the Council and the local economy, but that 
such uses may have an opportunity cost attached should 
higher value uses come forward.

(4) To ensure that existing external agencies and partners 
are aware of the needs of all aspects of the district’s diverse 
economy to ensure the Council can support delivery of 
commercial property solutions for the creative sector.

Contact Officer(s): Name: Peter Sharp
Post title: Head of Regeneration
E-mail: peter.sharp@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01273 085044

1 Introduction

1.1 In January 2018, a Scrutiny Panel was formed to better understand how the 
Council could meet the demand for low-cost and affordable workspace for small 
and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) in the district, with a particular focus on 
support for creative industries. The Panel comprised Councillors Carter (Chair), 
Adeniji, Ient and O’Keeffe (later resigned), with support from Officers from the 
Regeneration service.

1.2 The Review was undertaken in response to the large concentration of SME’s – 
as well as micro1 businesses – in the local economy, as well as the limited 
availability of affordable workspace. The Review also assessed Best Practice 
examples from other areas to consider how the Council could better support the 
local creative economy.

1.3 At outset, the Scrutiny Panel agreed upon three objectives to review:

1. How can Lewes District Council engage and influence the South East 
Creative Economy Network (SECEN) and other strategic partnerships to 
support the development of affordable workspace?

2. What can Lewes District Council do better to support creative 
businesses?

1 A micro business is classed as having 0-9 employees.

Page 158



3. How effective are the commercial property databases, and the Locate 
East Sussex service, in searching for affordable and creative workspace.

1.4 The Scrutiny Panel had three focused meetings which included key local 
stakeholders. Officers from the Regeneration service also held discussions with 
nominated institutions that were unable to attend a Panel meeting. These 
meetings were supplemented by three anonymous online surveys that were 
targeted at:

 Creative businesses
 Affordable, open and creative workspace providers
 Networks and organisations that support local businesses.

1.5 The Affordable Workspace Review concluded with a report to Scrutiny 
Committee on 21 March 2019, where a number of recommendations were 
agreed. This is now being presented to Cabinet for approval.

What is meant by ‘Affordable Workspace’?

1.6 There are a number of different approaches and definitions for affordable 
workspace. Having reviewed a number of approaches, the Scrutiny Panel 
agreed to use the South East Creative Economy Network (SECEN) definition.

1.7 SECEN use the generic term ‘open workspace’ in line with the IPPR report2. 
Open workspace includes incubators, accelerators, co-working spaces, 
managed workspace, makerspaces and artist studios. Most users are micro 
businesses and a significant proportion are creative businesses; ‘open 
workspaces’ also bring together professionals working in other sectors, including 
biotech, business services and the charity sector.

1.8 ‘Open workspace’ is the preferred model for creative businesses because 
sharing space and resources also reduces costs. Tenants can therefore afford 
higher-grade workspace which helps to attract staff, customers and additional 
funding. 

1.9 SECEN therefore defines affordable workspace as ‘open workspace’ whereby 
most tenants are small in scale, with reduced costs achieved through sharing 
space, equipment and resources. In essence, affordable or open workspace is 
where rent / charges are below comparable local market rates.

The Local SME and Creative Economy

1.10 99.7% of businesses in the Lewes District are classed as SMEs, including micro 
businesses. This compares to 98.5% across East Sussex and the South East 
region, and 98.1% across England3.

1.11 Including all businesses, the largest sectors represented are professional, 

2 Start Me Up: The Value of Workspaces for Small Businesses, Entrepreneurs and Artists in 
London; IPPR 2016
3 Business enterprises by size of business 2018 – Data from ONS/Inter Departmental Business 
Register (accessed via East Sussex in Figures)

Page 159



scientific and technical, and construction. The breakdown of business 
enterprises by industry is shown in Appendix 1.

1.12 There is a larger concentration of creative businesses in the district than at 
county, regional or national levels. In terms of employment, Lewes District has a 
lower concentration than regionally, but above the East Sussex average. It 
should be noted that employment levels represent a low percentage of total 
employment within the district.

Figure 1: Employment in Creative Industries 2017
Lewes District East Sussex South East Region

N
o.

 o
f 

Cr
ea

tiv
e 

Jo
bs

%
 o

f A
ll 

Jo
bs

%
 o

f 
Cr

ea
tiv

e 
Jo

bs

%
 o

f A
ll 

Jo
bs

%
 o

f 
Cr

ea
tiv

e 
Jo

bs

%
 o

f A
ll 

Jo
bs

%
 o

f 
Cr

ea
tiv

e 
Jo

bs

All Creative Sectors 1,750 4.8 3.1 5.1
Advertising 150 0.4 8.0 0.2 7.5 0.5 9.0
Architecture 150 0.4 8.0 0.2 7.9 0.2 3.5
Crafts 50 0.1 2.9 0.1 2.7 0.0 0.3
Design 100 0.2 5.1 0.2 5.4 0.2 3.5
Film, TV, Video, Radio 
& Photography 100 0.2 5.1 0.2 7.9 0.3 6.5

IT, Software & 
Computer Services 500 1.5 31.4 1.1 35.4 3.1 60.0

Publishing 200 0.5 12.0 0.4 11.7 0.4 7.9
Museums, Galleries & 
Libraries 125 0.3 6.3 0.2 7.1 0.2 3.2

Music, Performing & 
Visual Arts 400 1.2 24.3 0.6 18.8 0.3 6.5

All Industries 37,000
Source: East Sussex in Figures (calculated by applying a detailed sector definition provided by DCMS)

1.13 It is clear from local surveys4 of creative practitioners that much of the sector is 
small in nature. 14.4% of businesses within the district fall within the creative 
definition, but together they account for less than 5% of all employment.

1.14 The true size of the creative sector is, however, difficult to establish. This is due 
to a high level of freelancing (many of whom are Sole Traders). Employment 
estimates should therefore be treated with some degree of caution.

2 Proposal

Objective 1: How can Lewes District Council engage and influence SECEN and 
other strategic partnerships to support the development of affordable 
workspace?

2.1 SECEN was established in 2013 and works to accelerate growth in the digital, 
creative and cultural sector across the South East Local Enterprise Partnership 
area. It is a working partnership between local authorities, creative businesses 

4 Surveys undertaken by Made in Newhaven and Lewes Phoenix Rising during 2018.

Page 160



and education bodies.

2.2 SECEN identifies barriers to growth and implements practical and scalable 
initiatives to overcome these barriers. A vision5 has been developed and SECEN 
is also developing a workspace strategy to ensure that fit-for-purpose workspace 
is available SELEP-wide to enable the scaling up and fostering of creative 
enterprise zones based on existing creative hubs.

2.3 The Council is represented on SECEN by the Strategy and Partnership Lead for 
Growth and Prosperity. As such, the Council is involved in influencing SECEN 
priorities. It should be noted that much of this work is at an early stage and it is 
not currently possible to identify the additional economic benefits of SECEN’s 
activities.

2.4 The Council is engaged with all of the relevant strategic bodies and partnerships 
that operate or have influence in the Lewes District area that relate to the 
creative industries and economic growth. A list of these bodies and partnerships 
is provided as Appendix 2. 

2.5 Lewes District falls within the boundaries of three creative clusters – Brighton, 
Crawley and Eastbourne. Partnership working is particularly important as 
creative neighbours appear to grow together, not at each other’s expense6. To 
this end, the Council continues to play a key role in partnerships such as the 
Greater Brighton Economic Board, maximising opportunities for creative sector 
growth across the district.

Objective 2: What can Lewes District Council do better to support creative 
businesses?

2.6 Working with strategic partners to support the development of affordable 
workspace is one approach to supporting creative businesses. Other key areas 
include education and skills; business support and advice; digital connectivity; 
asset management; and planning policy. These are summarised below.

2.7 Education and Skills: 

SECEN, Skills East Sussex and the Skills East Sussex Task Group for the 
Creative and Digital sector all champion education and skills for creative 
industries, including Lewes District. The Council is already engaged with all 
three of these partnerships to ensure that the local creative and digital sector is 
able to benefit from emerging initiatives in this area.

2.8 Business Support and Advice:

There is already a wide choice of business support services available to 
residents and businesses within the district. A mapping exercise identified 37 
different providers and networks, of which 13 are dedicated to supporting the 
creative industries.

5 https://www.southeastlep.com/app/uploads/SE_Prospectus_Low_Res_(1).pdf
6 The Geography of Creativity in the UK; Nesta, 2016

Page 161

https://www.southeastlep.com/app/uploads/SE_Prospectus_Low_Res_(1).pdf


2.9 The Council funds and supports a number of these services. Key projects 
include the Local Enterprise and Apprenticeship Platform (LEAP) programme, as 
well as support for the Government-funded Growth Hubs operating locally – 
Business East Sussex and the Coast to Capital Growth Hub.

2.10 It is recognised that there is a low level of awareness of some of these offers 
within the creative industries, and it is recommended that additional PR work is 
undertaken to ensure that residents and businesses are more aware of the 
existing business support and advice services.

2.11 Digital Connectivity:

The East Sussex Business Survey has identified that just over half (51%) of 
district businesses feel that broadband speeds needs improving. A range of 
work has already been undertaken and by March 2020 it is forecast7 that East 
Sussex will benefit from 99% superfast coverage.

2.12 Asset Management:

Some local authorities have used their commercial property assets to assist in 
delivering affordable / open workspace. The Scrutiny Panel heard from different 
workspace hubs in East Sussex. Key findings that contribute to successful 
affordable workspace include:

 A range of unit types and sizes that allow different businesses to grow. 
Shared facilities, networking and training are all vital. Enabling ‘easy in, 
easy out’ leases means that such workspaces are attractive to smaller 
businesses.

 There is a reliance on external funding to set-up and underwrite the initial 
loss until a commercial plan is fully realised – this is likely to take a 
number of years.

 A realistic business plan and sound governance procedures need to be in 
place.

 Tenants need business support to help them grow and become financially 
sustainable.

 The right physical location is important, both in terms of accessing 
external funding as well as attractiveness to potential tenants.

2.13 The Council has experience of setting up and running affordable workspace. It 
should also be noted that the Council has actively sought to enhance provision 
of such space, including the extension to the Newhaven Enterprise Centre that 
was completed in April 2016 with the aid of Coastal Communities Funding.

2.14 An increasing number of local authorities have used Meanwhile Use Leases to 
fill vacant assets and contribute to driving footfall and economic vitality in places. 
Such assets are typically utilised on a temporary basis ahead of future 
commercial redevelopment. Delivery approaches vary, but the Review notes that 
there is a potential opportunity cost for the Council in terms of loss of a higher –

7 eSussex – a project being led by East Sussex County Council

Page 162

http://yourleap.co.uk/
http://www.businesseastsussex.org.uk/
http://www.c2cbusiness.org.uk/
https://www.esussex.org/


value commercial use.

2.15 Planning Policy:

The Lewes District Local Plan Part 1 Joint Core Strategy 2010-2030 (Core 
Policy 4) and the emerging Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies (particularly policies DM9 and DM10) identify that the 
Council will take a flexible and supportive approach to economic development to 
provide a range of employment space to meet current and future needs, 
including support for sustainable economic growth in rural areas through the 
conversion of existing buildings.

2.16 The South Downs National Park Authority is equally supportive. The adopted 
South Downs Local Plan (Strategic Policies SD34 and SD35) supports 
development proposals which safeguard and grow jobs without compromising 
the National Park. This incorporates permitting small, flexible, start-up and 
move-on business units, including incubator uses for small and micro 
businesses.

2.17 Summary:

2.18 The Council is already active in supporting all businesses through a range of 
measures, as well as support for external partnerships to help deliver local 
economic prosperity. This includes working with local creative businesses to 
host a Natural Materials Day8, which was successfully held in July 2019.

2.19 Nonetheless, the Council needs to help increase awareness of the existing 
business support offer, as well as considering opportunities for Meanwhile Use 
Leases for empty / under-utilised Council assets.

Objective 3: How effective are the commercial property databases, and the 
Locate East Sussex service, in searching for affordable and creative 
workspace?

2.20 There are a vast number of online commercial property databases for 
businesses to search for suitable premises. This includes national providers (eg. 
Rightmove) and commercial estate agents. Locally, providers include Locate 
East Sussex, Wired Sussex, Creatives Across Sussex and the Greater Brighton 
Commercial Property Database. The Council contributes annually to the 
activities of Locate East Sussex, as well as the Greater Brighton database.

2.21 The Scrutiny Panel noted that commercial property databases are not inclusive 
of all available properties. For example, there may be some farm out-buildings 
that could be brought into use but that are not being actively marketed. This is, 
however, not just a local problem. It is indicative of the nature of much of the 
creative sector and its workspace needs, as well as how the commercial 
property sector typically operates. Locally, this issue is mitigated in part through 
the Locate East Sussex business managers’ knowledge and contacts within the 
local area.

8 https://makinglewes.org/tag/natural-materials/

Page 163

https://makinglewes.org/tag/natural-materials/


2.22 Based on the evidence obtained by the Scrutiny Panel, there appears to be a 
lack of awareness of / engagement with commercial property databases from 
those local businesses seeking affordable and creative workspace. Levels of 
success in finding suitable space were low, but this was seen as a reflection on 
a lack of availability rather than the search mechanisms themselves.

2.23 It is worth noting, however, that the Scrutiny Panel received anecdotal evidence 
that suggested that creative businesses were more successful in securing 
premises through networking and community links. This reflects Officer findings 
that the workspace listed on commercial property databases may not be a true 
reflection of the actual supply.

3 Outcome expected and performance management

3.1 That the Council commits to supporting the recommendations of this report, in 
line with the findings of the Scrutiny Panel.

3.2 In addition, that all services across the Council continue to raise awareness and 
inform residents and enterprises of the business support available to them 
through their business engagement and marketing methods including casework, 
meetings involving the business community, the Council’s online presence and 
the District News publication.

4 Consultation

4.1 Extensive consultation has already been undertaken as part of the Scrutiny 
Panel Review. No further consultation is required at this stage.

5 Corporate plan and council policies 

5.1 The Scrutiny Panel Review undertaken fits strongly within the Growth and 
Prosperity theme within the Corporate Plan. Creative industries are recognised 
as a key local sector and the Council’s role in enabling new and developing 
businesses is acknowledged.

5.2 The recommendations of this report also fit with the Newhaven Enterprise Zone 
Strategic Framework, which highlights opportunities for enhancing the creative 
sector. The Council is a key partner in delivering the Enterprise Zone, working 
closely with South East LEP.

6 Business case and alternative option(s) considered

6.1 Not applicable.

7 Financial appraisal

7.1 This report seeks to allocate £10,000 to explore the feasibility of Meanwhile Use 
Leases for the temporary use of Council assets, subject to statutory, legislative 
and building constraints. Any actions or proposals arising out of this feasibility 
work would be subject to full business case appraisal in line with the Council’s 
financial and asset management prcessess.

Page 164



8 Legal implications

8.1 A Meanwhile Use Lease is a temporary lease, which permits the use of a vacant 
property temporarily, while explicitly recognising that the landlord is looking for a 
commercial use of the property. 

The Meanwhile Scheme was set up as part of the Revitalising Town Centres 
policy launched by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG). It is a government-led initiative to encourage the temporary 
occupation of vacant units for non-commercial purposes, in properties that the 
temporary tenant might not normally be able to afford.

A meanwhile lease can be used across all commercial property sectors, and can 
be an attractive mechanism for landlords as it enables them to avoid, or 
minimise, empty rates liabilities.

Typically, a meanwhile use tenant is:

 Prohibited from using the property for any commercial gain or operating a 
profit-making business from the property. 

 Not liable to pay any rent, service charge or buildings insurance (the 
landlord will cover the tenant's proportion of the service charge and 
insurance premium), but the tenant will be responsible for the cost of the 
supply of utilities to the property. 

 Responsible for paying business rates though in the case of charity 
tenants, liability for business rates can be reduced to zero in certain 
circumstances. 

 Granted a short-term lease. However, if a longer term is granted, the 
landlord must ensure that the lease contains a suitable rolling break 
clause and is excluded from security of tenure.

 Subject to a basic repair covenant (this may be limited by reference to a 
schedule of condition).

 Prohibited from assigning or underletting the property. 

The MHCLG has developed specimen leases, which are a helpful starting point 
for any landlords considering the use of Meanwhile Use Leases. Appendix 7 of 
the Scrutiny Report is a Meanwhile Use Lease case study and picks up on the 
following lessons for other local authorities who want to use this type of lease:

o The need to link the project to a broad corporate strategic aim, rather than 
using it as a convenient way of filling empty spaces.

o The need to have an exit strategy from the outset that outlines what will 

Page 165



happen when the property ceases to be available.
o The need to be clear from the outset as to what types of 

businesses/tenants are able to occupy premises. 

In conclusion, the drafting of the lease documents should be straightforward 
provided that action is taken in response to the “lessons” mentioned in the 
Scrutiny Report.  

8 August 2019 Ref: 008478-LDC-MR

9 Risk management implications

9.1 The key risks of this report’s recommendations have been considered and are 
shown in the below table:

Risk Impact Likelihood Mitigation

LDC may not receive best value 
for its property assets Low Med-High

Although the types of 
meanwhile use considered are 
likely to generate a lower 
commercial return, this will be 
assessed on viability for LDC.

Focus on one economic sector 
may have detrimental effect on 
other employment-generating 
sectors due to limited resource

Low Low

The interventions proposed in 
this report are unlikely to be 
particularly resource-intensive.

9.2 It is considered that the risks highlighted are mitigated sufficiently to minimise 
impact for the Council.

10 Equality analysis

10.1 A detailed Equality & Fairness Analysis is not required at this stage – this will 
become necessary once the recommendations of this report are implemented 
and will be reported to Cabinet at the appropriate time.

11 Sustainability implications 

11.1 The recommendations within this report seek to encourage sustainable 
economic growth. For example, the LEAP programme is highlighted as an 
example of the type of business support offer already provided within the district. 
The importance of skills development is noted and reflects current activities 
being undertaken with a range of skills providers, including the East Sussex 
College Group.

11.2 There are no recommendations in this report that are considered to have a 
detrimental effect on the Council’s environmental targets.

Page 166



12 Appendices

 Appendix 1: Economic Statistics
 Appendix 2: Strategic Bodies and Partnerships

13 Background papers

The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows: 

 Report to Scrutiny Committee of the Scrutiny Affordable Workspace 
Panel (21 March 2019)

Page 167

https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/g1627/Public%20reports%20pack%2021st-Mar-2019%2014.00%20Lewes%20District%20Council%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/g1627/Public%20reports%20pack%2021st-Mar-2019%2014.00%20Lewes%20District%20Council%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=10


This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet

Date: 16 September 2019

Title: Climate Emergency

Report of:

Cabinet Member:

Ian Fitzpatrick, Director of Regeneration and Planning

Councillor Matthew Bird, Cabinet member for sustainability

Ward(s): All

Purpose of report: To agree next steps following the resolution by Full Council 
to declare a climate emergency and allocate £100k to 
support the immediate development of a comprehensive 
Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy to tackle carbon 
reduction and climate adaptation.

Decision type: Key

Officer 
recommendation(s):

That £100k be approved to progress carbon reduction and 
climate adaptation interventions in 2019/20.

Reasons for 
recommendations:

Following the declaration of a climate emergency and a 
commitment by the Council to develop and deliver a 
comprehensive Climate Change Strategy , this report seeks 
Cabinet’s allocation of funds to enable the progression of 
all the commitments made at Full Council on 15th July 2019.

Contact Officer(s): Name: Jo Harper
Post title: Head of Business Planning and Performance
E-mail: jo.harper@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01273 085049

1 Introduction

1.1 At its meeting on 15th July 2019, Lewes Full Council  agreed the following 
resolution;

1. To develop a comprehensive Climate Change Strategy within 12 months 
that addresses all inward and outward-facing Council functions and 
implement appropriate monitoring and reporting mechanisms in order to:

- Ensure that all strategic decisions, budgets and approaches to planning 
decisions are in line with a shift to net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 
2030;

- Ensure that appropriate resources and capacity are put in place to 
progress the actions needed to address the 'climate emergency' 

Page 169

Agenda Item 16



effectively; and

- Support and work with relevant agencies and stakeholders towards 
making the entire District zero carbon and climate resilient by 2030.

2. To request Scrutiny Committee to set up a Climate Change Scrutiny 
Panel that receives progress reports on the policy and actions enacted by 
the Council to address the ‘Climate Emergency’.  This incorporates the 
existing request to Scrutiny Committee to monitor the implementation of 
recommendations made by the Climate Change Action Group.  The Panel 
will also invite appropriate experts to support Council climate change 
actions.

3. To request that a Community Climate Change Forum is convened with 
representation and participation from across the district. Invitees to 
include but not be restricted to representatives from local communities, 
parish and town councils, organisations, business, education, nature 
groups, agricultural, food, health and transport groups.

4. To request that the Council is especially proactive in taking steps to 
include young people in the 'Climate Emergency' process, ensuring that 
they have a voice in shaping the future.

5. To report on an annual basis to the Audit and Standards Committee on  
the level of investment in the fossil fuel industry that our pensions plan 
and other investments have, and review the Council’s investment strategy 
to give due consideration to climate change impacts in the investment 
portfolio.

6. To ensure that all reports in preparation for the 2020/21 budgeting take 
into account actions the Council will take to address this emergency.

7. Portfolio Holder to write to the Government to set out the Council’s 
intentions and call on the UK Government to provide the powers, 
resources and help with funding to make this possible, and ask our local 
MP to do likewise.”

1.2 This paper sets out a proposed way forward for Cabinet to consider which would 
enable the council to start to deliver the actions set out in the resolution.

2 Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy

2.1 Central to this work will be the development of a detailed strategy which will set 
out what action the council will take in relation to carbon reduction, climate 
adaptation and other issues relating to sustainability. This strategy will build on 
the existing Sustainability Policy which was adopted in 2018 and thus will be 
named a Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy.  The strategy will be 
supported by a detailed, fully costed action plan with clear measures to track 
progress and demonstrate outcomes.  Establishing a clear baseline and 
appropriate metrics against which to measure carbon reduction will be an 

Page 170



essential element of this work.

2.2 It is proposed that the Strategy, whose overall aim will be to achieve net zero 
carbon position by 2030, will focus in particular on areas such as; biodiversity, 
transport, air quality, waste and recycling, energy, food, water, procurement and 
planning.  The emphasis will be twofold; addressing what the council can do 
itself to become more sustainable, and also how we will work with partners and 
the wider community to help tackle climate change issues across the district.

3 Climate Change Scrutiny Panel

3.1 Both Council and Cabinet have resolved that the Scrutiny Committee be asked 
to set up a Climate Change Scrutiny Panel.  The Scrutiny Committee on 12 
September will be asked to agree to the establishment of this Panel, including 
the number of Members to participate.  It is recommended that the Panel should 
continue to operate for the full duration of the Climate Change and Sustainability 
Strategy to ensure a maintained focus on this work.

3.2 The Scrutiny Panel will be able to build on the initial work of the previous Climate 
Action Group and have a key role in scrutinising the progress of work already 
agreed in this area.  The Panel would also play an important function in 
promoting the councils’ work in this area and building partnerships, alongside 
the Cabinet Member for Sustainability. The Panel would also have a policy 
development function, assisting with the formulation of proposals prior to 
recommendations being made to Cabinet when formal decisions need to be 
taken.

4 Delivering the Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy

4.1 The resolution above represents a significant enhancement to the council’s work 
in this area. Although having already adopted a sustainability policy, the 
proposed Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy will require considerably 
more data collection, research and expert advice in its development than was 
the case with the high level sustainability policy.

4.2 The required skills, experience and expertise are not currently available within 
the councils’ staff team and therefore it is recommended that Cabinet agree the 
creation of a dedicated post to develop and support this work.  Eastbourne 
Borough Council also considered a similar proposal for commitment of funds at 
its Cabinet meeting on 11 September 2019.  The combined resource would 
enable recruitment of an officer with the relevant skills, knowledge and 
experience to work across the councils to ensure a joined-up corporate 
approach to addressing the challenges of climate change.  It is proposed that 
the post of Strategy and Partnership Lead for Sustainability be created for this 
purpose.

4.3 It is recognised that the development and delivery of a Climate Change and 
Sustainability Strategy will cut across the work of many parts of the council.  To 
ensure all relevant functions and services are fully engaged in this process, an 
officer working group will be established.  This would be chaired by the Deputy 
Chief Executive and would include representation from all relevant teams, 

Page 171



including;

 Business planning
 Commercial business
 Parks and outdoor services
 Fleet management
 Property
 Tourism and enterprise
 Housing (property services)
 Planning policy
 Legal

4.4 The group would work, supported by the Strategy and Partnership Lead for 
Sustainability, to ensure commitment from across the organisation to take 
Cabinet and Council’s resolutions forward. This would include contributing to the 
development and delivery of the Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy.  

4.5 In order to enable this work to be progressed at pace in the current year, a fund 
is proposed for carbon reduction and climate adaptation initiatives.  Plans for 
use of these funds would be developed by the officer working group in 
collaboration with the Cabinet Member for Sustainability.  A sum of £100k is 
recommended, the majority of which would fund carbon reduction initiatives in 
the current year, with the remainder being for the post outlined at 4.2.

4.6 Included in the group’s responsibility would be to establish a baseline position 
against which to measure progress towards carbon reduction targets. Alongside 
this, the group will make recommendations for a proportionate, sustainable and 
affordable method of tracking that progress.

4.7 As an initial step, report authors have also been asked to include a sustainability 
impact statement in all future committee reports.  This will aim to provide advice 
to members about the potential impacts, either positive or negative, to future 
sustainability of implementing any proposals set out in the report.

5 Financial appraisal

5.1

5.2

The Council’s approved financial plans include a limited provision for one off 
initiatives without increasing the demand on the approved budget.
 
In addition, application will be made to grant funding bodies or funds from other 
sources aimed at increasing the financial capacity and reduce reliance on the 
Council’s financial resources. 

6 Legal implications

6.1 The EU and UK have adopted ambitious targets and legislation to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions, improve energy efficiency and increase renewable 
energy.  In particular, the EU has adopted a framework for climate change and 
energy policy with targets for 2030, and the UK has adopted the Climate 
Change Act 2008.

Page 172



6.2 The Council’s actions to deliver a Climate Change Strategy and to allocate funds 
for specific interventions must be consistent with these targets and legislation.

Lawyer consulted 05.08.19                                          Legal ref: 008476-LDC-OD

7 Risk management implications

7.1 Implementing proposals contained in this report would reduce the risk of the 
council not achieving its aspirations in relation to carbon reduction. 

8 Equality analysis

8.1 This report has no specific equality implications. Equality analyses will be 
undertaken of the various proposals developed subsequently to address the 
climate emergency.

9 Sustainability impact analysis

9.1 The proposals in this report, if implemented, will help the council to progress its 
commitment to achieving net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2030.

10 Appendices

none

11 Background papers

Sustainability Policy
https://democracy.lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/s8839/Sustainability%20policy.pdf

Page 173

https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/s8839/Sustainability%20policy.pdf
https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/s8839/Sustainability%20policy.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 1 July 2019
	8 Seaford Health Hub - scheme progress
	9 Contingency planning for no-deal Brexit
	Contingency planning for no-deal Brexit - Appendix 1
	Contingency planning for no-deal Brexit - Appendix 2

	10 Finance update - Provisional outturn 2018/19 and performance quarter 1 2019-20
	Finance update - Provisional outturn 2018/19 and performance quarter 1 2019-20 - Appendix 1
	Finance update - Provisional outturn 2018/19 and performance quarter 1 2019-20 - Appendix 2

	11 Portfolio progress and performance report quarter 1 - 2019-2020
	Portfolio progress and performance report quarter 1 - 2019-2020 - Appendix 1

	12 Treasury management report
	Treasury management report - Appendix 1
	Treasury management report - Appendix 2

	13 Wave Leisure Trust - Lewes District Council Contract Annual Review 2018/19
	Wave Leisure Trust - Lewes District Council Contract Annual Review 2018/19 - Appendix A
	Wave Leisure Trust - Lewes District Council Contract Annual Review 2018/19 - Appendix B

	14 Newhaven Fort
	15 Affordable workspace review
	16 Climate emergency



